
1. Approval of Agenda
2. Recognition of Tim Haskin

2.A. Recognition of Tim Haskin

3. Safety Moment
4. Consent Agenda

4.A. Minutes of the Rochester Public Utility Board Meeting of November 28, 2023

4.B. Review of Accounts Payable

4.C. 2024 Lump Sum Power Line Clearance Tree Services

5. Regular Agenda

5.A. Contingency Fund Increase - KFI Engineering

Public Utility Board Agenda
Rochester Boards & Commissions - Public Utility Board

December 19, 2023
4:00 p.m. 

 Attending and Viewing the Meeting
Attend in-person at 4000 E River Rd NE, RPU Community Room, Rochester, MN or via MS Teams.
Call in audio only number: 347-352-4853 Conference ID: 356 177 435#
A recording is made available after the meeting at the City's website. 
 
Call to Order/Roll Call

 
 

 Recognize and thank retiring Board Member Tim Haskin for his service.

 
 

 Approve the minutes and video of the November 28, 2023 meeting of the Rochester Public
Utility (RPU) Board.

 Review the list of consolidated and summarized transactions for 11/09/2023 to 12/07/2023 in the
total amount of $13,148,978.69.

 Approve a resolution to accept the bids for the 2024 lump sum tree trimming services as follows:
1) Asplundh Tree Expert LLC, $744,278, 2) New Age Tree Service, LLC $91,650, and authorize
the Project Manager to manage the contracts up to the approved budget amount. All awards are
subject to applicable tax. 

Open Public Comment Period
This agenda section is for the purpose of allowing citizens to address the Utility Board. Comments are
limited to 4 minutes, total comment period limited to 15 minutes. Any speakers not having the opportunity
to be heard will be the first to present at the next Board meeting.

 

 Approve an increase of the contingency funding for the KFI Engineering, Professional Services
Agreement for engineering services related to the design of the three parallel electrical duct
banks between Marion Road Substation and 5th Street and 4th Ave SW.

1

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%253ameeting_MGU2OWE0YTgtMjhhOC00MGM1LThkMjktNzA3ZTU0NDgwNjc2%2540thread.v2/0?context=%257B%2522Tid%2522%253A%2522cb27df39-77b0-4068-b566-20ba44fa9279%2522%252C%2522Oid%2522%253A%252202b6f02e-19e9-4f0f-895a-3fda34ad1eae%2522%252C%2522IsBroadcastMeeting%2522%253Atrue%252C%2522role%2522%253A%2522a%2522%257D&btype=a&role=a
https://www.rochestermn.gov/
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/e64097f060f0a42bad5cf2ccdfbe70be0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/12432a3a2077cd850055c799ad4775000.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/d29f6d7db9d4159f0e7324720b6b96300.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/a962641470b126d5060c65bb463717570.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/6441497f9f5729874ebfff0ba84723bc0.pdf


5.B. Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy Resources

6. Board Policy Review

6.A. RPU Index of Board Policies

7. General Managers Report
8. Division Reports & Metrics

8.A. Division Reports & Metrics - December 2023

9. Other Business
10.Adjournment

 Approve a resolution to adopt the updated Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy
Resources and grant engineering staff authority to make minor updates and revisions.

 

 Review the Index of Board Policies to summarize progress on policy updates and determine
future policy review items.

 
 

 Review the reports from each of RPU's five divisions: Core Services, Compliance and Public
Affairs, Power Resources, Customer Relations and Corporate Services.

 
 

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/94496532d5cbebfaeb708514bb4a0eac0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/ddf828d8cccf91a5d64850937121729f0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/rochestermn/bc8b74b8bdf7425e89e01221e35997a80.pdf


MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Recognition of Tim Haskin

PRESENTER:
Tim McCollough

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Recognition of Tim Haskin

2.A

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Recognize and thank retiring Board Member Tim Haskin for his service.

Report Narrative:
The Board and RPU staff would like to take a moment to recognize and thank Tim Haskin for his eight
years of service and dedication to the Public Utility Board.

Prepared By:
Christina Bailey

Attachments:
20231219 Resolution - Recognition of Tim Haskin.docx

3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2344745/20231219_Resolution_-_Recognition_of_Tim_Haskin.pdf


MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Consent Agenda

PRESENTER:
Tim McCollough

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Minutes of the Rochester Public Utility Board Meeting
of November 28, 2023

4.A

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Approve the minutes and video of the November 28, 2023 meeting of the Rochester Public Utility (RPU)
Board.

Report Narrative:
Official minutes of the RPU Board are published in accordance with Open Meeting Law, capturing the
official record of the RPU Board.

Policy Considerations & DEI Impact:
Minutes and video of the appointed boards of the City provide access and transparency to RPU systems,
processes and decision making.

Prior Legislative Actions & Community Engagement:
Minutes of the previous RPU Board Meeting are generated monthly.

Fiscal & Resource Impact:
No fiscal impact of publishing minutes.

Prepared By:
Christina Bailey

Attachments:
20231128 Minutes.pdf

4

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2333045/20231128_Minutes.pdf


Public Utility Board - November 28, 2023 

CITY OF ROCHESTER, MINNESOTA
 Public Utility Board MINUTES

Attendee Name Status
Melissa Graner Johnson Present
Brian Morgan Present
Brett Gorden Present
Patrick Keane Present
Tim Haskin Absent

MOVER: Patrick Keane
SECONDER: Brett Gorden
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

Attending and Viewing the Meeting

Call to Order/Roll Call

1) Approval of Agenda

Motion to approve the agenda.

2) Safety Moment

Safety Manager Bob Cooke gave a presentation to the Board.

3) Consent Agenda

3.A) Minutes of the Rochester Public Utility Board Meeting of October 24, 2023 

Official Act: Approve the minutes and video of the October 24, 2023
meeting of the Rochester Public Utility (RPU) Board.

Cover Page 

20231024 Minutes.pdf 

3.B) Review of Accounts Payable 5

https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64434
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64435
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64436
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64437
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64439
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64440


MOVER: Brian Morgan
SECONDER: Brett Gorden
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

Official Act: Review the list of consolidated and summarized transactions for
10/10/2023 to 11/08/2023 in the total amount of $13,356,810.38.

Cover Page 

AP Board Listing 101023-110823.pdf 

3.C) Delegation of Authority/Relationship with Management Policy 

Official Act: Approve the revised Delegation of Authority/Relationship with
Management policy.

Cover Page 

06 Delegation of Authority Relationship with Management - clean copy
final.docx 

20231128 Resolution - Delegation of Authority Relationship with
Management Policy.docx 

3.D) Contract Award: ESRI ArcGIS Utility Network Water Data Migration Project 

Official Act: Adopt a resolution authorizing the proposal with UDC in the
amount of $187,412 to migrate RPU's water data to the Utility Network.
Approval of this action  authorizes the RPU Project Manager to perform the
acts to execute the project.

Cover Page 

20231128 Resolution - Contract Award-ESRI ArcGIS Utility Network Water
Data Migration Project.docx 

3.E) 2024 Hourly Power Line Clearance Tree Services 

Official Act: Approve a resolution for 2024 hourly tree trimming services with
Asplundh Tree Expert LLC, in the amount of $762,450 (plus applicable tax),
subject to Council approval of the 2024-25 budget, and authorize the Project
Manager to execute the services up to the approved budget amount. Annual
costs for this contract will be funded through approval of the budget.

Cover Page 

20231128 Resolution - 2024 Hourly Power Line Clearance Tree
Services.docx 

Motion to approve the consent agenda items in block 3.A.-3.E.

Open Public Comment Period
6

https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64442
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64443
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64445
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64446
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64447
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64449
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64450
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64452
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64453
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64454


MOVER: Brian Morgan
SECONDER: Patrick Keane
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

4) Regular Agenda

4.A) Department of Energy Grant Acceptance 

Official Act: Management requests that the Board approve acceptance of
the DOE grant, the related capital project and recommend approval by the
City Council.

Cover Page 

20231128 Resolution - Department of Energy Grant Acceptance.docx 

Motion to approve acceptance of the DOE grant, the related capital project
and recommend approval by the City Council.

5) Board Policy Review

5.A) RPU Index of Board Policies 

Official Act: Review the Index of Board Policies to summarize progress on
policy updates and determine future policy review items.

Cover Page 

Index of Board Policies-revised.xlsx 

6) General Managers Report

General Manager Tim McCollough gave a presentation to the Board.

7) Division Reports & Metrics

7.A) Division Reports & Metrics - November 2023 

Official Act: Review the reports from each of RPU's five division: Core
Services, Compliance and Public Affairs, Power Resources, Customer
Relations and Corporate Services.

Cover Page 

Division Report November 2023.pdf 

8) Other Business

9) Closed Session

Motion to enter into a closed session and recess the current board meeting.
7

https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64456
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64457
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64458
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64459
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64461
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64462
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64463
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64464
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64466
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64467
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64468
https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64469


MOVER: Brett Gorden
SECONDER: Brian Morgan
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Patrick Keane
SECONDER: Brett Gorden
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Brian Morgan
SECONDER: Patrick Keane
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

MOVER: Brett Gorden
SECONDER: Patrick Keane
AYES: None
RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]

Motion to end recess and resume the current board meeting.

Motion to authorize Rochester Public Utilities to retain outside counsel for the
purpose of participating in the class action suits known as the 3M and DuPont
actions and to proceed with submitting claims, and also to authorize filing of
bankruptcy claims and claims against remaining defendants.

10) Adjournment

Motion to adjourn.

8

https://rochestermn.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=4&clip_id=3909&meta_id=64470


MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Consent Agenda

PRESENTER:
Tim McCollough

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Review of Accounts Payable

4.B

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Review the list of consolidated and summarized transactions for 11/09/2023 to 12/07/2023 in the total
amount of $13,148,978.69.

Report Narrative:
Reference the detailed Rochester Public Utilities A/P Board Listing by Dollar Range Report (attached).

Policy Considerations & DEI Impact:
This item is in compliance with Minnesota statute 412.271 requiring all claims to be reviewed by boards
and councils.

Fiscal & Resource Impact:
This is for payment of previously approved amounts, through budget or other Board action.

Prepared By:
Christina Bailey

Attachments:
AP Board List Current Month.pdf

9

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2333057/AP_Board_List_Current_Month.pdf


ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

Greater than 50,000 :

1 SOUTHERN MN MUNICIPAL POWER A November SMMPA Bill 7,224,104.43              
2 MN DEPT OF REVENUE October Sales & Use Tax 760,930.70                 
3 IRBY UTILITIES dba 39974FT-Wire, AL, 15kV, 750 Str, 1/C, 22 431,719.20                 
4 LEAGUE OF MN CITIES INS TRUST 11/1/23-11/1/24-Auto,Property & Liability Ins 235,671.00                 
5 STENCIL GROUP LLC CIP-AirSrc Heat Pumps-Incentives/Rebates 162,855.00                 
6 CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY-GAS D October Gas-WES 117,228.76                 
7 THERMO BOND BUILDINGS LLC Marion Road Commuincation Building 113,396.09                 
8 KEY BUILDERS INC Construction of Well House #42 110,551.10                 
9 NEW AGE TREE SERVICE INC 905 Tree Clearance 105,557.77                 
10 CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY-GAS D October Gas SLP 105,422.17                 
11 MN DEPT OF HEALTH Community Water Supply Fee Oct-Dec 2023 101,211.00                 
12 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 200EA-Splice, 15kV, 500-750 MCM, C.S. 95,942.00                   
13 L & S ELECTRIC INC (P) Hydro Controls Project 91,342.00                   
14 VIRTUAL PEAKER INC Distributed Energy Platform Services 84,160.00                   
15 KEYS WELL DRILLING CO Well #42 Pump and Motor Installation 80,000.00                   
16 A & A ELECT & UNDERGROUND CON 2022-23 Directional Boring 79,615.45                   
17 IRBY UTILITIES dba 4EA-Trans, PM, 3ph,  300kVA, 13.8/8, 208 78,020.00                   
18 RESCO 15EA-Trans, PM, 1ph,   75kVA, 13.8/8, 24 74,353.80                   
19 PAYMENTUS CORPORATION October Electronic Bill Payment Services 63,766.29                   
20 NORTH COUNTRY CHEVROLET BUICK 1EA-2023 Chevy Silverado MD (V743) 68,294.04                   
21 ASPLUNDH TREE EXPERT LLC (P) 2023 Hourly Tree Trimming 57,354.17                   
22 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 70EA-10GBase-LR SFP Module,#Enterprise-C 51,964.39                   
23 BGD5 HOTEL LLC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 50,997.13                   
24
25 Price Range Total: 10,344,456.49            
26

27 5,000 to 50,000 :
28
29 MET-CON COMPANIES Building Foundation Marion Rd Sub 49,500.00                   
30 NORTH COUNTRY CHEVROLET BUICK 1EA-2024 GMC  Sierra 3500 (V711) 52,202.30                   
31 NORTH COUNTRY CHEVROLET BUICK 1EA-2024 GMC Sierra 3500 Double Cab V727 50,887.09                   
32 INNER TITE CORP 3000EA-Lock, Meter, Jiffy Lock Side Moun 43,041.98                   
33 WESCO DISTRIBUTION INC 2EA-Switch, PM, Air, 3PH, 2-600SW/2-200F 41,494.00                   
34 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 75EA-Splice, 15kV, 500-750 MCM, C.S. 35,978.25                   
35 RESCO 9EA-Trans, PM, 1ph, 50kVA, 13.8/8, 240/1 35,944.65                   
36 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC EMS Smartnet Cisco Hardware and Software 35,837.74                   
37 MAYO CLINIC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 34,162.49                   
38 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 16EA-CATALYST 9300 24-PORT POE+ 34,160.24                   
39 USIC HOLDINGS INC October & November Locating Services 32,377.53                   
40 CROWN TECHNICAL SYSTEMS Relay and Control Panels - Marion Road 29,528.50                   
41 BGD5 HOTEL LLC CIP-Cooling Eq. (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 28,160.34                   
42 SCHOEPPNER INC CIP-LED Light Fixtures-Incntivs/Rebts 28,052.00                   
43 STELLA-JONES CORPORATION 19EA-Pole,  45ft, WRC, CL3 27,740.00                   
44 REGENCY CONSOLIDATED RESIDENT CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 27,539.64                   
45 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 16EA-CISCO Firepower 1120 NGFW Appliance 26,885.64                   
46 PEOPLES ENERGY COOPERATIVE (P November Compensable 26,616.48                   
47 RESCO 4EA-Trans, PM, 1ph, 100kVA, 13.8/8, 240 23,926.16                   
48 KANTOLA CONSULTING INC AMI General Implementation Services 23,760.00                   
49 KWIK TRIP INC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 23,669.00                   

 PAGE  1 12/11/2023        10



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

50 STELLA-JONES CORPORATION 19EA-Pole,  40ft, WRC, CL3 23,009.00                   
51 MITSUBISHI POWER AERO LLC (P) Borescope Services GT2 22,766.23                   
52 POWELL ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS INC MagneBlast Replacement Breakers 22,502.20                   
53 CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY-GAS D October Gas-Cascade Creek 22,217.28                   
54 ITRON INC 200EA-Meter, Diehl-Hydrus, Ultra, 3/4" 22,154.00                   
55 US BANK-VOYAGER November Fuel 21,722.19                   
56 MINNESOTA ENERGY RESOURCES CO October Gas-WES 20,463.36                   
57 FITCH INC Relationship Fee 20,000.00                   
58 ECHO SOLAR 2022 HOLDCO LLC October Solar Services 19,281.25                   
59 CITY OF ROCHESTER Quarterly Attorney Services Q1; Q2; Q3 18,937.50                   
60 STENCIL GROUP LLC CIP-LED Light Fixtures-Incntivs/Rebts 17,505.25                   
61 WARTSILA NORTH AMERICA 6EA-Valve,Turbo Impeller Cooling Valve, 17,271.12                   
62 ITRON INC 150EA-Meter, Diehl-Hydrus, Ultra, 3/4" 16,615.50                   
63 UTIL-ASSIST INC AMI Contract Negotiation SOW 16,016.00                   
64 PAYMENTUS CORPORATION Payable-Hyperwallet/Failed Debit Attempt 15,501.40                   
65 FORTE OF ROCHESTER II LLC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 14,555.50                   
66 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC Prod Sub, PLS-CADD PPA 14,361.83                   
67 RVNA TECHNOLOGIES LLC Vena Implementation Services 14,343.75                   
68 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 8EA-CATALYST 9300 8 X 10GE NETWORK 13,633.92                   
69 MALLOY ELECTRIC dba Electrical Panel Board- Well house #42 13,090.66                   
70 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba 1JOB-Fiber Run/Test CC to WES 12,800.00                   
71 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC CISCO FPR1120 Threat Defense 3 YR Subs 12,281.31                   
72 GREAT NORTHERN ENVIROMENTAL,L 1EA-Submersible Tank Mixer Proposal 11,770.00                   
73 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC C9300 DNA 24-PORT, 3 YR License 11,485.56                   
74 CENTURYLINK (P) 2023 Monthly Telecommunications 11,376.46                   
75 CLARK CONCRETE INC Install 165' Curb & Gutter & Open 8' Water 11,125.00                   
76 SARGENTS LANDSCAPE NURSERY IN Tree Planting Tower 101 11,050.52                   
77 CREST PRECAST INC 2EA-Manhole, 90deg Angle 8' x 6' x 5' 10,800.00                   
78 SCHOEPPNER INC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 10,797.50                   
79 METRO SALES INC 1EA-Ricoh Wide Format Printer 10,678.10                   
80 VISION COMPANIES LLC (P) Employee Development 10,650.00                   
81 TRUCKIN' AMERICA 2EA-Tommy Gate (V712) & (V726) 10,076.00                   
82 NEW AGE TREE SERVICE INC 911 Tree Clearance 10,028.88                   
83 SARGENTS LANDSCAPE NURSERY IN Tree Removal/Planting Nothern Hills 9,783.13                     
84 POWELL ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS INC MagneBlast Replacement Breakers 9,639.80                     
85 WESCO DISTRIBUTION INC 30EA-CT, Big BarType, 600/5 9,366.00                     
86 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba  Install Service Center Gate Intercoms 9,211.56                     
87 TRUCKIN' AMERICA 1EA-Torsion Scoop Snowplow 9ft 9,050.00                     
88 CENTER FOR ENERGY AND ENVIRON Bulbs for Multi-Family Program-Low Income 8,597.03                     
89 STELLA-JONES CORPORATION 5EA-Pole,  50ft, WRC, CL3 8,565.00                     
90 PEAK DEMAND INC 69EA-CT, Small Bar Type 600/5 8,541.51                     
91 HARRIS ROCHESTER INC (HIMEC) 1JOB-VFD Upgrade, WES 8,526.27                     
92 HAWKINS INC 2023 Chlorine Gas 8,515.80                     
93 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 4EA-CATALYST IE3200 W/ 8 GE COPPER 8,396.88                     
94 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba Video Surveillance System-Morton Bld. 8,240.06                     
95 F&M COMMUNITY BANK CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 8,211.00                     
96 DECOOK CONTRACTING INC SA Water, Repair Service Break 8,167.50                     
97 HAWKINS INC 660GAL-2023 Carus 8500 7,884.82                     
98 ADVANCED TURBINE SUPPORT LLC Borescope Inspection - GT1 7,357.11                     
99 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba 2023 Facilities 6,906.26                     
100 CRESCENT ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO 1760FT-Conduit, 3", PVC Sch 40 6,899.20                     
101 FLOURISH CONSULTING LLC Strengths Training-Board, Directors, GM 6,875.00                     

 PAGE  2 12/11/2023        11



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

102 IRBY UTILITIES dba 10EA-Metal Sec. Encl,1ph,30" x 30" x 18" 6,850.00                     
103 EXPRESS  SERVICES INC 2023 Temp Staff Marketing (2) 6,747.86                     
104 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 8EA-15W AC 80+ PLATINUM CONFIG 1 6,683.28                     
105 ITRON INC UIQ Training 6,663.00                     
106 DNV GL NOBLE DENTON USA LLC 2024 Synergi Elec Maintenance and Support 6,502.89                     
107 IRBY UTILITIES dba 48EA-Pedestal, Base, Secondary, w/o Cover 6,480.00                     
108 STENCIL GROUP LLC CIP-Refrigerators/Dshwshers-Incentives/Rebates 6,375.00                     
109 AVI SYSTEMS INC 2EA-Monitor, LCD, w/Power Cord 6,305.63                     
110 BARR ENGINEERING COMPANY (P) General Groundwater Consulting Services 6,289.50                     
111 IRBY UTILITIES dba 48EA-Pedestal, Dome Cover, Box Style 6,000.00                     
112 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba Fiber Run/Install Morton Bldg 5,800.00                     
113 LRS OF MINNESOTA LLC 2023 Waste Removal SC 5,670.64                     
114 VERIZON WIRELESS 2023 Cell & IPad Monthly Service 5,566.75                     
115 CONAX TECHNOLOGIES LLC 2EA-Thermocouple, EGT, G2 5,429.25                     
116 ADVANTAGE DIST LLC (P) 55GAL-Oil, Syn., Mobil Jet 254, (55 Gal) 5,378.45                     
117 FERGUSON ENTERPRISES 1EA-Locator, VLOC3-9800 5,375.00                     
118 GLOBAL RENTAL COMPANY INC Rental - Altec TDA58 Backyard Aerial 5,236.88                     
119 HAWKINS INC 10048.5LB-2023 Hydrofluosilicic Acid 5,129.76                     
120 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) 250FT-Cable, Self-Regulating Heating 5,124.45                     
121 KNXR - FM Conserve & Save EV Program Ad-November 5,000.00                     
122 MIDWEST SPEAKERS BUREAU, INC. Presentation by Jack Stahlmann 5,000.00                     
123
124 Price Range Total: 1,504,673.57              
125

126 1,000 to 5,000 :
127
128 SARGENTS LANDSCAPE NURSERY IN Tree Planting Well 15 4,896.72                     
129 WARTSILA NORTH AMERICA 1EA-WASTEGATE POSITIONER, WES 4,848.01                     
130 BARR ENGINEERING COMPANY (P) Annual Hydro Inspection 4,806.00                     
131 GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY INC 100EA-Anchor Bolt, 1" x 40", Streetlight 4,715.06                     
132 XCEL ENERGY CORP CapX2020-La Crosse Shared Cost 7/1-9/30/23 4,622.15                     
133 US BANK PURCHASING CARD C.Carlin-Class A CDL w/Hazardous Mtls Training 4,500.00                     
134 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC PLS-CADD Activation 4,467.37                     
135 TELEDYNE MONITOR LABS INC 2023-2026 RegPerfect  Maintenance 4,328.44                     
136 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH 1500FT-Wire, Copper, 600V, 2/0 Str, XLP 4,313.31                     
137 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 25EA-Junction, LB, 200A, 4 Pos, w/Strap 4,242.75                     
138 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC PLS-POLE/Wood Activation 4,234.17                     
139 OPA OPA LLC Customer Refunds 21678 4,112.47                     
140 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 2023 Network Maintenance Services 4,101.00                     
141 FERGUSON ENTERPRISES 1EA-Leak Detection Survey Instrument 4,100.00                     
142 SUNDE SCHOOL ELECTRICAL TRAIN Electrical Training-Continuing Education 4,000.00                     
143 IRBY UTILITIES dba 20EA-Fuselink, 100E, SMU-20 3,900.00                     
144 CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATIONS d 2022-25 Network and Co-Location Services 3,898.04                     
145 TWIN CITY SECURITY INC 2023 Security Services 3,856.74                     
146 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC PRTNR SUP 8X5XNBD CATALYST 9300 3,817.40                     
147 NFRONT CONSULTING LLC 2023 MISO Forecast 3,793.75                     
148 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba 2EA-Cable, Fiber Patch, 12-Strand 3,739.00                     
149 DAVIES PRINTING COMPANY INC RPU 2024 Calendars 3,724.59                     
150 CENTURY FENCE CO INC Remove and Replace Damaged Gate Leaf 3,665.81                     
151 MITSUBISHI POWER AERO LLC (P) 3EA-Filter, Element, CT115594-SP1 3,609.98                     
152 MIDCONTINENT ISO INC November MISO Fees 3,509.59                     

 PAGE  3 12/11/2023        12



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

153 SCHOEPPNER INC CIP-Dishwashers-Incentives/Rebates 3,500.00                     
154 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC PRTNR SUP 8X5XNBD CISCOFIREPOWER 1120 3,331.25                     
155 DOYLE CONNER CO INC (P) Saw Edge,Remove & Excavate Crushed Rock 3,290.00                     
156 NORTHERN HEIGHTS LP CIP-Refrigerators/Washers-Incentives/Rebates 3,275.00                     
157 IRBY UTILITIES dba 60EA-Deadend Recept, 15kv, 200A, NLB 3,255.00                     
158 MINNESOTA ENERGY RESOURCES CO October Gas-SLP 3,225.87                     
159 SCHWEITZER ENGINEERING LABORA 1EA-SEL-2488 Satellite Network Clock 3,218.60                     
160 KXLT TELEVISION INC October Public Power Week/Wok Zone Safety 3,200.00                     
161 SOMA CONSTRUCTION INC Water Main Break Materials 3,160.85                     
162 WESCO DISTRIBUTION INC 5000EA-Meter Seal, Yellow Padlock 3,152.81                     
163 LIFELINE INCORPORATED 2EA-AED, Zoll 3,141.60                     
164 ROCHESTER DEVELOPMENT INC CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 3,141.60                     
165 TELEMARK TECHNOLOGIES CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 3,050.00                     
166 THINK MUTUAL BANK CIP-VSDs-Incntivs/Rebates 3,000.00                     
167 STELLA-JONES CORPORATION 1EA-Pole,  60ft, WRC, CL1 2,985.00                     
168 KROC FM/AM EV Program Ads-November 2,967.00                     
169 AMERICAN ENGINEERING TESTING Geotechnical Services for 4th Ave SW 2,895.00                     
170 GDS ASSOCIATES INC MISO Attachment O Consulting Service 2,862.50                     
171 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba 1EA-Cable, Fiber Patch, 12-Strand 2,812.00                     
172 POMPS TIRE SERVICE INC 7 Tires 2,741.07                     
173 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS INC (P) 1EA-Radio, Vehicle, APX 1500, Package 2,730.96                     
174 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Microsoft Azure Support 2,726.16                     
175 WINKELS ELECTRIC INC Install New Underground Service 2,723.87                     
176 NORTHERN HEIGHTS LP CIP-Dishwashers-Incentives/Rebates 2,600.00                     
177 ROCHESTER CHEVROLET CADILLAC Converter/Seals/Core Price 2,599.05                     
178 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC PLS-Lite Activation 2,559.56                     
179 US BANK PURCHASING CARD GIS Registration for Jeff Atkinson 2,553.00                     
180 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 6ROL-Pole Wrap, Animal Guard, 30" x 100' 2,546.60                     
181 WINKELS ELECTRIC INC Service Assured Repair Electric 2,482.25                     
182 NEW AGE TREE SERVICE INC 601 Tree Clearance 2,396.14                     
183 IRBY UTILITIES dba 100EA-Conn, SL 14-4, Deadfront Clear 2,375.00                     
184 CRW ARCHITECTURE + DESIGN GRO Design Services Well House #42 2,260.00                     
185 IHEART MEDIA dba October Ads-Tips from Tony 2,218.00                     
186 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY 8EA-Sweatshirt, FR Two-Tone Hooded Zip 2,196.71                     
187 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 12EA-Switch, Air, 2 Arm, 1ph, 600A, NLB 2,138.16                     
188 US BANK PURCHASING CARD 1EA-TV, LED 4K, 85" 2,137.49                     
189 RESCO 25PKG-Label, Warning, Secondary Pedestal 2,124.14                     
190 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC 8EA-AC POWER MODULE W/ IEC PLUG 2,111.92                     
191 UNITED RENTALS INC Boom Rental 2,090.48                     
192 READY MIX CONCRETE COMPANY LL Marion Rd Transmission 2 2,071.77                     
193 IRBY UTILITIES dba 50PR-Brace, Wood, 36", 60" Span 30" Drop 2,050.00                     
194 MCCAULEY DEBRA CIP-AirSrc Heat Pumps-Incentives/Rebates 2,022.00                     
195 NARDINI FIRE EQUIPMENT CO INC Halon Inspection 1,995.75                     
196 LANGUAGE LINE SERVICES INC November 2023 Phone Interpretation Services 1,963.87                     
197 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY 9EA-Sweatshirt, FR two-tone, hooded 1,914.13                     
198 ADVANTAGE DIST LLC (P) Fluids 1,904.47                     
199 HI LINE UTILITY SUPPLY CO (P) 7ROL-Pull Tape, 3/4" x 3000', Printed 1,902.56                     
200 VERIZON CONNECT NWF INC November GPS Fleet Tracking 1,902.05                     
201 CRESCENT ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO 250FT-Conduit, 3", Corrugated PVC 1,862.00                     
202 GREAT RIVER ENERGY 2023 MN Transmission Owners Assessment 1,804.40                     
203 RESCO 10EA-Junction, LB, 200A, 2 Pos, w/Strap 1,798.70                     
204 POMPS TIRE SERVICE INC Tires x 6 1,790.11                     

 PAGE  4 12/11/2023        13



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

205 BENSON ANTHONY Travel,APPA Cust Connections Conf,TX-Lodging 1,742.84                     
206 METRO SALES INC 1EA-2nd Roll Unit 1,741.35                     
207 RESCO 50EA-Cable Support Grip,1-5/8-2.5 Tinned 1,728.00                     
208 BORENE LAW FIRM P.A. October Legal Services 1,703.14                     
209 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY 15EA-Wrench, Security (Fargo) 1,703.00                     
210 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) 4EA-Junction Box, Power Connection 1,685.18                     
211 DELL MARKETING LP 1EA-Tower, 5820 Precision 1,676.47                     
212 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH 50SET-Bronze Swivel Connection, 3/4" 1,676.00                     
213 NEW LINE MECHANICAL (P) WTB Water Line Repair 1,669.53                     
214 SPIRIT HALLOWEEN SUPER STORES Customer Refunds 21565 1,622.48                     
215 HEUER ALEXANDER CIP-AirSrc Heat Pumps-Incentives/Rebates 1,617.00                     
216 METRO SALES INC 1EA-Multi-Stacker 1,572.00                     
217 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY 7EA-Sweatshirt, FR Two-Tone, Hooded Zip 1,563.58                     
218 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) 4EA-End Seal Kit 1,520.84                     
219 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH 6EA-Solenoid Valve, 2-Way 1/2", 120V 1,503.00                     
220 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH 1000FT-Wire, AL, 600V, 1/0-#2 NEU YS Tri 1,479.00                     
221 WARTSILA NORTH AMERICA 11EA-WASTEGATE DIAPHRAGM, WES 1,471.58                     
222 RVNA TECHNOLOGIES LLC Travel Expenses 1,469.16                     
223 GARCIA GRAPHICS INC Design 2024 RPU Calendar 1,425.00                     
224 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Hydro De-Icer 1,416.36                     
225 ALEXIS FARO CIP-Lighting (C&I)-Incentives/Rebates 1,400.00                     
226 MINNESOTA ENERGY RESOURCES CO Gas - WES Building Heat 1,364.78                     
227 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY 4EA-Coat, FR, two-tone, lined 1,363.73                     
228 G A ERNST & ASSOCIATES INC NEC Standard Audits x 13 1,340.00                     
229 THOMPSON GARAGE DOOR CO INC High Speed Door Repair 1,334.87                     
230 NORTHERN HEIGHTS LP CIP-LED Light Fixtures-Incntivs/Rebts 1,320.00                     
231 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC PRTNR SUP 8X5XNBD CATALYST IE3200 1,308.75                     
232 CORE & MAIN LP (P) 3EA-Repair Clamp, 8" x24" LL, Stainless 1,272.72                     
233 U S A SAFETY SUPPLY 12PR-Gloves, Leather Insulated, 2XL 1,266.47                     
234 CLAREY'S SAFETY EQUIPMENT dba 2EA-Sensor, Catalytic Bead, Combustible 1,263.80                     
235 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba IT Installation Services 1,255.78                     
236 U S A SAFETY SUPPLY 24PR-Gloves, Leather Work, Lite Duty, X-L 1,250.44                     
237 U S A SAFETY SUPPLY 24PR-Gloves, Leather Work, Lite Duty, Large 1,250.44                     
238 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Standards Books 1,250.43                     
239 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) Item for Marion Road 1,229.06                     
240 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY 6EA-Liner, FR, Fleece 1,211.96                     
241 PETERSON WELL DRILLING INC Old Municipal Well Sealing Project 1,208.75                     
242 ON SITE SANITATION INC 2023 Toilet Rental Services 1,207.69                     
243 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC PLS-POLE/Steel Activation 1,192.72                     
244 SEEME PRODUCTIONS LLC EV Program Tips from Tony Communications 1,185.00                     
245 EAGLE EYE POWER SOLUTIONS LLC Equipment Calibration/Repair 1,180.97                     
246 OPEN ACCESS TECHNOLOGY December Tag Agent,webSmart Tag User IDs 1,169.79                     
247 DELL MARKETING LP 3EA-Monitor, 30" 1,168.17                     
248 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Travel,APPA Legal Conf-Lodging 1,122.08                     
249 IRBY UTILITIES dba 25EA-Anchor, Rod, 3/4" x 7', w/Twineye 1,120.00                     
250 ROCHESTER ARMORED CAR CO INC 2023 Pick Up Services 1,087.43                     
251 READY MIX CONCRETE COMPANY LL Concrete for Street Patching - WM Break 1,064.00                     
252 CRESCENT ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO 54EA-Fusetron, T-10A Screw-In 1,058.40                     
253 IDEXX DISTRIBUTION CORP 3KIT-Quanti-Cult QC kit 1,056.00                     
254 IRBY UTILITIES dba 20EA-U-Guard, 2" x 10', Steel 1,030.00                     
255 WESCO DISTRIBUTION INC 20EA-Conn, CRP Tee, Disconnect, 336.4 AC 1,012.00                     
256 DELL MARKETING LP 4EA-Monitor, Computer, 27", Dell QHD 1,011.55                     

 PAGE  5 12/11/2023        14



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

257
258 Price Range Total: 307,102.09                 
259

260 0 to 1,000 :
261
262 REBATES Summarized transactions: 75 23,825.96                   
263 AMARIL UNIFORM COMPANY Summarized transactions: 95 15,279.19                   
264 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Summarized transactions: 75 11,593.71                   
265 Customer Refunds (CIS) Summarized transactions: 62 6,678.03                     
266 EPLUS TECHNOLOGY INC Summarized transactions: 12 5,478.14                     
267 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY Summarized transactions: 24 5,094.70                     
268 IRBY UTILITIES dba Summarized transactions: 17 4,473.34                     
269 FIRST CLASS PLUMBING & HEATIN Summarized transactions: 11 4,467.75                     
270 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH Summarized transactions: 18 3,199.83                     
271 CRESCENT ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO Summarized transactions: 26 3,140.84                     
272 CITY LAUNDERING COMPANY Summarized transactions: 15 3,039.93                     
273 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) Summarized transactions: 37 2,954.91                     
274 U S A SAFETY SUPPLY Summarized transactions: 19 2,721.69                     
275 WESCO DISTRIBUTION INC Summarized transactions: 11 2,683.44                     
276 BLUEBEAM INC Summarized transactions: 4 2,462.55                     
277 RESCO Summarized transactions: 11 2,421.56                     
278 READY MIX CONCRETE COMPANY LL Summarized transactions: 3 2,325.50                     
279 LAWSON PRODUCTS INC (P) Summarized transactions: 13 2,281.12                     
280 ARCHKEY TECHNOLOGIES dba Summarized transactions: 5 2,209.12                     
281 A & A ELECT & UNDERGROUND CON Summarized transactions: 2 1,994.80                     
282 LRS OF MINNESOTA LLC Summarized transactions: 3 1,869.09                     
283 DAKOTA SUPPLY GROUP-ACH Summarized transactions: 7 1,767.88                     
284 CORE & MAIN LP (P) Summarized transactions: 8 1,689.88                     
285 AUTOMATIONDIRECT.COM Summarized transactions: 3 1,628.00                     
286 DELL MARKETING LP Summarized transactions: 9 1,521.42                     
287 COOKE ROBERT Summarized transactions: 6 1,502.57                     
288 MINNESOTA ENERGY RESOURCES CO Summarized transactions: 3 1,477.18                     
289 INNOVATIVE OFFICE SOLUTIONS L Summarized transactions: 11 1,475.87                     
290 GARCIA GRAPHICS INC Summarized transactions: 5 1,460.50                     
291 CORPORATE WEB SERVICES INC Summarized transactions: 3 1,433.92                     
292 TRUCKIN' AMERICA Summarized transactions: 3 1,429.18                     
293 WARTSILA NORTH AMERICA Summarized transactions: 5 1,322.98                     
294 PENTEK CHARLES Summarized transactions: 4 1,285.74                     
295 NORTHERN / BLUETARP FINANCIAL Summarized transactions: 5 1,272.26                     
296 VEIT DISPOSAL SYSTEMS dba Summarized transactions: 2 1,260.00                     
297 FLEETPRIDE INC Summarized transactions: 2 1,236.73                     
298 GRAINGER INC Summarized transactions: 9 1,196.75                     
299 HAWKINS INC Summarized transactions: 5 1,133.94                     
300 BRAYDEN AUTOMATION CORP Summarized transactions: 7 1,131.27                     
301 ERC WIPING PRODUCTS INC Summarized transactions: 3 1,092.31                     
302 DITCH WITCH OF MINNESOTA INC Summarized transactions: 4 1,021.39                     
303 POWELL ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS INC Summarized transactions: 1 988.80                        
304 METRO SALES INC Summarized transactions: 3 961.91                        
305 FASTENAL COMPANY Summarized transactions: 10 961.38                        
306 CLAREY'S SAFETY EQUIPMENT dba Summarized transactions: 6 960.04                        
307 BENTLEY SYSTEMS INC Summarized transactions: 1 947.98                        

 PAGE  6 12/11/2023        15



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

308 CULVER COMPANY INC Summarized transactions: 2 927.02                        
309 CENTURYLINK (P) Summarized transactions: 4 923.73                        
310 GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL (P) Summarized transactions: 3 911.79                        
311 K A A L  TV LLC Summarized transactions: 1 900.00                        
312 CREST PRECAST INC Summarized transactions: 1 900.00                        
313 VIOLA NURSERY AND GREENHOUSE Summarized transactions: 1 897.75                        
314 MERIT CONTRACTING INC (P) Summarized transactions: 4 890.54                        
315 WARREN WILL Summarized transactions: 4 875.86                        
316 PETTIS JAMES Summarized transactions: 3 867.91                        
317 DOCK & DOOR TEC INC Summarized transactions: 1 858.00                        
318 SYNERGY SYSTEMS INC Summarized transactions: 5 851.75                        
319 ULINE Summarized transactions: 6 841.04                        
320 BARR ENGINEERING COMPANY (P) Summarized transactions: 2 828.50                        
321 TWIN CITY SECURITY INC Summarized transactions: 1 826.44                        
322 AT&T Summarized transactions: 1 814.73                        
323 OLSEN CHAIN & CABLE CO INC Summarized transactions: 3 753.12                        
324 GOODIN COMPANY Summarized transactions: 5 750.87                        
325 NICKELS SCOTT Summarized transactions: 2 747.61                        
326 POMPS TIRE SERVICE INC Summarized transactions: 3 728.87                        
327 NEW AGE TREE SERVICE INC Summarized transactions: 1 726.75                        
328 CENTURYLINK Summarized transactions: 1 718.97                        
329 MIRATECH GROUP LLC Summarized transactions: 4 716.15                        
330 HACH COMPANY Summarized transactions: 2 714.57                        
331 VIKING ELECTRIC SUPPLY (P) Summarized transactions: 5 705.73                        
332 RONCO ENGINEERING SALES INC Summarized transactions: 3 680.98                        
333 WINKELS ELECTRIC INC Summarized transactions: 1 638.56                        
334 COOK STEVEN J Summarized transactions: 4 636.64                        
335 CLARK CONCRETE INC Summarized transactions: 1 633.00                        
336 PDS Summarized transactions: 1 622.50                        
337 SCHWEITZER ENGINEERING LABORA Summarized transactions: 4 594.44                        
338 NORTH CENTRAL INTERNATIONAL L Summarized transactions: 2 577.33                        
339 MANAHAN MACHINE SHOP INC Summarized transactions: 2 566.94                        
340 HALLMARK BUSINESS CONNECTIONS Summarized transactions: 4 563.20                        
341 MISSISSIPPI WELDERS SUPPLY CO Summarized transactions: 11 558.28                        
342 MIDWEST MECHANICAL SOLUTIONS Summarized transactions: 3 557.90                        
343 JOHN HENRY FOSTER MN INC (P) Summarized transactions: 4 557.25                        
344 US BANK PURCHASING CARD Summarized transactions: 3 538.33                        
345 CITY LAUNDERING COMPANY Summarized transactions: 3 530.55                        
346 PEOPLES ENERGY COOPERATIVE Summarized transactions: 3 520.78                        
347 PROCESS MEASUREMENT CO Summarized transactions: 12 512.90                        
348 ROBERTSON ASSET GROUP Summarized transactions: 10 512.61                        
349 MENARDS ROCHESTER NORTH Summarized transactions: 3 510.84                        
350 SOMA CONSTRUCTION INC Summarized transactions: 1 508.50                        
351 ADVANTAGE DIST LLC (P) Summarized transactions: 5 508.34                        
352 ALLEGRA OF ROCHESTER LLC Summarized transactions: 3 499.91                        
353 POWER SYSTEMS ENGINEERING INC Summarized transactions: 1 494.00                        
354 ALMETEK INDUSTRIES INC Summarized transactions: 43 471.47                        
355 ANDERSON JUDITH Summarized transactions: 1 462.50                        
356 ARNOLDS A KLEEN-TECH COMPANY Summarized transactions: 11 449.92                        
357 KLAMERUS DOUG Summarized transactions: 3 447.99                        
358 HOGAN PETER Summarized transactions: 4 441.60                        
359 BENSON ANTHONY Summarized transactions: 4 437.27                        

 PAGE  7 12/11/2023        16



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

360 INNER TITE CORP Summarized transactions: 1 434.77                        
361 LIEBENOW ANN Summarized transactions: 2 419.56                        
362 ANCOM COMMUNICATIONS INC Summarized transactions: 1 417.50                        
363 HANSON PATRICIA S Summarized transactions: 3 410.54                        
364 VAN METER INC dba Summarized transactions: 3 400.62                        
365 PETERSON,CHRISTOPHER Summarized transactions: 3 393.87                        
366 ADVANCE AUTO PARTS Summarized transactions: 12 364.64                        
367 CUSTOM COMMUNICATIONS INC Summarized transactions: 2 359.69                        
368 UNITED RENTALS INC Summarized transactions: 1 356.62                        
369 PEOPLES ENERGY COOPERATIVE Summarized transactions: 2 348.17                        
370 GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY INC Summarized transactions: 4 346.94                        
371 NOVASPECT INC Summarized transactions: 4 341.57                        
372 NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY Summarized transactions: 5 340.72                        
373 MN DEPT OF LABOR & INDUSTRY Summarized transactions: 3 340.00                        
374 ANDERTON RANDY Summarized transactions: 4 336.41                        
375 NARDINI FIRE EQUIPMENT CO INC Summarized transactions: 1 333.46                        
376 SUPERIOR COMPANIES OF MINNESO Summarized transactions: 1 324.62                        
377 SCHUMACHER EXCAVATING INC. Summarized transactions: 1 320.00                        
378 TMS JOHNSON INC Summarized transactions: 2 320.00                        
379 CREDIT MANAGEMENT LP Summarized transactions: 1 317.20                        
380 WATER SYSTEMS COMPANY Summarized transactions: 3 316.80                        
381 G A ERNST & ASSOCIATES INC Summarized transactions: 1 305.66                        
382 LIFELINE INCORPORATED Summarized transactions: 3 297.97                        
383 TEREX UTILITIES INC Summarized transactions: 2 291.74                        
384 OLSON JEFF Summarized transactions: 3 269.74                        
385 AVI SYSTEMS INC Summarized transactions: 1 267.19                        
386 RONCO ENGINEERING SALES INC Summarized transactions: 2 261.59                        
387 WITTE CULLY Summarized transactions: 2 252.41                        
388 MCMASTER CARR SUPPLY COMPANY Summarized transactions: 11 250.70                        
389 MN SECREATRY OF STATE-NOTARY Summarized transactions: 2 240.00                        
390 VANCO SERVICES LLC Summarized transactions: 1 238.59                        
391 CITY OF ROCHESTER Summarized transactions: 1 230.00                        
392 O' NEIL PATRICK Summarized transactions: 1 224.00                        
393 NUVERA Summarized transactions: 1 212.74                        
394 CENTER FOR ENERGY AND ENVIRON Summarized transactions: 1 209.47                        
395 SPENCER FANE LLP Summarized transactions: 1 208.50                        
396 VERIFIED CREDENTIALS, LLC Summarized transactions: 1 201.00                        
397 ALTEC INDUSTRIES INC Summarized transactions: 6 197.43                        
398 SOUTHERN MN MUNICIPAL POWER A Summarized transactions: 2 194.73                        
399 HI LINE UTILITY SUPPLY CO (P) Summarized transactions: 1 181.92                        
400 NAPA AUTO PARTS dba Summarized transactions: 10 181.11                        
401 MCDOWELL SEAN W Summarized transactions: 1 175.00                        
402 QUANDT JARED Summarized transactions: 1 175.00                        
403 S L CONTRACTING INC Summarized transactions: 1 160.31                        
404 HUMPHREY STEPHANIE Summarized transactions: 1 160.00                        
405 J & S REPAIR Summarized transactions: 2 157.78                        
406 OSWEILER TODD Summarized transactions: 1 150.65                        
407 PROPERTY RECORDS OLMSTED COUN Summarized transactions: 2 150.00                        
408 TOWNE MELANI Summarized transactions: 1 150.00                        
409 MN DEPT OF NATURAL RESOURCES Summarized transactions: 1 150.00                        
410 MENARDS ROCHESTER SOUTH Summarized transactions: 1 145.15                        
411 SOUND AND MEDIA SOLUTIONS Summarized transactions: 1 144.28                        

 PAGE  8 12/11/2023        17



ROCHESTER  PUBLIC  UTILITIES
    A/P Board Listing By Dollar Range

For 11/09/2023 To 12/07/2023
Consolidated & Summarized Below 1,000

412 U S PLASTICS CORP Summarized transactions: 2 140.60                        
413 REINDERS INC Summarized transactions: 1 138.00                        
414 MENARDS ROCHESTER SOUTH Summarized transactions: 2 132.64                        
415 STATE OF MINNESOTA Summarized transactions: 3 120.00                        
416 DAVE SYVERSON TRUCK CENTER IN Summarized transactions: 1 117.51                        
417 U S A SAFETY SUPPLY Summarized transactions: 2 110.64                        
418 ELECTROMARK INC Summarized transactions: 8 109.79                        
419 VERIZON WIRELESS Summarized transactions: 1 109.07                        
420 BOB THE BUG MAN LLC Summarized transactions: 2 108.13                        
421 MIDWEST SPEAKERS BUREAU, INC. Summarized transactions: 1 105.00                        
422 ON SITE SANITATION INC Summarized transactions: 2 102.08                        
423 GREAT NORTHERN ENVIROMENTAL,L Summarized transactions: 1 100.45                        
424 PROPERTY RECORDS OLMSTED COUN Summarized transactions: 1 100.00                        
425 MCCOLLOUGH TIM Summarized transactions: 1 96.00                          
426 SLEEPY EYE TELEPHONE CO Summarized transactions: 1 84.76                          
427 FEDEX SHIPPING Summarized transactions: 6 83.76                          
428 ROCHESTER CHEVROLET CADILLAC Summarized transactions: 2 83.61                          
429 COPPER CREEK SIGN SHOP Summarized transactions: 3 83.25                          
430 HOLTORF DAVE Summarized transactions: 1 80.00                          
431 VALLI CHRISTOPHER Summarized transactions: 1 80.00                          
432 MCFARLAND JESSE Summarized transactions: 1 80.00                          
433 SCHEEL LAWRENCE Summarized transactions: 1 73.10                          
434 FCX PERFORMANCE INC Summarized transactions: 1 70.25                          
435 WHITE CAP LP (P) Summarized transactions: 1 69.47                          
436 ALTERNATIVE TECHNOLOGIES INC Summarized transactions: 2 66.00                          
437 GLOBAL RENTAL COMPANY INC Summarized transactions: 1 61.25                          
438 MEYERS KEVIN Summarized transactions: 1 58.95                          
439 MITSUBISHI POWER AERO LLC (P) Summarized transactions: 1 55.69                          
440 CITY OF ROCHESTER Summarized transactions: 1 50.00                          
441 DZUBAY TONY Summarized transactions: 1 48.64                          
442 CONCORDE SPECIALTY GASES INC Summarized transactions: 1 43.82                          
443 EAGLE EYE POWER SOLUTIONS LLC Summarized transactions: 2 42.59                          
444 FIRST SUPPLY (P) Summarized transactions: 2 41.00                          
445 DESSNER JAMES Summarized transactions: 1 40.00                          
446 FASTENAL COMPANY Summarized transactions: 1 34.74                          
447 CONAX TECHNOLOGIES LLC Summarized transactions: 1 31.64                          
448 MINNESOTA ENERGY RESOURCES CO Summarized transactions: 1 30.97                          
449 FOLKERT JOHN Summarized transactions: 1 27.60                          
450 NORTH AMERICAN ELECTRIC RELIA Summarized transactions: 1 26.69                          
451 PAULS LOCK & KEY SHOP INC Summarized transactions: 1 25.60                          
452 JOHNSTONE SUPPLY (P) Summarized transactions: 1 23.68                          
453 ARROW HARDWARE & PAINT (P) Summarized transactions: 1 19.40                          
454 FERGUSON ENTERPRISES Summarized transactions: 1 18.15                          
455 IDEXX DISTRIBUTION CORP Summarized transactions: 1 17.05                          
456 THE ENERGY AUTHORITY INC Summarized transactions: 1 8.27                            
457 GREAT RIVER ENERGY Summarized transactions: 1 4.10                            

Price Range Total: 194,199.61                 

Grand Total: 13,148,978.69            

 PAGE  9 12/11/2023        18



MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Consent Agenda

PRESENTER:
Mona Hoeft

REQUEST FOR ACTION

2024 Lump Sum Power Line Clearance Tree Services

4.C

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Approve a resolution to accept the bids for the 2024 lump sum tree trimming services as follows: 1)
Asplundh Tree Expert LLC, $744,278, 2) New Age Tree Service, LLC $91,650, and authorize the Project
Manager to manage the contracts up to the approved budget amount. All awards are subject to
applicable tax. 

Report Narrative:
The results of the bids for the 2024 lump sum power line clearance tree services are attached. Lump
sum work is chosen based on RPU's maintenance cycle and include a fixed price for the trimming
portion, plus a not to exceed price for tree removals within the easement. During the project, the
contractor also seeks landowner permission to remove trees outside the easement that would benefit
RPU safety and reliability if removed. In all cases, the contractor and RPU work closely with property
owners to reach an agreeable solution for tree removals. These costs result in a change order to the
contract.
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fiscal & Resource Impact:
The 2024-25 budget for tree trimming services is $1.7 million each year. The board approved $762,450
last month for the 2024 hourly portion of these services.

Prepared By:
Mona Hoeft

Attachments:
FBA Bid Tab
20231219 Resolution - 2024 Lump Sum Power Line Clearance Tree Services.docx

19

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2329013/FBA_Bid_Tab.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2333269/20231219_Resolution_-_2024_Lump_Sum_Power_Line_Clearance_Tree_Services.pdf


Line  Per Unit  Removal Costs 
NTE 

 Total Per 
Unit & 

Removals 
 Per Unit  Removal 

Costs NTE 

 Total Per 
Unit & 

Removals 
402 $99,645.00 $7,172.00 $106,817.00 $282,058.00 $7,500.00 $289,558.00
605 $59,932.00 $2,116.00 $62,048.00 $155,190.00 $3,590.00 $158,780.00
614 $72,846.00 $5,220.00 $78,066.00 $182,984.00 $0.00 $182,984.00
801 $183,717.00 $19,876.00 $203,593.00 $462,714.00 $0.00 $462,714.00
904 $110,140.00 $7,942.00 $118,082.00 $186,499.00 $3,740.00 $190,239.00
912 $82,862.00 $5,460.00 $88,322.00 $152,184.00 $0.00 $152,184.00
Q3 $125,172.00 $0.00 $125,172.00 $91,650.00 $0.00 $91,650.00
Q4 $87,350.00 $0.00 $87,350.00 $88,164.00 $0.00 $88,164.00

$744,278.00 $91,650.00

Asplundh New Age

20



  

R E S O L U T I O N

      BE IT RESOLVED by the Public Utility Board of the City of Rochester to accept bids for 
the 2024 lump sum tree trimming services as follows: 1) Asplundh Tree Expert LLC, 
$744,278, 2) New Age Tree Service LLC $91,650, and authorize the Project Manager to 
manage the contracts up to the approved budget amount. All awards are subject to 
applicable tax.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE PUBLIC UTILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF

ROCHESTER, MINNESOTA, THIS 19th DAY OF December, 2023.

     

___________________________________
PRESIDENT 

___________________________________
SECRETARY

21



MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Regular Agenda

PRESENTER:
Steven Cook

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Contingency Fund Increase - KFI Engineering

5.A

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Approve an increase of the contingency funding for the KFI Engineering, Professional Services
Agreement for engineering services related to the design of the three parallel electrical duct banks
between Marion Road Substation and 5th Street and 4th Ave SW.

Report Narrative:
On November 24, 2020 the RPU Board Approved a total of $844,394 for engineering services related to
the design of duct banks between Marion Road Substation and 5th Street and 4th Ave SW. The
$844,394 was split between $775,000 for the proposal based on the scope as it was identified at the
time, and a $140,732 contingency fund that the project manager was granted authorization to use for
contingency items as they were encountered.
 
At the time of soliciting and receiving the proposals for performing this work, there were still several
unknowns such as the exact routing, quantity of relocation of other utilities, and location/means of
crossing Bear Creek and the Zumbro River. Change Orders for $125,133.50 have been processed to
date, with the majority of that related to analysis for crossing the rivers on replacement bridge structures
using modified bridge foundations and additional surveying costs.
 
We still have several outstanding issues, such as analysis and design of protection for the conduits
under the bridges, redesign in the area of Soldiers Field due to some conflicts created by the Parks
Project that is is in progress, and flood control berm improvements due to as found conditions.
 
In addition, with the heritage site conflict, there have been additional meetings and preparation of
exhibits, and staff would like to move forward with additional surveying to prepare for having them
substantially change our route to avoid the Heritage Site, along with engineering services to prepare
plans and specification modifications for the reroute.
 
Staff is requesting an additional $260,000 in contingency funds for engineering services under this
agreement, for a total authorization of $1,104,394.00.

Fiscal & Resource Impact:
The project budget has enough funds to manage this increase.

Prepared By:
Steve Cook

22



Attachments:
20231219 Resolution - Contingency Fund Increase for KFI Engineering.docx

23

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2337723/20231219_Resolution_-_Contingency_Fund_Increase_for_KFI_Engineering.pdf


  

R E S O L U T I O N

      BE IT RESOLVED by the Public Utility Board of the City of Rochester to approve a 
$260,000 increase in contingency funding for the KFI Engineering Professional 
Services Agreement for engineering services related to the design of the three parallel 
electrical duct banks between Marion Road Substation and 5th Street and 4th Ave 
SW.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE PUBLIC UTILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF

ROCHESTER, MINNESOTA, THIS 19th DAY OF December, 2023.

     

___________________________________
PRESIDENT 

___________________________________
SECRETARY

24



MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Regular Agenda

PRESENTER:
Steven Cook

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Technical Specification Manual for Distributed
Energy Resources

5.B

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Approve a resolution to adopt the updated Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy
Resources and grant engineering staff authority to make minor updates and revisions.

Report Narrative:
The Minnesota Public Utilities Commission has required all Minnesota utilities connected to the electric
distribution system to comply with its updated Technical Interconnection and Interoperability
Requirement (TIIR) and the standards of IEEE 1547-2018. Included in the update is a requirement for
inverters with advanced functionality for voltage and VAR control. These advanced inverters have
functionality if property managed that will theoretically allow for higher penetration of interconnected units
to the electric distribution system without causing system constraints. RPU Engineering has updated our
Technical Specification Manual to require these advanced inverters with RPU defined set points and
operating parameters for all applications received on or after January 1, 2024.

Prior Legislative Actions & Community Engagement:
Minn. Statute 216B.1611 authorizes the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission to establish by order,
statewide standards for the interconnection and parallel operation of distributed generation for all
Distributed Energy Resources (DER) systems sized at 10 megawatts or less of interconnection capacity.
 
The Commission approved the updated Technical Interconnection and Interoperability Requirement
(TIIR) in 2023. The electric utilities that have their rates regulated by the Commission were required to
have updated Technical Specification Manuals (TSM) available by April 3, 2023 for Xcel Energy, and
August 1, 2023 for the others.
 
All other electric distribution utilities within Minnesota are required to have updated Technical
Specification Manuals in place by January 1, 2024 that harmonize with the Commission approved
updated TIIR.

Fiscal & Resource Impact:
These changes will require additional staff time for addressing installer issues and to review inverter data
files that the installers submit to verify compliance with the Technical Specification Manual. There will
also be additional inspection time to verify equipment in the field.

Prepared By:

25



Steve Cook

Attachments:
Technical Specification Manual 12192023.pdf
20231219 Resolution - Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy Resources.docx

26

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2329725/Technical_Specification_Manual_12192023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2333244/20231219_Resolution_-_Technical_Specification_Manual_for_Distributed_Energy_Resources.pdf


TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION  
MANUAL (TSM) 

The Technical Specifications Manual for Interconnection of Distributed Energy 
Resources with Rochester Public Utilities - Area Electric Power System 
 

27



Technical Specification Manual Ver 2.0 i 
 

Version: 

Version # Date Notes 

1 7/1/2021 Original adopted TSM 

2 12/19/2023 Updated to include inverters with advanced functions of UL-
1741 SB and IEEE 1547-2018 

   

   

   

 

  

28



Technical Specification Manual Ver 2.0 i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction ...........................................................................................................................................1 

1.1. General Information ...................................................................................................................................2 
1.1.1. Application of IEEE 1547-2018 Standards ..........................................................................................2 
1.1.2. References and Definitions .................................................................................................................3 
1.1.3. Certified Inverter .................................................................................................................................3 
1.1.4. Rochester Public Utilities Modifications .............................................................................................4 
1.1.5. Distributed Energy Resource (DER) System Protection .......................................................................4 
1.1.6. DER Installations using Open Transfer Switch ....................................................................................4 
1.1.7. Bulk Transmission System Requirements ...........................................................................................4 
1.1.8. Aggregation and Coordination of DER Operations at Multiple Sites ..................................................5 
1.1.9. Design and Maintenance of DER Facilities .........................................................................................5 

1.2 System Operation Type ..............................................................................................................................5 
1.3 Convention for Word Usage .......................................................................................................................5 

2. Abbreviations & Common Terms .............................................................................................................6 

2.1. Key Terms ...................................................................................................................................................6 

3. Autonomous Smart Inverter Functions Default Activation Status .............................................................7 

4. Performance Category Assignment .........................................................................................................8 

4.1. Normal – Category A and B ........................................................................................................................8 
4.2. Assignment of Abnormal Performance Category I, II or III.........................................................................8 

5. Reactive Power Capability and Voltage/Power Control  Performance.......................................................9 

5.1. Constant Power Factor Mode.................................................................................................................. 10 
5.2. Constant Power Factor ............................................................................................................................ 10 
The Area EPS Operator requires the settings for constant power factor to be disabled, unless otherwise 
specified in the Interconnection Agreement. ..................................................................................................... 10 
5.3. Voltage-Reactive Power Control ............................................................................................................. 10 
5.4. Voltage – Active Power Control ............................................................................................................... 11 
5.5. Active – Reactive Power Control (Watt – Var) ........................................................................................ 12 
5.6. Constant Reactive Power Control............................................................................................................ 12 

6. Response to Abnormal Condition .......................................................................................................... 12 

6.1. Voltage Ride-Through and Tripping ......................................................................................................... 13 
6.2. Frequency Ride-Through and Tripping .................................................................................................... 13 
6.3. Dynamic Voltage Support ........................................................................................................................ 14 

7. Protection Requirements ...................................................................................................................... 15 

7.1. Requirement of Utility AC Disconnect ..................................................................................................... 15 
7.1.1. Location of Utility AC Disconnection ................................................................................................ 16 

7.2. Protection Coordination .......................................................................................................................... 16 
7.2.1. Secondary Services ........................................................................................................................... 16 
7.2.2. Primary Services ............................................................................................................................... 16 
7.2.3. Coordination with Area EPS Automatic Reclosing Schemes ............................................................ 17 

7.3. Grounded Wye-Wye Protection Requirements  .................................................................................... 17 
7.3.1. General Relay Information .............................................................................................................. 17 
7.3.2. Non-Certified Inverters .................................................................................................................... 17 
7.3.3. Relaying ........................................................................................................................................... 17 

29



Technical Specification Manual Ver 2.0 i
i 

 

7.3.4. DC Power for Protection Devices ..................................................................................................... 18 
7.3.5. Open Phase Detection ..................................................................................................................... 18 
7.3.6. Single-phase on Multiphase Services ............................................................................................... 19 

7.4. Interconnection Transformers Connections............................................................................................ 19 
7.4.1. Wye-Wye Transformer Connections ................................................................................................ 19 
7.4.2. Wye-Delta Transformer Connections .............................................................................................. 19 
7.4.3. Delta-Wye Transformer Connections .............................................................................................. 20 

7.5. Grounding ................................................................................................................................................ 20 
7.5.1. Requirement of Grounding Transformer ......................................................................................... 20 
7.5.2. Wye-Wye Interconnection ............................................................................................................... 20 
7.5.3. Wye-Delta Interconnection .............................................................................................................. 20 
7.5.4. Delta-Wye Interconnection .............................................................................................................. 20 

8. Operations ........................................................................................................................................... 20 

8.1. Periodical Testing & Record Keeping ....................................................................................................... 20 
8.2. O&M Agreements .................................................................................................................................... 21 
8.3. System Voltage ........................................................................................................................................ 22 
8.4. Power Ramp Rates................................................................................................................................... 22 

8.4.1. Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 22 
8.4.2. Power Ramp Rates Requirements ................................................................................................... 22 

8.5. Enter Service ............................................................................................................................................ 23 
8.5.1. DER without ESS ............................................................................................................................... 23 
8.5.2. Energy Storage Systems................................................................................................................... 23 

9. Power Control Systems ......................................................................................................................... 23 

9.1. General .................................................................................................................................................... 23 
9.2. Power Control System Requirements ..................................................................................................... 24 
9.3. Documentation ........................................................................................................................................ 24 
9.4. Inadvertent Export .................................................................................................................................. 25 

10. Interoperability ................................................................................................................................. 25 

10.1. Overview .............................................................................................................................................. 25 
10.2. Sales to Parties Other Than the Area EPS Operator ............................................................................ 26 
10.3. Level of Communication Required ...................................................................................................... 26 
10.4. Level of Monitoring and Control Required .......................................................................................... 26 
10.5. Security ................................................................................................................................................ 27 

10.5.1. Physical and Front Panel .................................................................................................................. 27 
10.5.2. Network Security ............................................................................................................................. 27 
10.5.3. Local DER Communication Interface Security .................................................................................. 28 

11. Energy Storage Systems .................................................................................................................... 28 

11.1. Grid Support Functions ........................................................................................................................ 28 
11.2. Common Modes of Operation ............................................................................................................. 28 
11.3. Enter Service ........................................................................................................................................ 28 
11.4. Modification of Control Modes ........................................................................................................... 28 

12. Metering Requirements .................................................................................................................... 29 

12.1. DER Interconnection on Services with Subtractive Metering ............................................................. 29 
12.2. Metering Required for DER Installation .............................................................................................. 29 
12.3. Main Service Meter ............................................................................................................................. 29 
12.4. Production Meter ................................................................................................................................ 29 

30



Technical Specification Manual Ver 2.0 i
i
i 

 

12.5. Production Meter Requirement .......................................................................................................... 29 
12.5.1. DER Systems with ESS ...................................................................................................................... 29 
12.5.2. Extended Parallel DER Interconnections < 40 kW ............................................................................ 30 
12.5.3. Extended Parallel DER Interconnections 40 kW and Larger ............................................................ 30 
12.5.4. All Other DER Interconnections ....................................................................................................... 30 

12.6. Acceptable Metering ........................................................................................................................... 30 
12.6.1. Meter Sockets .................................................................................................................................. 30 
12.6.2. Location and Accessibility ................................................................................................................ 31 

13. Signage and Labeling ......................................................................................................................... 31 

13.1. General Requirements ......................................................................................................................... 31 
13.2. Utility AC Disconnect ........................................................................................................................... 31 

13.2.1. Remotely Located Utility AC Disconnect .......................................................................................... 31 
13.2.2. Multiple AC Disconnects .................................................................................................................. 31 

13.3. Production Meter ................................................................................................................................ 32 

14. Test and Verification Requirement .................................................................................................... 32 

14.1. Applicability ......................................................................................................................................... 32 
14.2. Certified DER Systems ......................................................................................................................... 32 
14.3. Non-Certified DER Systems ................................................................................................................. 32 
14.4. Pre-Energization Testing – Interconnection Customer ....................................................................... 32 
14.5. Energization Testing Criteria ............................................................................................................... 34 

14.5.1. Installation Verification ................................................................................................................... 34 
14.5.2. Anti-Islanding Test ........................................................................................................................... 34 
14.5.3. Additional Onsite Testing................................................................................................................. 35 

14.6. Periodic Testing and Documentation .................................................................................................. 35 
14.6.1. Battery Documentation ................................................................................................................... 35 

14.7. Failure Protocol ................................................................................................................................... 35 
14.8. Modification to Existing DER ............................................................................................................... 35 

15. Sample Documents for Simplified Process ......................................................................................... 35 

15.1. Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 35 
15.2. One-Line Diagram ................................................................................................................................ 36 
15.3. Site Diagram ........................................................................................................................................ 38 
15.4. Testing Procedure ................................................................................................................................ 38 

Appendix A – Types of Interconnection......................................................................................................... 40 

Appendix B – Relay Functions ....................................................................................................................... 50 

Appendix C – Types of ESS Control Modes .................................................................................................... 53 

Appendix D – Simplified Diagrams for Various Rate Options .......................................................................... 57 

Appendix E – Certificate of Completion ......................................................................................................... 61 

Appendix F – Example Simplified Process DER Testing Procedure .................................................................. 62 

Appendix F – DER Alteration Notification ...................................................................................................... 63 

APPENDIX G:  PV and Inverter-base DER Ground Referencing Requirements and Sample Calculations............ 65 

APPENDIX H:  Area Eps Operator Required Profile For Inverter Based Der Systems .................................... 72 

 

31



Technical Specification Manual 
1 1 

1. Introduction 
This Technical Specification Manual (TSM) has been developed as a companion document 
to the State of Minnesota Technical Interconnection and Interoperability Requirement (TIIR) 
for distributed energy resources interconnected to the distribution system. This Technical 
Specification Manual, also referred to as the TSM, is an accompanying document to the TIIR. 
The TSM contains additional technical requirements specific to the Area EPS Operator 
(Rochester Public Utilities). 

Both the TIIR and the TSM are to be used with the adopted interconnection process. For 
municipal electric utilities in Minnesota, the interconnection process is generally known as 
the Municipal Minnesota Interconnection Process or M-MIP. Proposed DER 
interconnections submitted under the M-MIP relevant process adopted by the Area EPS 
shall be designed to comply with the technical requirements listed in the TIIR and Area EPS 
Operator’s TSM. 

The TSM is expected to be updated on a regular basis as DER technology and 
interconnection standards change. Interconnection Customers should confirm they are 
using the latest TSM version when designing their DER system. This TSM version 
incorporates the interim technical guidance listed in Annex C of the TIIR. 

Substantial changes to existing DER systems, such as capacity additions or inverter changes, 
are required to be compliant with the latest version of the TIIR and TSM. 

This document is not intended to describe every possible DER system interconnection or be 
a complete and inclusive list of all requirements.  In addition to the requirements specified 
in this document the DER shall meet all applicable sections of the National Electric Code, 
National Electric Safety Code, applicable national standards (IEEE, ANSI, etc.), and the Area 
EPS (Rochester Public Utilities) Electric Service Rules in effect at time of initial application or 
major modification. 

Rochester Public Utilities encourages individuals intending the interconnection of a DER 
with our system to complete an application prior to ordering DER equipment or completing 
any installation work to reduce the risk of additional costs or delays with the project.  
Applying for an interconnection will result in a design review by RPU engineering and 
operations staff.  If the review identifies issues with the interconnection location, type or 
design, it is typically easier to resolve these issues prior to DER equipment been ordered.   

The TSM document provides specific information about interconnecting a DER with 
Rochester Public Utilities electrical distribution system.  The TSM is designed to provide 
technical requirements for renewable, storage, and fossil fuel DER systems specific to the 
Area EPS Operator and with an aggregate Nameplate Rating of 10 MW or less at the Point 
of Coming Coupling.  The TSM applies to all DER installations that are capable of operating 
in parallel with Rochester Public Utilities distribution system for any period of time.  

The IEEE 1547, IEEE Standard for Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power 
Systems, and IEEE 1547.1, IEEE Standard Conformance Test Procedures for Equipment 
Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems, are the primary 

32



Technical Specification Manual 
2 2 

standards for interconnection and interoperability requirements.  All customer owned 
electrical work and equipment is required to comply with the National Electrical Code (NEC) 
and to be inspected by the local area electrical inspector prior to interconnection with 
Rochester Public Utilities.  Rochester Public Utilities will require proof of compliance with 
the National Electrical Code and all of our applicable requirements prior to allowing the DER 
to interconnect with our system. 

Rochester Public Utilities has the right to limit the maximum size of any DER and/or the 
number of DER systems interconnected, if the proposed DER system(s) adversely impacts 
the power quality or reduces the reliability to other customers connected to Rochester 
Public Utilities system. The interconnection of new DER facilities to the Rochester Public 
Utilities electric system must not degrade the existing Rochester Public Utilities protection 
or control schemes, nor lower the existing levels of safety and reliability for other 
customers. 

This document only covers the technical requirements and does not cover the 
interconnection process from the planning process to the approval and construction of the 
project.  The Minnesota Municipal Interconnection Process documents provide the 
procedures to follow and sample versions of the forms to submit.  Rochester Public Utilities 
uses an on-line portal for completing and submitting interconnection applications.  More 
information about the interconnection process and requirements can be found on the on 
line at www.rpu.org and information and application are processed through the on-line 
portal https://www.novapowerportal.com and selecting Rochester Public Utilities as from 
the drop down. 

The earlier that Rochester Public Utilities gets involved in the interconnection process the 
less likely there will be last minute issues identified with interconnection requests. 

1.1. General Information 

1.1.1.   Application of IEEE 1547-2018 Standards 

The IEEE 1547-2018 standard has been approved and is available for use as the 
national standard for interconnection and interoperability of distributed energy 
resources with electric power systems. 

All inverters which are part of a DER interconnection application filed on or after 
January 1, 2024, require certification under UL 1741SB standards. The settings 
presented in this document are required to be installed on all new inverters. The 
settings are presented in the EPRI Common File Format and are intended to 
conform to IEEE 1547-2018. Settings other than the values listed in this 
document may be required on a case-by-case basis to support unique 
interconnections. Any use of inverter settings other than those values listed in 
this document are subject to review and approval by Rochester Public Utilities.  

Note: the use of UL 1741SA certified inverter(s) are not allowed for 
interconnections application filed on or after January 1, 2024. 

33

http://www.rpu.org/
https://www.novapowerportal.com/


Technical Specification Manual 
3 3 

DER systems installed under interconnection applications submitted prior to 
January 1, 2024 are allowed to continue to follow the technical requirements in 
force at the time of their interconnection, but existing inverter based DER 
systems which are Materially Modified1 shall utilize UL 1741SB inverters and the 
settings provided within this document. 

1.1.2.  References and Definitions 

The references and the definitions from the IEEE 1547-2018 and Minnesota TIIR 
documents are applicable for this document. 

1.1.3.  Certified Inverter 

An inverter is considered certified if it meets the requirements listed in 
attachment 5 of the Rochester Public Utilities approved Minnesota Municipal 
Interconnection Agreement (MMIA). The current standard for IEEE 1547 is the 
2018 version. The testing standard IEEE 1547.1-2020 describes the testing 
required to certify interconnection equipment to the 2018 version of the IEEE 
1547. Inverters are tested and certified under UL 1741. The older 2014 version of 
this certification is UL 1741SA. The current version which meets the IEEE 1741-
2018 requirements is UL 1741SB. All interconnection applications received on or 
after January 1, 2024 require inverters which are certified by a national testing 
lab to UL 1741SB. 

Inverters which are utilized in Vehicle-To-Grid (V2G) applications are required to 
be tested and certified to UL 1741SC. The technical requirements for electrically 
powered vehicles to back-feed the home or electrical grid are in the early stages 
of development and the technical interconnection requirements are not yet 
available; as such, the requirements are not included within the TIIR or the TSM. 
If you are considering a Vehicle-to-Grid (V2G) application / installation, please 
contact the Rochester Public Utilities Interconnection Coordinator DER@rpu.org 
for any additional technical requirements which maybe applicable. 

DER systems installed under interconnection applications submitted prior to 
December 31, 2023, are allowed to continue to follow the technical 
requirements in force at the time of their interconnection application, but 
existing inverter based DER systems which are Materially Modified shall utilize 
UL 1741SB inverters and the settings provided within this document. Existing 
systems are encouraged, where reasonably possible, to upgrade their inverter 
settings to align with the updated advanced inverter interconnection settings in 
this version of the TSM. Please contact the Rochester Public Utilities 
Interconnection coordinator prior to any changes of inverter or relaying settings. 
To ensure our engineering models correctly reflect the current operation of any 
interconnected DER, the engineers need to know how each DER operational 
response settings are configured. Rochester Public Utilities will retest the 
interconnection as required, during normal business hours, without charge to 
the member. 

34



Technical Specification Manual 
4 4 

1.1.4.  Rochester Public Utilities Modifications 

Depending upon the location of the interconnection, size of the DER and how 
the DER is operated, certain modifications and/or additions may be required to 
the existing Rochester Public Utilities electrical distribution system due to the 
addition of the DER. As part of the application and review process, any 
modifications required to the Rochester Public Utilities electrical distribution 
system will be identified along with the estimated costs which will be incurred by 
the DER applicant. 

1.1.5.  Distributed Energy Resource (DER) System Protection 

Protection requirements in the TIIR and TSM are structured to protect the Area 
EPS, Area EPS customers, and the public. The protection of the DER and the Local 
EPS is solely the responsibility of the Interconnection Customer and is not 
addressed in these technical requirements. Additional protection equipment, 
beyond what is required within this TSM may be required to ensure proper 
operation of the DER. This is especially true while operating islanded from the 
Area EPS. Rochester Public Utilities does not assume responsibility for protection 
of the DER equipment or of any portion of the Local EPS. 

1.1.6.  DER Installations using Open Transfer Switch 

For a DER installation to qualify as an open transition switch installation and the 
associated limited protective requirements, mechanical interlocks are required 
between the two source contacts. (Area EPS source and DER source) This is 
required to ensure that one of the contacts is always open and the DER can 
never be operated in parallel with the Area EPS. If the mechanical interlock is not 
present, the protection requirements are as if the switch is a closed transition 
switch that can parallel with the Area EPS. This requirement is due to the 
possibility that the solenoid operating a source contact could fail and parallel the 
DER with the Area EPS. Open Transition switches, with a mechanical interlock 
between the source contactors are exempt from submitting an interconnection 
application to the Area EPS. If there are any questions, please contact the 
Rochester Public Utilities DER coordinator. 

1.1.7.  Bulk Transmission System Requirements 

The TSM document provides the requirements associated with the Rochester 
Public Utilities electric distribution system. Other than the advanced inverter grid 
support settings, this TSM document does not include any special requirements 
which may apply due to interaction of the proposed DER and the bulk 
transmission system. 

Rochester Public Utilities electric distribution system is interconnected with the 
bulk transmission system and the interconnection and operation of the proposed 
DER may affect the transmission system. The Midcontinent Independent System 
Operator (MISO) has specific rules and requirements for DER, which are 
interconnected with the Rochester Public Utilities electric distribution system 

35



Technical Specification Manual 
5 5 

and are able to cause back feeding of the transmission system or otherwise 
affect the transmission system. 

If the potential for affecting the transmission system is identified through the 
interconnection application process, Rochester Public Utilities together with the 
DER interconnection applicant will need to request studies by the area 
transmission provider and/or MISO to identify any transmission constraints or 
other transmission issues. 

1.1.8.  Aggregation and Coordination of DER Operations at Multiple Sites 

Aggregated and coordinated operation of DER for the purpose of selling those 
services to a transmission market, is not allowed without written permission of 
the Area EPS. For example, the use of DER systems to provide frequency 
response or coordinated load control and sell that service to the MISO market, is 
not allowed on the Area EPS electric distribution system without written 
approval by the Area EPS. 

1.1.9.  Design and Maintenance of DER Facilities 

Rochester Public Utilities review and approval of the interconnection of the DER 
system, is not a complete design and operational review of the DER system and 
does not relieve the DER Operator of its responsibility, to design, install, test, 
operate and maintain the DER system in a manner which is safe. The DER 
Operator is responsible to ensure that the DER system is designed, operated, and 
maintained so that it does not energize a deenergized portion of the Area EPS or 
injects inadvertent energy into the Area EPS which causes equipment damage, 
injuries or affects the reliable flow of electricity to other Rochester Public 
Utilities customers. 

1.2 System Operation Type 

The TSM addresses different types of DER systems by the way the DER system operates 
with the Area EPS. Additional information of the different types is available in the 
Appendix A. 

1.3 Convention for Word Usage 

Throughout this document, the word shall is used to indicate a mandatory requirement. 
The word should is used to indicate a recommendation. The word may is used to 
indicate a permissible action. The word can is used for statements of capability and 
possibility.

36



Technical Specification Manual 
6 

6 

2. Abbreviations & Common Terms 
AGIR   Authority Governing Interconnection Requirements 

Area EPS Operator The utility that operates the distribution system. In this document the 
Area EPS Operator is Rochester Public Utilities 

BPS   Bulk Power System 

CT   Current Transformer 

DER   Distributed Energy Resource 

M-MIP   Municipal Minnesota DER Interconnection Process 

EPS   Electric Power System 

ESS   Energy Storage System 

Local EPS  Local Electrical Power System 

MN DIA  Minnesota Distributed Energy Resource Interconnection Agreement 

MN DIP  Minnesota Distributed Energy Resource Interconnection Process 

NEC   National Electrical Code (National Fire Protection Standard 70) 

NESC   National Electrical Safety Code (IEEE Standard C2) 

PoC   Point of Distributed Energy Resource Connection 

PCC   Point of Common Coupling 

RPA   Reference Point of Applicability 

RTO   Regional Transmission Operator 

MN DER TIIR Minnesota Distributed Energy Resource Technical Interconnection and 
Interoperability Requirements 

TPS   Transmission Power System 

TSM   Technical Specifications Manual 

 

2.1. Key Terms 

The terms used in this document are defined in the MN DER TIIR. For quick reference, the key 
terms are defined in this section. 

Area Electric Power System (Area EPS): The electric power distribution system connected at 
the Point of Common Coupling. Rochester Public Utilities is the Area EPS for this TSM 
documents and the use of the terms Area EPA and Rochester Public Utilities are used 
interchangeably in this document. 

37



Technical Specification Manual 
7 

7 

Area Electric Power System Operator (Area EPS Operator): An entity that owns, controls, or 
operates the electric power distribution system that are used for the provision of electric 
service. Rochester Public Utilities is the Area EPS Operator for this TSM document. 

Local Electric Power System (Local EPS): An EPS contained entirely within a single premise or 
group of premises. The Local EPS is typically the local electrical system in a house or business. 

Point of Common Coupling (PCC): The point of connection between the Area EPS and the Local 
EPS.  For residential customers with underground services this is typically the connection of the 
customers service lateral to the Rochester Public Utilities transformer or secondary pedestal.  
For overhead services this is typically the connection point of the customers service lateral at 
the overhead weatherhead. 

Point of Distributed Energy Resources Connection (PoC): The point where a DER unit is 
electrically connected in a Local EPS and meets the requirement of the MN DER TIIR and this 
document exclusive of any load present in the respective part of the Local EPS. 

Power Control: System that controls the output (production or discharging) and input 
(charging) of one or more DER in order to limit output, input, export and/or import. 

Reference Point of Applicability (RPA): The location where the interconnection and 
interoperability performance requirements specified in the MN DER TIIR and this document 
apply.  The RPA could be the PCC or the PoC, or another location which is defined in the 
operating section of the interconnection agreement. 

3. Autonomous Smart Inverter Functions Default Activation 
Status 
This version of the TSM has been harmonized with IEEE 1547A-2020 Standard for Interconnection 
and Interoperability of Distributed Energy Resources with Associated Electric Power System 
Interfaces for autonomous smart inverter functions. 

Specific settings and requirements with advanced, interactive functions associated with IEEE 
1547A-2020 are not included in this version of the TSM, but might in a future version pending 
further alignment with long range planning. DERs certified under UL 1741-2019 Certified 
Requirements Decision for Power Control System (CRD for PCS) are IEEE 1547A-2020 compliant and 
meet the updated TSM requirements. 

Table 1 : Default Activation Status of Autonomous Functions 
 

Function Status 

Constant Power Factor Mode Disabled 

Constant Reactive Power Mode Disabled 

Voltage-Reactive Power Control (Volt-Var) Enabled 

Active Power – Reactive Power Control (Watt-
Var) 

Disabled 

38



Technical Specification Manual 
8 

8 

Voltage-Active Power Control (Volt-Watt) Enabled 

Voltage Disturbance Ride-Through Enabled 

Frequency Disturbance Ride-Through Enabled 

Enter Service Enabled 

Anti-Islanding Enabled 

4. Performance Category Assignment 
Performance Category Assignment is currently enforced. The required performance categories for 
DER based on the performance categories defined in IEEE 1547A-2020 are contained in the next 
two subsections.  Rochester Public Utilities follows the TIIR for category assignment.  

The DER shall use the IEEE 1547 default parameter settings for all capabilities and performance 
requirements of the applicable performance category unless otherwise specified by the TIRR, this 
TSM, or Rochester Public Utilities Engineering requirements from a project specific study. 

4.1. Normal – Category A and B 

The normal performance category specifies reactive power capability and voltage regulation 
performance requirements. Synchronous machine-based DER shall comply with normal 
performance Category A. Inverter-based DER shall comply with normal performance Category 
B. The Category B assignment supports Area EPS power quality in areas of high DER penetration 
and variable-generation DER. 

Technology Normal Performance Category 

Inverter-based DER Category B 

Synchronous machine generation Category A 

4.2. Assignment of Abnormal Performance Category I, II or III 

 The abnormal performance category specifies trip and ride-through performance 
requirements. Synchronous machine-based DER shall comply with abnormal performance 
Category I. Inverter-based DER shall comply with abnormal performance Category III. The 
Category III assignment supports wide area and localized system stability in areas of high DER 
penetration and where nuisance tripping could cause voltage collapse or system overloads. 

Technology Abnormal Performance Category 

Inverter-based DER Category III 

Synchronous machine generation Category I 

 

  

39



Technical Specification Manual 
9 

9 

 
5. Reactive Power Capability and Voltage/Power Control 

 Performance 
This section provides the default and expected capabilities of a DER system on the Area EPS system. 
Using the advanced inverter functions as described in the following sections, the DER shall actively 
support the system voltage, but the DER shall not actively regulate the voltage at the PCC while in 
parallel with the Area EPS. 

All DER which are being interconnected as part of an interconnection application received on or 
after January 1, 2024 are required to respond to abnormal conditions as documented in IEEE 1547-
2018 with settings as established in the following sections. Where this document is silent, the DER 
shall use the IEEE 1547 default parameter settings for all capabilities and performance 
requirements of the applicable performance category. Material Modification1 of an existing DER 
installation will require conformance with the current technical standards and inverter settings.   

The settings presented in this TSM are required to be installed on all inverter systems 
interconnecting in parallel with the Area EPS. The settings are presented in the EPRI Common File 
Format for DER Settings Exchange and Storage, also referred to as the Utility Required Profile (URP) 
format. Appendix H has examples of Utility specific settings (URP-SS) and installer Applied Settings 
(URP-AS) URP files. They are intended to conform with IEEE 1547-2018 and its amendment 
standard, IEEE 1547a-2020, and any use of inverter settings other than those listed in this 
document are subject to review and approval by Rochester Public Utilities. Note, the use of UL 
1741 SA certified or older inverter(s) is not allowed by Rochester Public Utilities for DER 
interconnections submitted and filed on or after January 1st, 2024, for the readily available UL 
1741 SB certified advanced inverters. 

Please note that for all inverter replacements, whether due to age, condition, or otherwise, which 
currently are UL 1741 SB certified and configured to the requirements of this TSM, it is required 
that Rochester Public Utilities be notified of the model number and configuration (settings) which 
have been programmed into the replacement inverter to ensure a “like for like” replacement. 
Notification to Rochester Public Utilities is necessary and required so that it Engineers can correctly 
understand and model the response of all of the DER systems during disturbances to ensure safe 
and reliable operation of the Area EPS. If a “like for like” conversion is not possible or if the 
inverter(s) being replaced are legacy systems not certified to UL 1741 SB, then the interconnected 
customer will inform Rochester Public Utilities and request a Material Modification1. 

For all Material Modification requests of DER system inverter(s), the use of advanced inverter(s) 
certified to UL 1741 SB with the settings outlined in this TSM is required, unless mutually agreed 
upon by both parties. 

DER causing fluctuating and elevated voltages on the Area EPS beyond the acceptable ANSI C84.1 
Range A levels must be mitigated. To assist in mitigation, reactive and active power control 
functions will be used. 

40



Technical Specification Manual 
1
0 

10 

Synchronous machine-based DER shall be capable of the following IEEE 1547A-2020 Category A 
voltage and reactive/active power control functions: constant power factor mode, voltage-reactive 
power mode, and constant reactive power mode. 

Inverter-based DER shall be capable of IEEE 1547A-2020 Category B voltage and reactive/active 
power control functions: constant power factor mode, voltage-reactive power mode, active power-
reactive power mode, constant reactive power mode, and voltage-active power mode. 

Only one reactive power control function is enabled at a time, as indicated in Table 1. In general, 
reactive power control functions inject or absorb VARs to control voltage for normal Area EPS 
conditions and active power control functions reduce active power output for abnormal Area EPS 
conditions. If enabled, the voltage-active power control function reduces active power output while 
one of the reactive power control functions injects or absorbs VARs. 

Inverter-based energy storage systems are required to operate in 4-quadrants. Energy storage DER 
shall comply with this section of the TSM, except the “active power output” language in IEEE 
1547A-2020 Section 5 becomes “active power output and input”. 

Under the terms of the Operating and Maintenance Requirements Area EPS Operator may provide 
notice of a change to a voltage and reactive/active power setting, and the DER needs to implement 
this change. The DER must apply the then-current reactive and active power setting. The then-
current setting is the value set in the Operating and Maintenance Requirements (without any 
notice being sent by Area EPS Operator changing that value), or is the value set in the most recent 
notice from Area EPS Operator changing the value. 

5.1. Constant Power Factor Mode 

The use of constant power factor control has been disallowed/disabled and instead active 
support of the system voltage, using the advanced functions outlined in IEEE-1547-2018, are 
being utilized.  These functions are designed to reduce high and low voltage due to energy 
exchange by the DER system.  Systems submitted  prior to January 1, 2024, may continue to use 
the settings in the previous version of the TSM such as constant power factor, which were the 
requirements at the time the application for interconnection of the system was made. 

5.2. Constant Power Factor 

The Area EPS Operator requires the settings for constant power factor to be disabled, unless otherwise 
specified in the Interconnection Agreement. 

5.3. Voltage-Reactive Power Control 

The settings for Voltage-Reactive Control will be enabled unless otherwise specified in the 
Interconnection Agreement. 

The Voltage-Reactive Power mode default settings shall be set to the IEEE 1547A-2020 default 
settings as shown in Table 2 unless the results of a system impact study determine other 
settings are required and specified in the Interconnection Agreement.  

  

41



Technical Specification Manual 
1
1 

11 

 

Table 2: Voltage-Reactive Power Default Setting 
 

Voltage-Reactive Power 
Parameters 

Default Settings 

Synchronous Machine-Based DER Inverter-based DER 

VRef VN
a VN

 a 

V1 0.09 VN .92 VN 

V2 VN .98 VN 

V3 VN 1.02 VN 

V4 1.1 VN 1.08 VN 

 
Q1

b 

25% of nameplate apparent power 
rating, injection 

44% of nameplate apparent 
power rating, injection 

Q2 0 0 

Q3 0 0 

Q4 25% of nameplate apparent power 
rating, injection 

44% of nameplate apparent 
power rating, injection 

Open Loop Response 
Time 

10 s 5 s 

 
a VN is assumed to be set at DER nominal operating voltage (Example 120, 208, 240, 277, 
480 Volts) 
 
bThe DER reactive power capability may be reduced at lower voltage 

All DERs shall autonomously adjust the reference voltage with VRef being equal to the low pass 
filtered measured voltage.  The time constant shall be set to 300s. 

5.4. Voltage – Active Power Control 

The Area EPS Operator requires the settings for Voltage-Active Power control to be enabled for 
IEEE 1547A-2020 Category B systems, unless otherwise specified by the Interconnection 
Agreement. The default in IEEE 1547A-2020 is to disable Voltage-Active Power Controls, 
therefore DER equipment may require a settings change. 

The Voltage-Active Power mode default setting shall be set to the IEEE 1547A-2020 Category B 
default setting as shown in Table 3 unless otherwise specified by the system impact study. 

  

42



Technical Specification Manual 
1
2 

12 

 

Table 3: Voltage – Active Power Control Default Settings 
 

Voltage – Active Power 

Parameters 

Default Settings 

V1 1.06 Vn
a 

P1 Prated 

V2 1.1 Vn 

P2 (applicable to DER that can 

only generate active power) 

The lesser of 0.2 Prated or Pmin
b 

P’2 (applicable to DER that can 

generate and absorb active 

power) 

0c 

Open Loop Response Times 10 s 
 

aVn is assumed to be set at DER nominal operating voltage (Example 120, 208, 240, 277, 480 Volts) 

b Pmin is the minimum active power output in p.u. of the DER rating. 

cPrated is the maximum amount of active power that can be absorbed by the DER. ESS operating in 

the negative real power half plane, through charging, shall follow this curve as long as available 

energy storage capacity permits this operation. 

5.5. Active – Reactive Power Control (Watt – Var) 

The Area EPS Operator requires the settings for Active Power – Reactive Power Control to be 
disabled. 

5.6. Constant Reactive Power Control 

The Area EPS Operator requires the settings for Constant Reactive Power Control to be 
disabled. 

6. Response to Abnormal Condition 
All DER which are being interconnected as part of an interconnection application received on or 
after January 1, 2024 are required to respond to abnormal conditions as documented in IEEE 1547-
2018 with settings as established in the following sections. The following settings are based upon 
the as modified IEEE 1547-2020 requirements. 

Inverter-based DER shall be able to meet the requirements of IEEE 1547A-2020 Abnormal 
Performance Category III for response to abnormal conditions. Tables 13 and 16 and Figures H.7 – 
H.9 of IEEE 1547A-2020 are applicable for abnormal voltages and Tables 18 and 19 and Figure H.10 
of IEEE 1547A-2020 are applicable for abnormal frequencies. 

Synchronous machine-based DER shall be able to meet the requirements of IEEE 1547A- 2020 
Abnormal Performance Category I for response to abnormal conditions. Tables 11 and 14 and 

43



Technical Specification Manual 
1
3 

13 

Figure H.7 – H.9 are applicable for abnormal voltages and Tables 18 and 19 and Figure H.10 of IEEE 
1547A-2020 are applicable for abnormal frequencies. 

If exceptions apply per IEEE 1547A-2020 Section 6.4.2.1 and 6.5.2.1 the voltage and frequency ride-
through requirements specified in this section do not apply and DER may cease to energize the 
Area EPS and trip without limitations. 

6.1. Voltage Ride-Through and Tripping 

The DER shall trip for any abnormal voltages outside of these parameters.  The following table 
lists the clearing time for the DER system for over and undervoltages.  If able, the system shall 
ride through the disturbance until these values are reached. 

Table 4: Synchronous DER Response (shall Trip) to Abnormal Voltages 
 

Shall Trip – Synchronous DER 

Shall Trip 
Function 

Default Setting 

Clearing time (s) 
Voltage (per unit 

ofnominal voltage) 

UV2 0.32 0.45 

UV1 5.0 0.70 

OV1 2.0 1.10 

OV2 0.16 1.20 

 
Table 5: Inverter DER Response (shall trip) to Abnormal Voltages 

 

Shall Trip – Inverter DER 

Shall Trip 
Function 

Default Setting 

Clearing time (s) 
Voltage (per unit of 

nominal voltage) 

UV2 0.32 0.45 

UV1 5.0 0.70 

OV1 2.0 1.10 

OV2 0.16 1.20 

6.2. Frequency Ride-Through and Tripping 

The DER shall conform to the ride-through requirements for the applicable Abnormal Operating 
Performance Category.  The IEEE 1547 default parameters shall be implemented by the DER 
Operator for the applicable performance category.  Table 6 shall be followed unless specified by 
the RTO. 

  

44



Technical Specification Manual 
1
4 

14 

 

Table 6: DER Response (shall trip) to Abnormal Frequencies of DER Abnormal Operating 
Performance Category I, Category II, and Category III 

 

Shall Trip 
Function 

Default Setting 

Clearing time (s) Frequency (Hz) 

UF2 0.16 56.5 

UF1 300.0 58.5 

OF1 300.0 61.2 

OF2 0.16 62.0 

The DER shall conform to the Rate of Change of Frequency (ROCOF) ride- through requirements 
for the applicable Abnormal Operating Performance Categories. The IEEE 1547 values shown in 
the following table shall be implemented by the DER Operator for the applicable performance 
category.  

Table 7: Rate-of-Change-of-Frequency (ROCOF) Ride Through Requirements for DER of 
Abnormal Operating Performance Category I, Category II, and Category  III 

 

Category I Category II Category III 

0.5 Hz/s 2.0 Hz/s 3.0 Hz/s 

The DER shall conform to the frequency-droop requirements for the applicable Abnormal 
Operating Performance Categories. The IEEE 1547 values shown in the following table shall be 
implemented by the DER Operator for the applicable performance category. 

Table 8: Frequency Droop Requirements 
 

Parameter Default Settingsa 

kOF, kUF 0.05 

Tresponse (small 

signal)(s) 
5 

dbOF, dbUF (Hz) 0.036 

 

DER systems designated by authority having jurisdiction as emergency, legally required, or 
critical operations power systems providing backup power to hospitals, fire stations or other 
emergency facilities defined by applicable industry code, shall be exempt from the ride-through 
requirements of this section. 

6.3. Dynamic Voltage Support 

The Area EPS operator requires that Dynamic Voltage support is disabled at this time. 

  

45



Technical Specification Manual 
1
5 

15 

 

7. Protection Requirements 
Protective devices are required to permit safe and proper operation of the Area EPS while 
interconnected with DER systems. Examples of the protection requirements for different types of 
DER interconnections are shown in Appendix A. The figures in Appendix A are for typical 
installations and may not fit all possible configurations. The specific protection requirements for 
interconnection will depend upon the DER’s size and type; the number of units; Area EPS 
configuration and characteristics; the operating modes of the DER; and the location of the 
proposed DER interconnection on the Area EPS. 

An increased degree of protection is required for increased DER size. As DER capacity size increases 
the greater magnitude of short circuit currents and the potential impact to system stability can 
occur from the DER installations. Medium and large DER systems will require more sensitive and 
faster protection to minimize damage and ensure safety. 

The interconnection of a new DER facility to the Area EPS shall not degrade any of the existing Area 
EPS protection and control schemes nor lower the existing levels of safety and reliability to other 
entities interconnected as loads to the Area EPS. 

The Interconnection Customer shall provide protective devices and systems to detect the voltage, 
frequency and harmonic levels as defined in the IEEE 1547 during periods when the DER is 
operated in parallel with the Area EPS. The Interconnection Customer shall be responsible for the 
purchase, installation, and maintenance of these devices.  

RPU primarily uses SEL protective relays and communication devices.  In installations where the 
DER protection devices shall be able to interface with RPU’s SEL protective relays, SEL’s Mirrored 
Bits communications should used. (example: Direct Transfer Trip of DER protection devices). 

7.1. Requirement of Utility AC Disconnect 

A Utility AC Disconnect for use by the Area EPS and furnished by the DER Operator is required 
on all DER systems to safely isolate the DER from the Area EPS. The disconnect shall: 

 Provide a visible air-gap. The visible open needs to be viewable without unbolting covers 
or removing other hardware. 

 Be an AC rated device, UL or National Electrical Manufacture’s Association approved. 

 Be manually operable by one person. 

 Be lockable in the open position. 

 Be sized for adequate ampere capacity. 

 Be located outside where it is continuously readily accessible, with unescorted access to 
the Area EPS. 

 Access shall be free of obstructions from other equipment, devices, vegetation, etc. 

 Does not require fasteners to be removed to access the disconnect handle. 

46



Technical Specification Manual 
1
6 

16 

 Be gang operated so that operation of one switch handle opens and closes all energized 
conductors simultaneously. 

 Not interrupt neutral conductors. 

The Utility AC Disconnect may be the same disconnecting means required by the NEC if the 
disconnect meets all the other Area EPS Operator requirements listed in this section. 

7.1.1. Location of Utility AC Disconnection 

The Utility AC disconnect used by the Area EPS Operator to safely isolate the DER from 
the Area EPS shall be located within 10 feet of the revenue meter. If the Utility AC 
Disconnect is proposed to not to be located within 10 feet of the revenue meter, the 
proposed location will be identified on the site drawing submitted to the Area EPS 
Operator with the Interconnection Application. The Area EPS Operator reserves the 
right to withhold approval for the placement of the Utility AC Disconnect in a location 
which is not within 10 feet of the revenue meter. If approved location is not located 
within 10 feet of the revenue meter, a permanently affixed placard meeting NEC 
requirements, as discussed in Section 12, shall be located at the revenue meter 
indicating the Utility AC Disconnect location. The placard shall achieve this with a 
mapped representation of the property, with the location of the AC disconnect denoted.  

The Utility AC Disconnect shall be located between the Area EPS Operator owned 
equipment and the DER.  For example, if a production meter is present, the disconnect 
shall be between the production meter and the DER.  If the system voltage is greater 
than 240 VAC then the disconnect shall be located on the Area EPS Operator side of the 
production meter. 

The location of the Utility AC Disconnect shall be subject to all of the height, clearance 
requirements, and restrictions placed on meter locations in the Area EPS most recent 
Electric Service Rules and Regulations.  

7.2. Protection Coordination 

7.2.1. Secondary Services 

In general, overcurrent protection requirements shall meet the requirements of the NEC 
for DER interconnection that occur behind the Area EPS Operator’s revenue meter. All 
electric services are required to have main service protection furnished by the customer 
immediately after the main service meter. Double-lugging meters is allowed with 
approved kits as long as all NEC conductor protection requirements are met. 

7.2.2.  Primary Services 

The first protective device on the DER customer’s side of the revenue meter shall 
coordinate with the Area EPS Operator’s protective device. Protection coordination 
studies are required for interconnections to the primary system. The protection study 
shall be completed by the Interconnection Customer and reviewed and approved by the 
Area EPS Operator prior to interconnection and energization. 

  

47



Technical Specification Manual 
1
7 

17 

7.2.3.  Coordination with Area EPS Automatic Reclosing Schemes 

The Area EPS Operator may have automatic reclosing schemes designed into the Area 
EPS to attempt to prevent transient faults from becoming a long-term outage. The 
automatic reclosing scheme will de-energize a portion of the Area EPS and re-energize 
the same section of Area EPS in a short period of time, less than one second, often 
clearing the fault on the Area EPS. 

Automatic reclosing on the Area EPS can potentially damage rotating DER generation, 
both synchronous and induction DER generators, operating in parallel with the Area EPS. 
The addition of DER shall not alter the standard auto restoration schemes designed in 
the Area EPS. The Interconnection Customer is responsible for protecting the DER 
facility’s equipment from damage due to the automatic or manual reclosing, faults or 
other disturbances on the Area EPS. Contact the local EPS to identify reclosers and 
associated settings that may require affect operation of the DER. 

7.3. Grounded Wye-Wye Protection Requirements  

The following protection requirements are for grounded wye-wye DER system 
interconnections. Additional protection requirements may apply for DER systems which are not 
grounded wye-wye or do not utilize a grounded wye-wye transformer as part of the DER 
interconnection system design. Non-exporting DER systems that operate in parallel with the 
Area EPS have the same requirements as that of any other DER interconnection. 

7.3.1.  General Relay Information 

For DER systems which are smaller than 250 kW and utilize a certified inverter(s) for 
interconnection, a Professional Electrical Engineer is not required to review, test and 
approve the protective functions or settings of the inverter. For all other DER systems to 
be interconnected with Area EPS, the protective functions and relay setting shall be 
reviewed and approved by a Professional Electrical Engineer registered in the State of 
Minnesota. 

Prior to energization or interconnection of the DER with the Area EPS, a copy of the 
proposed protective relay settings shall be supplied to the Area EPS Operator for review 
and approval. The Area EPS Operator shall review the protective relay settings to ensure 
proper coordination between the DER and the Area EPS. The proposed protective relay 
settings shall be provided to the Area EPS Operator with time allotted to allow for 
review, coordination, implementation and functional testing of the protective system 
including any requested modifications. 

7.3.2.  Non-Certified Inverters 

The use of inverters that have not been tested by a Nationally Recognized Testing 
Laboratory (NRTL) and certified to meet the UL 1741 performance requirements are not 
allowed by the Area EPS Operator as an acceptable design of the DER system. 

7.3.3.  Relaying 

All equipment providing relaying functions shall meet or exceed ANSI/IEEE Standards for 
protective relays, i.e., C37.90, C37.90.1 and C37.90.2. 

48



Technical Specification Manual 
1
8 

18 

Required relays that are not “draw-out” cased relays shall have test plugs or test 
switches installed to permit field testing and maintenance of the relay without unwiring 
or disassembling the equipment. 

Three-phase interconnections shall utilize three-phase power relays, which monitor all 
three phases of voltage and current, unless so noted in the Appendix A diagrams. 

All protective relays must have DC power supplies powered by station class batteries 
and charging system. The battery system shall be equipped with a DC-undervoltage 
detection alarm or be monitored by a continuous monitoring facility. For DER larger 
than 250 kW, the DC voltage level must be provided to the Area EPS Operator’s SCADA 
system. 

All relays shall be equipped with setting limit ranges at least as wide as specified in IEEE 
1547, and meet other requirements as specified in the Area EPS interconnect study. 
Setting limit ranges are not to be confused with the actual relay settings required for the 
proper operation of the installation. At a minimum, all protective systems shall meet the 
requirements established in IEEE 1547. 

See Appendix B for specific information regarding the types of relaying. 

7.3.4.  DC Power for Protection Devices 

All relays and other devices which require external power to operate must be supplied 
by a DC battery system that can maintain power to the protective device for a minimum 
of 8 hours during a complete power outage. The DC battery charger shall be able to be 
powered by the DER if power from the Area EPS is lost. The DER shall be blocked from 
reconnecting to the Area EPS if the adequate DC power is not available to the protective 
devices. 

The DC battery system shall be capable of monitoring and alarming for certain 
conditions related to voltage levels and charging ability. The DC battery system shall be 
monitored for DC voltage levels and have the capability of alarming if DC voltage 
reaches levels that cannot allow operation. The DC battery system shall also alarm if the 
battery charging system fails. 

The alarms from the DC battery system shall be monitored by the Interconnection 
Customer. If the alarms are not monitored continuously, the alarm shall be audible or 
include a flashing light before complete loss of DC battery voltage. 

7.3.5.  Open Phase Detection 

For non-inverter based DER, or inverter-based DER that opt not to use the onboard 
protective functions of the inverter for open-phase detection, either due to DER design 
configurations that render the detection method invalid or other reason, special 
consideration will need to be given to the methodology used to detect and trip for an 
open phase event. 

Typical inverter-based configurations that require additional relaying include: 

 Configurations with zig-zag or grounded wye-delta grounding banks. 

49



Technical Specification Manual 
1
9 

19 

 Configurations with delta windings on onsite transformers. 

As required by IEEE 1547, all DER must detect open phase conditions at their RPA when 
their output is as low as 5% of their rated output, or, if not capable of producing 
apparent power at 5% of its rated output, at the lowest output the DER can continue 
producing apparent power. 

The Area EPS Operator does not recommend a specific method for detecting an open 
phase condition, as there are many acceptable methods. Positive-sequence phase 
balance, zero-sequence detection and undervoltage relaying are known to be deficient 
protective schemes and will not be accepted for the purpose of detecting and tripping 
of an open phase. 

 Positive-sequence phase balance and zero-sequence detection must set their 
pickup levels above the inherit imbalance on the Area EPS to avoid nuisance 
tripping. This pickup level will often be too high to allow the protective system to 
identify an open phase condition when the DER is at 5% output. 

 Loss of phase via undervoltage relaying detection is inadequate for identifying an 
open phase condition. Ground banks and delta winding, present on both the DER 
site and on the larger Area EPS, may reconstruct voltage at the open point of the 
RPA. 

7.3.6.  Single-phase on Multiphase Services 

The total nameplate rating for an individual single-phase inverter on a multi- phase 
system cannot exceed 10% of the distribution transformer rating that is supplying the 
service. 

Multiple single-phase DER systems which are connecting to a multi-phase service to 
form a three-phase generation source, must provide protection to allow sensing and 
tripping of the entire DER system upon loss of a single individual phase. 

DER systems which are connecting to an existing two-phase Open Delta-Wye or Open 
Wye-Delta secondary must be single-phase or the voltage of the service shall be 
converted to 120/208 or 277/480 volts. 

7.4. Interconnection Transformers Connections 

Interconnection Customer-owned transformers that are part of the DER system shall fall under 
one of the following connections. 

7.4.1.  Wye-Wye Transformer Connections 

A Wye-Wye transformer is the preferred transformer connection. Both the primary and 
secondary of the transformer must be grounded. Do note, this transformer connection 
is subjected to harmonics from the Area EPS and the DER must be designed to limit the 
harmonic output from the DER system to below IEEE standard levels. 

7.4.2.  Wye-Delta Transformer Connections 

The wye side of the transformation is required to be grounded. 

50



Technical Specification Manual 
2
0 

20 

High side voltage monitoring to sense single-phase faults on the primary side of the 
transformer is required. 

All issues with zero sequence injections into the Area EPS from the Grounded Wye 
winding shall be addressed. Documentation is required to be provided to the Area EPS 
Operator for review. 

7.4.3.  Delta-Wye Transformer Connections 

This transformer configuration is not allowed for interconnection of a DER system. 

7.5. Grounding 

For Interconnection Customer provide transformers that are part of the DER system, the 
transformer grounding shall properly interconnect with the grounding of the Area EPS. 

7.5.1.  Requirement of Grounding Transformer 

Grounding transformers are not required by the Area EPS Operator. 

7.5.2.  Wye-Wye Interconnection 

For Wye-Wye transformer configurations both the primary and secondary side of the 
transformer shall be grounded. The DER must also include an appropriately sized ground 
bank or the generator’s neutral must be adequately grounded. 

7.5.3.  Wye-Delta Interconnection 

For Wye-Delta transformer configurations the wye side is required to be grounded. 

7.5.4.  Delta-Wye Interconnection 

Delta-Wye transformer configurations are not allowed by the Area EPS Operator for DER 
system interconnected to the Area EPS. 

8. Operations 
8.1. Periodical Testing & Record Keeping 

The Interconnection Customer shall notify the Area EPS Operator prior to any of the following 
events occurring: 

i. Protection functions are being adjusted after the initial commissioning process. 

ii. Functional software or firmware changes are being made on the DER. 

iii. Any hardware component of the DER is being modified in the field or is being replaced 
or repaired with parts that are not substitutive components compliant with this 
standard. 

iv. Protection settings are being changed after factory testing. 

Prior to modifications to the DER triggering reverification, the Interconnection Customer shall 
notify the Area EPS Operator’s interconnection coordinator, by emailing DER@rpu.org. The 
email should include details about the proposed modification and the DER contact to 

51



Technical Specification Manual 
2
1 

21 

communicate with for additional information, if needed. The Area EPS Operator strongly 
encourages using the DER Alteration Notification form shown in Appendix F to provide the 
necessary information. Any of the above events may be cause for requiring reverification of the 
interconnection and interoperability requirements as stated in the MN DER TIIR Section 14.5. 

All interconnection-related protection and control systems shall be periodically tested and 
maintained, by the Interconnection Customer, at intervals specified by the manufacturer or 
system integrator and shall not exceed five years. Periodic test reports and a log of inspections 
shall be maintained by the Interconnection Customer and made available to the Area EPS 
Operator upon request. The Area EPS Operator shall be notified prior to the testing of the 
protective and control systems to witness the testing if so desired. The testing procedure for re-
test should be a functional test of the protection and control systems. 

The Area EPS Operator requires any system that depends upon a battery for trip/protection 
power shall be checked and logged once per month for proper voltage. For DER systems with 
nameplate rating of 1,000 kW or more, continuous monitoring of the DC battery voltage is 
required. Logging of all periodic inspection is recommended. 

8.2. O&M Agreements 

For DER systems that operate in parallel with a capacity of 40 kW or greater, the Operating and 
Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement is established. The 
Operating and Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement covers 
items that are necessary for the reliable operation of the Local and Area EPS and are unique to 
each DER. The items included as Operating Requirements shall not be limited to the items 
shown on this list: 

i. Operational requirements, settings, and limits for DER when the Area EPS is in a normal 
condition 

ii. Operational requirements, settings, and limits when the Area EPS is in an abnormal 
condition due to maintenance, contingencies, or other system issues 

iii. Permitted and disallowed ESS Control Modes 

iv. BPS or TPS limitations and arrangements that could impact DER operation 

v. DER restoration of output or return to service settings and limitations 

vi. Response to control or communication failures 

vii. Performance category assignments (normal and abnormal) 

viii. Dispatch characteristics of DER 

ix. Notification process between Interconnection Customer and Area EPS Operator 

x. Right of Access 

The following is a list of typical items that may be included as Maintenance Requirements. The 
items are not to be limited to the items included in this list: 

i. Routine maintenance requirements and definition of responsibilities 

52



Technical Specification Manual 
2
2 

22 

ii. Material modification of the DER that may impact the Area EPS 

8.3. System Voltage 

Operation of the DER shall not cause the voltage at the PCC to go outside of ANSI Range A 
under normal operations. Operation of the DER that causes voltages to go outside the ANSI 
Range A voltage values may be cause for disconnection until the reason can be identified and 
corrected. 

For reference, ANSI C84.1-2020 defines Service Voltage as Range A.  Table 9 contains Range A 
values for common RPU voltages: 

Table 9: Service Voltage Limits 
 

Nominal System Voltage Maximum Service Voltage Minimum Service Voltage 

120 (2-wire) 126 114 

120/240 (3-wire) 126/252 114/228 

208Y/120 (4-wire) 218Y/126 197Y/114 

480Y/277 504Y/291 456Y/263 

13,800Y/7,970 14,490Y/8,370 13,460Y/7,770 

Any sudden voltage changes caused by the DER which adversely affect other interconnected 
entities to the Area EPS shall not be allowed. It is the DERs responsibility to resolve adverse 
voltage changes caused by the operation of their DER. The Area EPS Operator will work 
cooperatively with the DER to identify possible solutions. 

8.4. Power Ramp Rates 

8.4.1.  Overview 

The ability for the Area EPS to respond to large changes in increasing or decreasing 
demand for energy depend upon the PCC with the Area EPS. The ratio of generation to 
load on the Area EPS correlates with the potential of voltage disturbances on the Area 
EPS as generation is abruptly added or removed from extended parallel operation with 
the Area EPS. In some cases, if the step change is large enough, Area EPS protection 
devices may operate under the assumption a fault has occurred with the abrupt change 
in voltage. The larger the amount of load or generation added or removed from the 
Area EPS, the greater the chance of creating operational problems for other entities 
interconnected on the Area EPS. 

As part of the interconnection study, the Area EPS Operator will review the potential for 
step changes of 3% or greater in load or energy production that can create operational 
problems on the Area EPS. It is the Interconnection Customer’s responsibility to review 
for potential Local EPS issue which may result from block changes in load or generation 
from the DER. 

8.4.2.  Power Ramp Rates Requirements 

DER systems shall not cause the Area EPS voltage to be outside of ANSI Range A voltage 
levels. Block loading or off-loading of the DER generation that causes voltage step 
changes of 3% or greater on the Area EPS is not allowed. 

53



Technical Specification Manual 
2
3 

23 

8.5. Enter Service 

Enter Service is the period where the DER begins operation with an energized Area EPS. Enter 
Service may be part of daily operation of the DER or occur after a power outage on the Area 
EPS. The method the DER uses to Enter Service is important to the reliability and performance 
of the Local EPS and the Area EPS. All DER systems shall not energize and parallel with the Area 
EPS unless applicable voltage and system frequency are within the ranges specified in Table 10. 

Table 10: DER Enter Service Criteria Ranges 
 

Enter Service Criteria Default settings 

Applicable voltage within range Minimum Value ≥ 0.917 p.u. 

Maximum Value ≤ 1.05 p.u. 

Frequency within range Minimum Value ≥ 59.3 Hz 

Maximum value ≤ 60.5 Hz 

A minimum delay of 300 seconds from when the DER ceases operations is required before 
resychronization. The DER shall parallel and synchronize with the Area EPS is accordance with 
IEEE 1547.  Upon synchronization, the duration of enter service period shall use a linear ramp 
rate of 300 seconds to full operations.  Randomization of enter service may be used instead of 
linear ramping of the DER system upon mutual agreement between the DER Operator and the 
Area EPS Operator. 

8.5.1.  DER without ESS 

For DER that does not include ESS, possible methods which may be required include: 

 The delay time for re-energization of the DER after an outage may be increased. 

 The DER may be required to stagger the re-energization of inverters. 

 Multiple transfer switches may be required to divide up the blocks of load 
transferred to the DER. 

8.5.2.  Energy Storage Systems 

ESS shall be set to an intentional delay of a minimum of 300 s, (5 minutes), before 
initiating recharging of the ESS. If possible, the Area EPS Operator would prefer the ESS 
ramp up the recharging level from 0 – 100% over the first ten-minute time period of 
initial recharging. ESS larger than 250 kW may be required to have a specific intentional 
delay prior to enter service. The specific delay will be documented in the Operating and 
Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

9. Power Control Systems 
9.1. General 

Power Control: System that controls the output (production or discharging) and input 
(charging) of one or more DER in order to limit output, input, export and/or import. 

54



Technical Specification Manual 
2
4 

24 

Power control systems are used to control the output from a DER system due to an external 
condition. For example, the output from a DER unit may be limited so that it does not export 
energy back into the Area EPS system at the PCC. To accomplish this the power control system 
would sense the flow of energy at the PCC and relay that information back to the DER to limit 
DER output if there was any reverse energy flow at the PCC. 

9.2. Power Control System Requirements 

The power control system must be NRTL certified control system that meets the following 
requirements. 

 Able to halt or reduce energy production within two seconds after either the period of 
continuous export to the Area EPS exceeds 30 seconds or the level of export exceeds 
the lessor of 100 kW or 10% of the DER nameplate rating. 

 Able to monitor the total energy exported. 

 Able to self-monitor the Power Control System, such that failure of the ability to 
monitor the energy flow or failure of the ability to control the output of the DER, results 
in halting the production of energy by the DER or the separation of the DER system from 
parallel operation with the Area EPS. 

 The configuration and settings governing the power control limiting functions shall be 
password protected, accessible only by qualified personnel. 

 The power to the control system must be battery backed up and if the power to the 
control is not available the DER system must be blocked from operation. 

9.3. Documentation 

DER applications that include a power control system must also include additional information 
specific to the power control system. At minimum, the following information should be 
supplied to the Area EPS Operator regarding the power control system. 

 Make and model of the power control system. 

 Electrical schematic of the monitoring for the power control system. 

 User manual for the control of the power control system. 

 Response time to modifying the output of the DER, in response to a large step change in 
the local electrical loads. 

 Description of the operating reason and modes (shown in the user manual) which will 
be utilized. 

 Description of how other operating modes (shown in the user manual) are being 
restricted so they are not able to be enabled. 

 Other information which is useful to help the Area EPS Operator understand the power 
control system. 

55



Technical Specification Manual 
2
5 

25 

Prior to final interconnection, the Interconnection Customer shall supply updated power 
control system documentation to the Area EPS Operator. 

9.4. Inadvertent Export 

For installations with Power Control Systems inadvertent export is the flow of energy, in excess 
of a defined amount, through the PCC and back onto the Area EPS. Inadvertent export can have 
a detrimental effect on the Area EPS, damaging equipment or causing a power outage. 

Inadvertent export shall be limited to 10% of the nameplate DER rating or 100 kW, whichever is 
less, for a maximum of 30 seconds. The cumulative amount of inadvertent exported energy 
from the Local EPS to the Area EPS, across the PCC, in any billing month shall be less than the 
on-site aggregated DER Nameplate Rating(s) multiplied by one hour. The power control system 
shall be designed to limit inadvertent export to these levels, unless mutually agreed to between 
the Interconnection Customer and Area EPS Operator and documented in the Operating and 
Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

Any amount of inadvertent export of real power across the PCC lasting longer than 30 seconds 
for any single event shall result in the disconnection of the DER system from the Area EPS 
within two seconds of exceeding the 30 second duration limit. 

10. Interoperability 
10.1. Overview 

Depending on the method of interconnection and the size of the DER system, there are 
different interoperability requirements. Information from the DER is needed for the Area EPS 
Operator to perform fault analysis, load flow and system reliability analysis. Remote monitoring 
and remote control may be required depending on the size of the DER, type of interconnection 
and the mode of operation. In general, Table 7 displays the need for remote monitoring and 
remote control of the DER by size. DER with ESS that do not export may have different 
monitoring and control requirements. Specific remote monitoring and control requirements will 
be identified in the Operating and Maintenance Requirements of the Interconnection 
Agreement.  

56



Technical Specification Manual 
2
6 

26 

Table 11: Monitoring and Control Requirements for DER Systems 
 

Monitoring and Control Requirements for DER Systems 

DER System 
Nameplate Capacity 

DER Remote Monitoring DER Remote Control 

0 – 250 kW None Required None Required 

250 kW – 1,000 kW 
SCADA Monitoring possible, 
pending review by EPS 

Remote control via Area EPS 
Operator’s SCADA Possible, 
pending review by EPS 

> 1,000 kW SCADA Monitoring Required 
Remote control via Area EPS 
Operator’s SCADA Likely, 
pending review by EPS 

10.2. Sales to Parties Other Than the Area EPS Operator 

The TSM does not address the metering, monitoring and control requirements for DER system 
whose energy sales are to a party other than the Area EPS Operator. For energy sales to a party 
other than the Area EPS Operator, the monitoring and control requirement will be identified in 
the Operating and Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

10.3. Level of Communication Required 

When SCADA monitoring or SCADA monitoring and control is required, the DER Owner is 
responsible for the cost to provide the communications to the Area EPS Operator’s control 
center. For DER system larger than 1,000 kW requiring monitoring and control, the Area EPS 
Operator will install the communication channel. The Interconnection Customer is responsible 
for the Area EPS Operator’s cost of the communication channel and associated hardware. 

The communication channel shall meet the following requirements: 

 Available via a VPN tunnel, 

 Able to support a polling rate of once every 2 seconds. 

 Encrypted, 

 Utilize DNP3.0 protocol, and 

 Include a battery backup system that can last for a minimum of 8 hours during an Area 
EPS outage. 

10.4. Level of Monitoring and Control Required 

The actual list of status, control and analog points required to be monitored and controlled by 
the Area EPS Operator are to be defined in the Operating and Maintenance Requirements 
section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

In general, the minimum points that will be required for DER systems 1,000 kW and greater are: 

 Status Points 

o Lockout relay status 

57



Technical Specification Manual 
2
7 

27 

o High voltage alarm 

o Low voltage alarm 

o Relay failure alarm (for each protective relay) 

o Interconnection breaker(s) status (open/close) 

o DC battery charger alarm (if applicable) 

o General trouble alarms (temperature, access, etc.) 

o Control Points 

o Remote control of interconnection breaker(s) (if applicable)  

o Ability to curtail the output of the DER to a specific level (may be required in the 
future) 

o Ability to remotely change and/or monitor modes of operations that are active 
(may be required in the future) 

 Analog Values 

o Phase voltage (phase to ground) 

o DER phase current (amp) output 

o Power Factor (including leading/lagging) 

o DC voltage of backup battery system 

o Three-phase real (kW) and reactive (kVA) power flow of each DER unit 

Contact Area EPS Engineering Department to discuss wiring for minimum SCADA points. Other 
specific requirements will be included in the Interconnection Agreement. 

10.5. Security 

In general, all physical, network and local DER communication interface security protections 
should be identified by the Interconnection Customer and approved by the Area EPS Operator. 
Specific security requirements are listed in Sections 10.5.1, 10.5.2 and 10.5.3. 

10.5.1. Physical and Front Panel 

The Interconnection Customer shall maintain physical security for the DER equipment 
and all communication interfaces at the DER site. All configuration settings for the DER 
system shall be password protected to allow access only to qualified personnel. Other 
physical security protections shall be identified by the Interconnection Customer and 
approved by the Area EPS Operator. 

10.5.2. Network Security 

Dependent on the DER interconnection, additional network security may apply. If 
needed, the additional requirements will be identified in the Operating and 
Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

58



Technical Specification Manual 
2
8 

28 

10.5.3. Local DER Communication Interface Security 

Dependent on the DER interconnection, additional local DER communication interface 
security may apply. If needed, the additional requirements will be identified in the 
Operating and Maintenance Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

11. Energy Storage Systems 
11.1. Grid Support Functions 

The TSM will not address technical issues that may arise with grid support functions. Grid 
support functions, such as frequency and voltage support, are currently not address by the Area 
EPS Operator’s rate tariff. Until MISO rules and required associated Minnesota PUC dockets 
have been determined, the use of an ESS to provide grid support functions is not allowed. 

11.2. Common Modes of Operation 

Energy storage systems are still an evolving technology with different use cases and modes of 
operation. Multiple control modes may be utilized by the Interconnection Customer. When 
applying for interconnection with the Area EPS, the DER Applicant should indicate what control 
modes of operation are being utilized. The Interconnection Customer must not change the 
control mode of the ESS without notification to the Area EPS Operator. The Area EPS Operator 
only studies the ESS under the indicated operation mode(s) listed on the original 
interconnection application. Common modes of operations used in ESS are explained in 
Appendix C. 

11.3. Enter Service 

After any sustained electrical outage, the ESS shall be configured to not immediately initiate 
recharging of the ESS. Per the IEEE 1547 standards the ESS shall wait a minimum of 5 minutes 
after the Area EPS is reenergized and provides a stable voltage, before initiating recharging of 
the ESS. 

It is preferable to delay any recharging of the ESS for a minimum of 10 minutes after 
reenergization of the Area EPS, to allow the distribution system to fully stabilize and reduce the 
possibility of additional electrical demand caused by the recharging of the ESS to overload the 
distribution system. 

To help reduce the possibility of step voltage issues and other distribution system issues, it is 
preferable to have the ESS control system ramp up the recharging level from 0-100% over a 5-
minute time period upon entering service. 

11.4. Modification of Control Modes 

ESS Control Modes may not necessarily be considered a Material Modification, however the 
Interconnection Customer shall notify the Area EPS Operator of an unapproved ESS Control 
Mode prior to the change being implemented. The Area EPS Operator shall discuss with the 
Interconnection Customer the need, or lack thereof, to review the proposed ESS Control Mode 
for safety, power quality or reliability reasons. 

59



Technical Specification Manual 
2
9 

29 

The Interconnection Customer can inform the Area EPS Operator of a change in ESS control 
mode by emailing the Area EPS Operator’s DER Coordinator a DER Alteration 

Notification indicating the change in control mode. The DER Alteration Notification is shown in 
Appendix F. The DER Coordinator can be reached at DER@rpu.org. The ESS should not be 
operated in the new control mode without approval from the Area EPS Operator. 

 

12. Metering Requirements 
The metering requirement for each DER system will depend on the DER size, voltage, location, 
interconnection type and application rate schedules. It is the Interconnection Customer’s 
responsibility to provide metering sockets and cabinets for instrument transformers as applicable. 
All existing and new meter sockets shall meet the current requirements of the Area EPS Operators 
current Electric Service Rules (www.RPU.org). The Area EPS Operator will provide the meter(s), CTs 
and VTs, unless the DER sales are to a third party. For DER with sales to a third party, the 
Interconnection Customer shall be responsible for all metering costs incurred by the Area EPS 
Operator. 

12.1. DER Interconnection on Services with Subtractive Metering 

Subtractive Metering is NOT ALLOWED by RPU. 

12.2. Metering Required for DER Installation 

The metering required for DER system depends on the size and type of DER, the method of 
interconnection and applicable rate programs the DER may take part in. There may be unique 
installations which may require deviations from requirements listed in this document. 
Deviations from this specification will be documented in the Operating and Maintenance 
Requirements section of the Interconnection Agreement. 

The location and of all metering shall be subject to the requirements of applicable section of 
the Area EPS current Electric Service Rules and Regulations. 

12.3. Main Service Meter 

The main service meter, is located at the PCC, unless mutually agreed upon between the Area 
EPS Operator and Interconnection Customer, and is the meter the Area EPS Operator shall use 
for billings purposes. This is commonly called a bidirectional meter.  

12.4. Production Meter 

A production meter shall be required by the Area EPS Operator and is located electrically at the 
PoC. This meter will monitor the power flow to and from the DER. The production meter may 
be used for incentive programs or standby calculations and provides the Area EPS Operator 
with necessary information to properly engineer a safe and reliable grid. The Area EPS Operator 
does require a production meter.  

12.5. Production Meter Requirement 

12.5.1. DER Systems with ESS 

60



Technical Specification Manual 
3
0 

30 

There are multiple variations of DER systems that include ESS. Depending on the 
configuration, non-exporting DER systems that incorporate ESS may not need a 
production meter. Consult with the Area EPS Operator to determine the proper 
metering needs. 

12.5.2. Extended Parallel DER Interconnections < 40 kW 

For extended parallel DER interconnection that are sized less than 40 kW, the Area EPS 
Operator requires the main meter at the PCC, and a separate production meter at the 
PoC. The Area EPS Operator will reprogram or replace the main service meter to be able 
to measure and record power flow in both directions. It is the responsibility of the 
Interconnection Customer to install and provide the appropriate meter sockets and 
cabinets for instrument transformers.  

12.5.3. Extended Parallel DER Interconnections 40 kW and Larger 

The Area EPS Operator requires the main meter at the PCC and a production meter at 
the PoC. The Area EPS Operator will reprogram or replace the main service meter to be 
able to measure and record power flow in both directions. It is the responsibility of the 
Interconnection Customer to install and provide the appropriate meter sockets and 
cabinets for instrument transformers. The Area EPS Operator will provide the meter to 
record production. For DER systems where the PCC and PoC are the same location a 
single meter can perform both types of metering. 

12.5.4. All Other DER Interconnections 

1) Contact the Area EPS for other DER interconnections that are not extended 
parallel.  

2) See Appendix D for expected metering configurations 

12.6. Acceptable Metering 

A brief list of metering specifications is listed in the following subsections. A complete list of 
details and applicable references to acceptable metering voltages, metering sockets and 
configurations are outlined in EPS Electric Rules and Regulations (available online). Deviations 
from the Area EPS requirements will need to be mutually agreed to in writing by the Area EPS 
Operator and documented in the Operating and Maintenance Requirements section of the 
Interconnection Agreement. The specifications for meter socket location and accessibility shall 
be maintained for the life of the meter use. If changes cause the meter to no longer meet the 
stated specifications, the meter shall be moved to a new mutually agreed accessible location at 
the expense of the Interconnection Customer. 

12.6.1. Meter Sockets 

The interconnection owner is responsible for purchasing and installing a meter socket 
that meets the following requirements and is appropriate for the service connect. 

1) Meter sockets must be UL (Underwriters Laboratories) of ARL (Applied Research 
Laboratories) approved. 

2) All metering for a single service must be grouped in a 10-foot area. 

61



Technical Specification Manual 
3
1 

31 

3) All self-contained meter sockets must be a ringless lever bypass type socket with 
a manually operated lever bypass. 

4) Must meet the requirements of the Area EPS Electric Service Rules 
(www.RPU.org). 

12.6.2. Location and Accessibility 

The meter socket shall be installed in a location that meets the requirements outlined in 
the current version of the Area EPS published Electric Service Rules (www.rpu.org) 

Meter Requirements Three Phase: 

See Area EPS published Electric Service Rules (www.RPU.org) and seek direction from 
RPUs Engineering Department by sending a request for assistance to DER@rpu.org 

If at the production meter location the voltage is over 240 volts or the generators 
output is over 320 amps then potential and current transformers shall be required for 
metering.  Contact the Area EPS for assistance at DER@rpu.org. 

 

13. Signage and Labeling 
13.1. General Requirements 

All signage and labeling shall meet applicable NEC requirements including NEC 110.21 (B) and 
690.13. 

13.2. Utility AC Disconnect 

The Utility AC disconnect shall be labeled as “UTILITY AC DISCONNECT”. The Utility AC 
Disconnect shall be located within 10 feet of the main service meter in a locating meeting the 
requirements specified in the Area EPS Electric Service Rules (www.RPU.org). The Area EPS 
Operator and the Interconnection Customer may mutually agree to install the Utility AC 
Disconnect at a location greater than 10 feet from the main service meter. 

13.2.1. Remotely Located Utility AC Disconnect 

If the Utility AC Disconnect is not located within 10 feet of the main service meter, a 
permanently affixed waterproof and UV stabilized placard shall be located within 10 feet 
of the main service meter. The placard shall include a mapped representation of the 
property with the location of the Utility AC Disconnect clearly denoted. A copy of the 
proposed placard shall be submitted to the Area EPS Operator with the interconnection 
application. 

13.2.2. Multiple AC Disconnects 

If a single Utility AC Disconnect cannot be used to disconnect all DERs, all Utility AC 
disconnects should include numerical identification such as “UTILITY DER AC 
DISCONNECT 1 OF 2” or similar. The number of disconnects required to be operated to 
isolate the DER from the utility should be clear. A permanently affixed waterproof and 
UV stabilized placard shall be located within 10 feet of the main service meter clearly 

62

mailto:DER@rpu.org


Technical Specification Manual 
3
2 

32 

indicating the number and locations of the multiple Utility AC Disconnects. A copy of the 
proposed placard shall be submitted to the Area EPS Operator with the interconnection 
application. 

13.3. Production Meter 

The production meter shall be labeled as “DER PRODUCTION METER” or similar. If there are 
multiple DER types present at a location the production meter shall indicate the type of DER 
behind the meter. 

14. Test and Verification Requirement 
14.1. Applicability 

Testing and verifications of the Interconnection Customer’s DER system to validate compliance 
with the interconnection agreement, TIIR and Area EPS Operator’s TSM is critical to maintaining 
the safe and reliable system. The testing and verifications requirements that follow will apply to 
the RPA and PCC unless mutually agreed upon between the Area EPS Operator and the 
Interconnection Customer. 

14.2. Certified DER Systems 

It is understood that DER systems that are certified by UL 1741 / IEEE 1547 have already 
undergone scrutiny and testing. As such the testing required to commissioning these systems is 
designed to recognize the previous testing and focus on integration with the Area EPS and the 
final installed DER. The following testing requirements shall be met prior to parallel operation 
with the Area EPS: 

1) Verifications of certified equipment make and model. 

2) Verification of system wiring. 

3) For new installations, verification of meter with Area EPS Operators metering system. 

4) Verification of anti-islanding. 

5) Verification of grounding. 

14.3. Non-Certified DER Systems 

For non-certified systems it is the Interconnection Customer’s responsibility to provide a final 
design for approval and to install the protective measures required by the Area EPS Operator. 
Mutually agreed upon exception may at times be necessary and desirable. Prior to 
Commissioning of the DER the Interconnection customer shall provide the design with proof 
that it shall not connect or close into a de-energized Area EPS. The Interconnection Customer 
shall obtain written approval of the design as installed prior to completing the commissioning 
testing of the DER. 

14.4. Pre-Energization Testing – Interconnection Customer 

The following testing shall be performed by the Interconnection Customer. The Area EPS 
Operator has the right to witness all field test and review all records prior to allowing the 

63



Technical Specification Manual 
3
3 

33 

system to be made ready for normal operation. The Area EPS Operator shall be notified with 
adequate lead time of witness testing in accordance to - M-MIP2. 

1) Grounding shall be verified to ensure that it complies with this specification, the NESC 
and the NEC. 

2) CT’s (Current Transformers) and VT’s (Voltage Transformers) used for monitoring and 
protection, shall be tested to ensure correct polarity, ratio and wiring. 

3) CT’s shall be visually inspected to ensure that all grounding and shorting connections 
have been removed where required. 

4) Breaker / Switch tests – Verify that the breaker or switch cannot be operated with 
interlocks in place or that the breaker or switch cannot be automatically operated when 
in manual mode. (The intent of this test is to ensure that the breaker or switch controls 
are operating properly). 

5) Relay Tests – All protective relays shall be calibrated and tested to ensure the correct 
operation of the protective element. Documentation of all relay calibration tests and 
settings shall be furnished to the Area EPS Operator. 

6) Trip checks – Protective relays shall be functionally tested to ensure the correct 
operation of the complete system. Functional testing requires that the complete system 
is operated by the injunction of currents and/or voltage to trigger the relay elements 
and prove that the relay element trips the required breaker, lockout or provides the 
correct signal to the next control element. Trip circuit shall be proven through the entire 
scheme (including breaker trip). 

7) Remote Control, SCADA and Remote Monitoring tests – All remote-control functions 
and remote monitoring points shall be verified operational. For some monitoring points 
it may not be possible to verify analog values prior to energization. Where appropriate, 
those points may be verified during the energization process. 

8) Phase Tests – the Interconnection Customer shall work with the Area EPS Operator to 
complete the phase test to ensure proper phase rotation of the DER system and wiring. 

9) Synchronizing test – The following tests shall be done across an open switch or racked 
out breaker. The switch or breaker shall be in a position that it is incapable of closing 
between the Generation System and the Area EPS for this test. This test shall 
demonstrate that at the moment of the paralleling-device closure, the frequency, 
voltage and phase angle are within the required ranges, stated in IEEE 1547. This test 
shall also demonstrate that if any of the parameters are outside of the ranges stated; 
the paralleling device shall not close. For inverter-based interconnected systems this 
test may not be required unless the inverter creates fundamental voltages before the 
paralleling device is closed. 

2M-MIP Simplified Process section 8.3, Fast Track Process section 9.4 and Study Process section 11.3 

  

64



Technical Specification Manual 
3
4 

34 

 

14.5. Energization Testing Criteria 

Some tests are unable to be performed prior to interconnection with the Area EPS. Once the 
pre-energization tests are completed, the DER shall be integrated and the energization tests 
shall be performed. For larger and more complex DER systems the Interconnection Customer 
and Area EPS Operator should work together to develop the required testing procedure. Final 
proposed testing procedure shall be submitted to the Area EPS Operator prior to energization 
testing. The testing procedure should include the location, method of operation and verification 
for each step. At minimum, the testing procedure shall include the steps listed in Section 13.5.1 
and 13.5.2. 

14.5.1. Installation Verification 

1) Prior to the anti-islanding testing, the DER system shall have the following 
verified: 

2) That there is continuous, unescorted site access to the Area EPS equipment and 
Utility DER AC Disconnect is available. Site access means drivable and keyless 
access. 

3) The DER installation matches the submitted one-line diagram that was approved 
by the Area EPS Operator. 

4) There is proper labeling of disconnect switches, meters and placards, if 
necessary. 

5) That the Interconnection Customer will verify the settings and firmware of the 
inverters, protective devices, power control systems and other hardware and 
software components comply with the TIIR, Area EPS Operator’s TSM, operating 
agreements and match the previously approved settings. 

14.5.2. Anti-Islanding Test 

For DER systems that operate in parallel with the Area EPS, the anti-islanding test 
procedure shall, at minimum, contain the following steps: 

1) The DER system shall be placed into normal operations. 

2) The DER system shall be verified it is energized and generating. 

3) The Area EPS source shall be removed from the DER system. For multi- phase 
systems. Each phase will be tested individually in addition to simultaneously.   

4) The DER system shall be verified that it either separate from the Area EPS 
together with the local load or the DER system shall stop operating. 

5) The DER system shall be reconnected to the Area EPS. The DER generation shall 
not parallel with the Area EPS for a period less than 5 minutes. 

65



Technical Specification Manual 
3
5 

35 

For each step, the testing procedure shall identify which device shall be operated to 
complete the step. In verification step, the testing procedure shall identify the point of 
measurement. 

14.5.3. Additional Onsite Testing 

Depending on the complexity of the DER system, additional energization tests may be 
required. Examples of additional tests include phase testing, control mode verification, 
SCADA and communication verification. These additional tests shall be listed in the 
Interconnection Customer’s submitted testing procedure as applicable. 

14.6. Periodic Testing and Documentation 

All interconnection-related protection systems shall be periodically tested and maintained, by 
the Interconnection Customer, at intervals specified by the manufacturer or system integrator. 
These intervals shall not exceed five years. Periodic test reports and a log of inspections shall be 
maintained, by the Interconnection Customer and made available to the Area EPS Operator 
upon request. The Area EPS Operator shall be notified prior to the periodic testing of the 
protective systems, so that Area EPS personnel may witness the testing, if so desired. 

14.6.1. Battery Documentation 

Any system that depends upon a battery for trip/protection power shall be checked and 
logged once per month for proper voltage. Once every four years the battery(s) must be 
either replaced or a discharge test performed. Longer intervals are possible using the 
“station class batteries” and Area EPS Operator approval. 

14.7. Failure Protocol 

If the DER fails testing or verification, the Interconnection Customer shall address outstanding 
issues and provide updated documentation to the Area EPS Operator regarding the corrections 
made. The Interconnection Customer shall re-schedule the onsite testing with the Area EPS 
Operator and provide a revised testing procedure, if necessary. 

14.8. Modification to Existing DER 

Any time the interface hardware or software, including protective relaying and generation 
control systems are replaced and/or modified, the Area EPS Operator shall be notified. This 
notification shall, if possible, be with adequate notice so the Area EPS personnel can be 
involved in the planning for the modification and/or witness the verification testing. Verification 
testing shall be completed on the replaced and/or modified equipment and systems. The 
involvement of the Area EPS personnel will depend upon the complexity of the DER system and 
the component being replaced and/or modified. 

15. Sample Documents for Simplified Process 
15.1. Introduction 

Interconnection customer shall maintain a system one-line diagram, site diagram and testing 
procedure with latest results. 

 All documentation shall include the following: 

66



Technical Specification Manual 
3
6 

36 

 Interconnection Customer’s Name 

 Interconnection Agent’s Name, Address, and Phone Number 

 Date and revision 

15.2. One-Line Diagram 

The one-line diagram shall include, but not limited to, the following information: 

 Applicant Name 

 Installer name and contact information 

 Address where DER system will be installed 

 Correct electrical position of all equipment, including but not limited to: Panels, 
Inverter, DC and AC disconnects, and metering equipment. 

 Indicate the line and load side of the production and revenue meters. 

 Distance between equipment 

 Labeling found on equipment (actual labeling is typically on a separate drawing that 
shall be included with the application) 

 Total Aggregated AC nameplate rating of DER 

 DER protection elements 

The one-line diagram shall be signed and stamped by a Minnesota Professional Engineer if the 
DER is larger than 20 kW and uncertified or larger than 250 kW and certified. 

  

67



Technical Specification Manual 
3
7 

37 

Key labels: 

Utility AC Disconnect, DER Production Meter, Revenue Meter, Load and Line side of meter 
sockets,  System AC and DC Rating, Customer Name and Address 

Figure 14.1 Example Simplified One-Line Diagram 

 

  

68



Technical Specification Manual 
3
8 

38 

15.3. Site Diagram 

Site Diagram shall include the following: 

 Customers signature if an Application Agent is being used 

 Shall be to scale 

 Location of DER 

 Location of meter(s) 

 Location of Utility AC disconnect 

 Location of PCC/RPA/PoC 

 If DER installed on a different structure than the revenue meter: 

o If underground, shall include any easements/right of ways  
 

Figure 14.2 – Sample Simplified Site Diagram 

15.4. Testing Procedure 

General Process for Simplified Testing Procedures 

 Verify installation matches design evaluation 

o Verify inverter model matches application 

o Verify certified inverter 

69



Technical Specification Manual 
3
9 

39 

o Verify electrical inspection sticker 

o Verify correct labeling / signage 

o Verify Utility DER AC Disconnect Switch is lockable and has visual open 

o Verify DER system installation matches application one-line 

o Verification of operational and protection settings 

o Verify metering and Utility DER AC Disconnect Switch are accessible by Area EPS 
Operator 

 Field Testing 

o On-off test 

o Open phase testing (if applicable for multiphase systems)  

An example of a Simplified DER testing procedure is found in Appendix E. 

  

70



Technical Specification Manual 
4
0 

40 

Appendix A – Types of Interconnection 
The way the DER system is connected to and disconnected from the Area EPS can vary. Most 
transfer systems normally operate using one of the following five methods of transferring the load 
from the Area EPS to the DER system. 

If a transfer system is installed which has a user accessible selection of several transfer modes, the 
transfer mode that has the greatest protection requirements will establish the protection 
requirements for that transfer system. 

Open Transition (Break-Before-Make) Transfer Switch 

With this transfer switch, the load to be supplied from the DER is first disconnected from the Area 
EPS and then connected to the DER. This transfer can be relatively quick, but voltage and frequency 
excursions are to be expected during transfer. Computer equipment and other sensitive equipment 
will shut down and reset. The transfer switch typically consists of a standard UL approved transfer 
switch with mechanical interlocks between the two source contactors that drop the Area EPS 
source before the DER is connected to supply the load. 

1) To qualify as an Open Transition switch and the limited protective requirements, 
mechanical interlocks are required between the two source contacts. This is required to 
ensure that one of the contacts is always open and the generating DER is never operated in 
parallel with the Area EPS. If the mechanical interlock is not present, the protection 
requirements are as if the switch is a closed transition switch. 

2) As a practical point of application, this type of transfer switch is typically used for loads less 
than 500 kW. This is due to possible voltage flicker problems created on the Area EPS, when 
the load is removed from or returned to the Area EPS source. Depending upon the Area 
EPS’s stiffness, this level may be larger or smaller than the 500-kW level. 

3) Figure 1 on the following page provides a typical one-line of this type of installation. 

  

71



Technical Specification Manual 
4
1 

41 

  

  

72



Technical Specification Manual 
4
2 

42 

Quick Open Transition (Break-Before-Make) Transfer Switch 

For a Quick Open Transition, the load to be supplied from the DER is first disconnected from the 
Area EPS and then connected to the DER, similar to the open transition. However, this transition is 
typically much faster (under 500 ms) than the conventional open transition transfer operation. 
Voltage and frequency excursions will still occur, but some computer equipment and other 
sensitive equipment will typically not be affected with a properly designed system. The transfer 
switch consists of a standard UL approved transfer switch, with mechanical interlocks between the 
two source contacts that drop the Area EPS source before the DER is connected to supply the load. 

1) Mechanical interlocks are required between the two source contacts to ensure that one of 
the contacts is always open. If the mechanical interlock is not present, the protection 
requirements are as if the switch is a closed transition switch. 

2) As a practical point of application this type of transfer switch is typically used for loads less 
than 500 kW. This is due to possible voltage flicker problems created on the Area EPS, when 
the load is removed from or returned to the Area EPS source. Depending upon the Area 
EPS’s stiffness this level may be larger or smaller than the 500-kW level. 

3) Figure 1 on the previous page provides a typical one-line of this type of installation and 
shows the required protective elements. 

Closed Transition (Make-Before-Break) Transfer Switch 

For Closed Transition, the DER is synchronized with the Area EPS prior to the transfer occurring. 
The transfer switch then parallels with the Area EPS for a short time (500 ms or less) and then the 
DER and load is disconnected from the Area EPS. This transfer is less disruptive than the Quick 
Open Transition because it allows the DER a brief time to pick up the load before the support of the 
Area EPS is lost. With this type of transfer, the load is always being supplied by the Area EPS or the 
DER. 

1) As a practical point of application this type of transfer switch is typically used for loads less 
than 500 kW. This is due to possible voltage flicker problems created on the Area EPS, when 
the load is removed from or returned to the Area EPS source. Depending upon the Area 
EPS’s stiffness this level may be larger or smaller than the 500-kW level. 

2) Figure 2 on the following page provides a typical one-line of this type of installation and 
shows the required protective elements. The closed transition switch must include a 
separate parallel time limit relay, which is not part of the generation control PLC and trips 
the generation from the system for a failure of the transfer switch and/or the transfer 
switch controls. 

  

73



Technical Specification Manual 
4
3 

43 

  

74



Technical Specification Manual 
4
4 

44 

Soft Loading Transfer Switch – With Limited Parallel Operation 

For this type of interconnection, the DER is paralleled with the Area EPS for a limited amount of 
time (generally less than 1-2 minutes) to gradually transfer the load from the Area EPS to the 
generating DER system. This minimizes the voltage and frequency problems, by softly loading and 
unloading the DER. 

1) The maximum parallel operation shall be controlled, via a parallel timing limit relay (62PL). 
This parallel time limit relay shall be a separate relay and not part of the generation control 
PLC. 

2) Protective Relaying is required as described in Section 6 of this document. 

3) Figure 3 on the following page provides typical one-line diagrams of this type of installation 
and show the required protective elements. 

   

75



Technical Specification Manual 
4
5 

45 

  

76



Technical Specification Manual 
4
6 

46 

Soft Loading Transfer Switch – With Extended Parallel Operation 

The DER is paralleled with the Area EPS in continuous operation. Special design, coordination and 
agreements are required before any extended parallel operation will be permitted. The Area EPS 
interconnection study will identify the issues involved. 

1) Any anticipated use in the extended parallel mode requires special agreements and special 
protection coordination. 

2) Protective Relaying is required as described in Section 6 of this document. 

3) Figure 4 on the following page provides a typical one-line for this type of interconnection. It 
must be emphasized that this is a typical installation only and final installations may vary 
from the examples shown due to transformer connections, breaker configuration, etc. 

   

77



Technical Specification Manual 
4
7 

47 

  

78



Technical Specification Manual 
4
8 

48 

Inverter Connection 

An inverter Connection is a continuous parallel connection between the DER and Area EPS. Small 
generating DER systems may utilize inverters to interface to the Area EPS. Solar, wind and fuel cells 
are some examples of DER which typically use inverters to connect to the Area EPS. The design of 
such inverters shall either contain all necessary protection to prevent unintentional islanding, or 
the Interconnection Customer shall install conventional protection to affect the same protection. 
All required protective elements for a soft-loading transfer switch apply to an inverter connection. 
Figure 5 on the following page shows a typical inverter interconnection. 

1) Inverter Certification – Prior to installation, the inverter shall be Type-Certified for 
interconnection to the electrical power system. The certification will confirm its anti- 
islanding protection and power quality related levels at the Point of Common Coupling. 
Also, utility compatibility, electric shock hazard and fire safety are approved through UL 
listing of the model. Once this Type Certification is completed for that specific model, 
additional design review of the inverter should not be necessary by the Area EPS Operator. 

2) For three-phase operation, the inverter control must also be able to detect and separate for 
the loss of one phase. Larger inverters will still require custom protection settings, which 
must be calculated and designed to be compatible with the specific Area EPS being 
interconnected with. 

3) A visible disconnect is required for safely isolating the DER when connecting with an 
inverter. The inverter shall not be used as a safety isolation device. 

4) When banks of inverter systems are installed at one location, a design review by the Area 
EPS Operator must be performed to determine any additional protection systems, metering 
or other needs. The issues will be identified by the Area EPS Operator during the 
interconnection process. 

  

79



Technical Specification Manual 
4
9 

49 

  

80



Technical Specification Manual 
5
0 

50 

Appendix B – Relay Functions 
Non-Certified installation, depending on the interconnection configuration, are required to provide 
the appropriate relay function listed in this section. The interconnection types in Appendix A will 
specify which relay function may be applicable. 

Over-current relay (IEEE Device 50/51 or 50/51V) shall operate to trip the protecting breaker at a 
level to ensure protection of the equipment and at a speed to allow proper coordination with other 
protective devices. For example, the over-current relay monitoring the interconnection breaker 
shall operate fast enough for a fault on the customer’s equipment, so that no protective devices 
will operate on the Area EPS. 51V is a voltage restrained or controlled over- current relay and may 
be required to provide proper coordination with the Area EPS. 

Directional Over-Current Relay (IEEE Device 67) This element uses the phase relationship of the 
voltage and current to determine direction of the fault. 

Over-Voltage Relay (IEEE Device 59) shall operate to trip the DER per the requirements of IEEE 
1547. See table in Section 5.1. 

Under-Voltage Relay (IEEE Device 27) shall operate to trip the DER per the requirements of IEEE 
1547. See table in Section 5.1. 

Over-Frequency Relay (IEEE Device 81O) shall operate to trip the DER off-line per the requirements 
of IEEE 1547. See table in Section 5.2. 

Under-Frequency Relay (IEEE Device 81U) shall operate to trip the DER off-line per the 
requirements of IEEE 1547. See table in Section 5.2. 

Synch Check Relay (IEEE Device 25 / 25SC) The Area EPS will provide the reference frequency of 60 
Hz. The DER control system must be used to match this reference. The protective relaying in the 
interconnection system will be expected to maintain the frequency of the output of the DER. 

Phase Sequence or Phase Balance Detection (IEEE Device 47) Provides protection for rotating 
equipment from the damaging effects of excessive negative sequence voltage resulting from a 
phase failure, phase unbalance and reversed phase sequence. This element helps the DER sense 
loss of source issues on the Area EPS. 

Reverse Power Relays (IEEE Device 32) (power flowing from the DER to the Area EPS) shall operate 
to trip the DER off-line for a power flow to the system with a maximum time delay of2.0 seconds. 

Lockout Relay (IEEE Device 86) is a mechanically locking device which is wired into the close circuit 
of a breaker or switch and when tripped will prevent any close signal from closing that device. This 
relay requires that a person manually resets the lockout relay before that device can be reclosed. 
These relays are used to ensure that a de-energized system is not reenergized by automatic control 
action and prevents a failed control from auto-reclosing an open breaker or switch. 

Transfer Trip – All DERs are required to disconnect from the Area EPS when the Area EPS is 
disconnected from its source, to avoid unintentional islanding. A transfer trip system may be 
required to sense the loss of the Area EPS source for larger DERs which remain in parallel with the 
Area EPS. When the Area EPS source is lost, a signal is sent to the DER to separate the DER from the 
Area EPS. The size and type of the DER and the capacity and minimum loading on the Area EPS 

81



Technical Specification Manual 
5
1 

51 

circuit will dictate the need for transfer trip installation. The Area EPS interconnection process will 
identify the specific requirements for the proposed DER system. 

If multiple Area EPS sources are available, or multiple points of sectionalizing exist on the Area EPS, 
more than one transfer trip system may be required. The Area EPS interconnection process will 
identify the specific requirements for the proposed DER system in this situation. For some 
installations, the alternate Area EPS source(s) may not be utilized except in rare occasions. In this 
situation, the Interconnection Customer may elect to have the DER locked out when the alternate 
source(s) are utilized, if agreeable to the Area EPS Operator. 

Parallel Limit Timing Relay (IEEE Device 62PL) set at a maximum of 120 seconds for soft transfer 
installations and set no longer than 500 ms for closed transfer installations, shall trip the DER circuit 
breaker on limited parallel interconnection systems. Power for the 62 PL relay must be 
independent of the transfer switch control power. 

Minimum Input Relay (IEEE Device 37) is a setting within a digital relay that will trip the DER if the 
level of energy flow from the Area EPS goes below a set value. This protection system may be used 
by the DER to detect faults on the Area EPS. Minimum input relaying schemes must be set to trip 
immediately upon sensing under power levels and must coordinate with the Area EPS. Minimum 
input relaying is not allowed for DER systems which have the potential for inadvertent energy flow 
onto the Area EPS. 

The Area EPS primarily uses SEL protective relays for distribution system protection.  If DER 
protection devices are required to interface with RPU’s SEL protective relays, SEL’s Mirrored Bits 
communications protocol should be the communication scheme. 

   

82



Technical Specification Manual 
5
2 

52 

 

Table 7 – Summary of Relaying Requirements 

Summary of Relaying Requirements 

 

Type of 
Interconnection 

Over 
Current 
(50/51) 

 

Voltage 
(27/59) 

 

Frequency 
(81 O/U) 

Reverse 
Power 
(32) 

 

Lockout 
(86) 

Parallel 
Limit 
Timer 
(62) 

Synch 
Check 
(25) 

 

Transfer 
Trip 

Certified Inverter 
Connected 

< 250 kW 

 

(1) 

 

(1) 

 

(1) 

 

-- 

 

-- 

 

-- 

 

(1) 

 

-- 

Certified Inverter 
Connected 

> 250 kW 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (2) 

 

Yes (3) 

Limited Parallel 
Quick Open 
Transition 
Mechanically 

Interlocked 

 

 

-- 

 

 

-- 

 

 

-- 

 

 

-- 

 

 

Yes 

 

 

Yes 

 

 

Yes 

 

 

-- 

Limited Parallel 
Closed Transition 

-- -- -- -- Yes Yes Yes -- 

Soft Loading 
Limited Parallel 

Operations 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

Soft Loaded 
Extended Parallel 

< 250 kW 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

Soft Loaded 
Extended Parallel 

> 250 kW 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

 

Yes 

 

-- 

 

Yes 

 

Yes (3) 

Extended Parallel 

> 250 kW 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes -- Yes Yes (3) 

Note (1): Function is part of a certified inverter. 

Note (2): For inverter-based DER that is 250 kW or larger, a breaker and relaying is required for 
interconnection with the Area EPS. 

83



Technical Specification Manual 
5
3 

53 

Note (3): Direct Transfer-Trip is required if the Area EPS determines the proposed DER cannot 
detect and trip for an Area EPS fault or loss of source supply to the Area EPS within an acceptable 
time-frame. 

Appendix C – Types of ESS Control Modes 
Common types of ESS control modes are listed in this section. Not all possible control modes are 
identified and many ESS vendors have different names for similar control modes. For clarity 
between the Area EPS Operator and the Interconnection Customer, it is helpful to identify which 
control modes the ESS is capable of and is using on the Storage Application using one of the control 
modes terms below. 

Emergency Power 

The emergency power control mode has the ESS only providing energy to the Local EPS during a 
power outage and not providing energy to the Local EPS in any other situation. This control mode 
would have the ESS remaining in a charged state until Area EPS was de-energized. Once the Area 
EPS was not the source of the local EPS, a switch opens isolating the backed-up load from of the 
Area EPS and the ESS would release energy. Upon reenergization of the Area EPS the switch closes 
the load so it is sourced from the Area EPS. The ESS would cease in all operation for ten minutes 
prior to moving to a state of charging. (See Section 10.3 Enter Service). 

Figure 6. Example of Typical One-line Diagram for Emergency Power Control Mode 

84



Technical Specification Manual 
5
4 

54 

 

  

85



Technical Specification Manual 
5
5 

55 

Demand Reduction Management 

The demand reduction management operating mode has the ESS releasing stored power to reduce 
the peak demand of the Local EPS. This control mode would have the ESS providing energy to the 
Local EPS while the Local EPS is also receiving energy from the Area EPS. The ESS would incorporate 
an energy management system that monitors the load of the Local EPS. When the Local EPS 
reaches a set demand point, the ESS would release stored power in specified amount. The result is 
the demand required from the Area EPS would stay at a levelized amount. This type of control 
mode can be used with electrical services that are billed retail with a volumetric energy component 
and a demand component. The example one-line of this type of control mode is shown in Figure 7.     

Non-Exporting, Self-Consumption 

The non-exporting or self-consumption mode incorporates a generating DER, such as a solar 
system, that would charge the ESS. As the generation exceeds the load, the ESS is charged. When 
the load exceeds the generation, the ESS can release energy to maintain the power needs of the 
load is covered, but neither the ESS nor the generating DER (solar) will send power to the Area EPS. 
This control mode normally includes information from an energy management system. The 
example one-line of this type of control mode is shown in Figure 7. 

Time-Of-Use Management 

The time-of-use management control mode has the ESS charging when retail energy prices are low 
and releasing energy when energy prices are high, offsetting the need for the load to use energy 
from the Area EPS. This control mode is only beneficial to the interconnection customer if the 
electric service is on a retail time-of-use rate schedule. The example one-line of this type of control 
mode is shown in Figure 7. 

  

86



Technical Specification Manual 
5
6 

56 

Figure 7. Example of Typical One-line Diagram for Load Modify Control Mode 

   

87



Technical Specification Manual 
5
7 

57 

Appendix D – Simplified Diagrams for Various Rate Options 
These on-line diagrams are simplified and do not include all relevant equipment.  They are 
intended to depict metering configurations for the various options for qualifying facilities that are 
100 kW or less in size. 

Figure 8.(Drawing ME1I01) Qualifying Facility Average Retail Rate, Roll-over Credit, Time of Day, 
and Simultaneous Purchase and Sale Configurations 

 

   

88



Technical Specification Manual 
5
8 

58 

Figure 9. (Drawing ME1MI02) Non Qualifying Generation Interconnect Less than 40 KW 

 

  

89



Technical Specification Manual 
5
9 

59 

Figure 10. (Drawing ME1MI04) Qualifying Generation with Dual Fuel or Roll Over Credit 

 

   

90



Technical Specification Manual 
6
0 

60 

Figure 11. Example Placard 

  

   

91



Technical Specification Manual 
6
1 

61 

Appendix E – Certificate of Completion 

 

   

92



Technical Specification Manual 
6
2 

62 

Appendix F – Example Simplified Process DER Testing 
Procedure 

  

   

93



Technical Specification Manual 
6
3 

63 

Appendix F – DER Alteration Notification 
This form is only applicable for installed DER systems that have prior approval from the Area EPS 
Operator to operate in extended parallel. Changes to capacity size, type, technology or location 
should be applied as a new application using either the Simplified or Fast Track application 
forms. This form is to inform the Area EPS Operator of changes in inverter, control system and 
protective device settings or the exchange of “like-for-like” DER equipment. The Area EPS Operator 
may determine the proposed change requires additional review to ensure the operation of the 
Area EPS is not detrimentally affected. The Area EPS Operator will notify the listed contact if 
additional details or steps are required. Contact the DER Coordinator for further information. 

   

94



Technical Specification Manual 
6
4 

64 

 

  

  

95



Technical Specification Manual 
6
5 

65 

APPENDIX G:  PV and Inverter-base DER Ground Referencing 
Requirements and Sample Calculations 

Scope 

This document lists technical requirements, and provides sample calculations, for ground 
referencing of inverter based Distributed Energy Resources (DER) on the Area EPS 4‐wire 
system medium‐voltage (MV) electric distribution system. DER units with AC nameplate 
capacities from 100kW to 10MW are covered in the scope. This document assumes a proper 
ground reference is being created by either a separate grounding transformer or a wye‐
grounded:delta (MV:LV) interconnection transformer. Inverters which have an internal 
grounded‐wye isolation transformer are not covered in this document. The information in this 
document is to be applied at the Point of Common Coupling. 

Background 

Ground referencing electric distribution systems is standard practice in large part to avoid 
damaging overvoltages, for line‐to‐ground connected loads, which can result from ground fault 
conditions on ungrounded systems. Figure A below shows the range of expected line voltages 
for different system ground referencing methods. Line surge arrestors and customer equipment 
connected phase‐to‐ground are usually not designed to withstand the phase‐to‐phase voltages 
that can occur during ungrounded system fault conditions. 

 

Figure A – Neutral shift during ground fault conditions 

During a ground fault condition, in situations where the Area EPS’s protective device opens and 
before the DER trips off‐line, the distribution system has lost the system ground reference. It is 
important that any DER source energizing this portion of the distribution system provides a ground 
reference in order to prevent overvoltages. 

Std IEEE 1547‐2013 stated that “the grounding scheme of the DR interconnection shall not cause 
overvoltages that exceed the rating of the equipment connected to the Area EPS”.   Std IEEE 1547-
2018 states that “The DER shall not cause the fundamental frequency line-to-ground voltage on any 

96



Technical Specification Manual 
6
6 

66 

portion of the Area EPS that is designed to operate effectively grounded, as defined by IEEE Std 
C62.92.1, to exceed 138% of its nominal line-to-ground fundamental frequency voltage for a 
duration exceeding one fundamental frequency period.” The below requirements for inverter 
ground referencing are adopted from IEEE P1547.8/D8‐ 2014 which is the draft document titled 
Draft Recommended Practice for Establishing Methods and Procedures that Provide Supplemental 
Support for Implementation Strategies for Expanded use of IEEE Standard 1547. Although this 
document as a whole is in draft form and not yet approved, the Area EPS believes the provision 
below on inverter ground referencing identifies a best practice. 

Requirements 

For DG Facilities with an Inverter Interface: 

1) X0,DG = 0.6 p.u. +/- 10% Note: 1 p.u. is based on Zbase = 
𝑘𝑉2

𝑀𝑉𝐴𝐷𝐸𝑅
  

2) 
𝑋0.𝐷𝐺

𝑅0,𝐷𝐺
  ≥ 4 

3) Ground referencing equipment shall be designed to withstand a minimum of V0 = 4% and 
remain connected.  

Note:  I0 can be approximated as I0 = 
𝑉0

𝑍0
 

4) Ground referencing equipment shall have 5-second withstand ratings that exceed maximum 
available short-circuit current for close in faults. 

Additional Notes: 

a) Sum of MVA ratings of DER inverter nameplates and high-side (medium voltage) kV 
rating of interconnection transformer or grounding bank, depending on which unit 
creates the ground source, are used in determining required zero-sequence impedance 
(X0,DG) for composite facility. 

b) The MVA and high-side kV rating of the interconnection transformer or grounding bank, 
depending on which unit creates the ground source, is used for determining grounding 
bank and neutral reactor sizing. 

c) The impedance of the interconnection transformer is needed for neutral reactor sizing. 

  

97



Technical Specification Manual 
6
7 

67 

Example Calculations 

The below examples assume a ground reference is created by a proper transformer configuration 
and that the PV facility is interconnected to the Area EPS 4‐wire electric distribution system. For 
simplicity, the example online diagrams below exclude system components not relevant to 
grounding requirements; these drawings are not intended to be used as example one lines for 
system design. 

Example 1 – Separate Zig‐Zag Grounding Transformer 

A PV facility with 1 MVA inverter total AC nameplate is interconnected to a 13.8kV feeder 
through a 1 MVA interconnection transformer that does not create a ground reference. A 
separate zig‐zag transformer is connected at 13.8kV to meet ground referencing requirements. 
(Note: Secondary ground bank connections are also acceptable when the interconnection 
transformer is wye‐grounded:wye‐grounded. The kV used for determine ZBase would be 480V 
in that case.) 

 

1) Find base impedance: 

𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸  = 
𝑘𝑉2

𝑀𝑉𝐴𝑝𝑣
 = 

13.82𝑘𝑉

1𝑀𝑉𝐴
 = 190 Ω 

Notes: kV is high-side voltage of grounding transformer, MVAPV  is aggregate facility 
(i.e. 5 MVA would be used for five 1 MVA facilities) 

Find zero-sequence reactance requirement: 

𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 =0.6 (190) Ω ± 10% = 114 Ω ± 10% 

The zig-zag grounding transformer will require a per phase zero-sequence reactance of 114 
Ω ± 10 % to meet Requirement 1. 

2) For Requirements 2, verify  
𝑋0,𝐷𝐺

𝑅0.𝐷𝐺
   ≥ 4 

3) For Requirement 3, assuming X0,DG = 114 Ω determines the continuous current associated 

with V0 = 4%. 

Find base current value 

𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸 = 
𝑉𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸

𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸
 = 

13.8

√3
 𝑘𝑉

190 Ω
 = 41.8 A 

Find per unit zero sequence current 

98



Technical Specification Manual 
6
8 

68 

𝐼0,𝑝.𝑢. =
𝑉0

𝑍0
=

0.04

0.6
= 0.067 𝑝. 𝑢.  

Find zero sequence current in amps 

𝐼0 =  𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸 ∗  𝐼0,𝑝.𝑢. = 41.8𝐴 ∗ 0.067 = 2.8 𝐴 

Verify that the transformer per phase rating exceeds this value. 

Find neutral current 

𝐼𝑁 = 3(𝐼0 ) = 3(2.8)𝐴 = 8.4 𝐴   

Verify that the transformer continuous neutral rating exceeds this value. 

4) For Requirement 4, request system impedance from the Area EPS engineer and determine 
ground bank’s short circuit contribution for close-in single-line to ground faults. The 
grounding transformer 5-second withstand rating shall exceed the maximum anticipated 
ground fault current contribution from the transformer. 

Example 2 – Wye-grounded: Delta Interconnection Transformer with Neutral Rector 

A PV DER facility with a 1 MVA inverter total AC nameplate is interconnected to a 13.8 kV 
feeder through a 1 MVA interconnection transformer through a wye-grounded:delta 
interconnection transformer (grounded-wye winding is connected to 13.8 kV system). The 
interconnection transformer has nameplate impedance of 5%. A neutral reactor is required to 
meet ground referencing requirements. 

 

1) Find base impedance: 

 𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸= 
𝑘𝑉2

𝑀𝑉𝐴𝑝𝑣
 = 

13.82𝑘𝑉

1𝑀𝑉𝐴
 = 190 Ω 

Note:  kV is high-side voltage of grounding transformer, MVA PV  is aggregate facility 
(i.e. 5 MVA would be used for five 1 MVA facilities) 

Find zero-sequence reactance requirement: 

𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 = 0.6 (190) Ω ± 10% = 114 Ω ± 10% 

Find interconnection zero-sequence reactance contribution: 

𝑋0,𝑋𝑓𝑚𝑟= 𝑋0,𝑋𝑓𝑚𝑟,𝑝.𝑢. ∗  𝑍𝐵𝑎𝑠𝑒  = 0.05 (190) Ω = 9.5 Ω 

Find neutral reactor zero-sequence contribution to meet requirement for subtracting 
interconnection transformer contribution: 

99



Technical Specification Manual 
6
9 

69 

𝑋0,𝑁𝑅 =  𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 − 𝑋0,𝑋𝑓𝑚𝑟  = 114 – 9.5 Ω = 104.5 Ω ± 10% 

Determine neutral reactor size (note: INeutral = 3 * I0,Xfmr): 

𝑋𝑁𝑅= 
𝑋0,𝑁𝑅

3
 = 

104.5 Ω

3
= 34.8 Ω ± 10% 

A neutral reactor with a reactance of 34.8 Ω ±10%, inserted into the neutral of the 
interconnection transformer, will meet ground referencing Requirement 1.  Requirement 2 
through 4 should be checked using transformer nameplate information. 

2) For Requirements 2, verify 
𝑋0,𝐷𝐺

𝑅0,𝐷𝐺
  ≥ 4 

3) For Requirement 3, assuming 𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 = 114 Ω determines the continuous current associated 
with 𝑉0 = 4% 

Find base current value 

𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸= 
𝑉𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸

𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸
 = 

13.8

√3
 𝑘𝑉

190 Ω
= 41.8 𝐴  

Find per unit zero sequence current 

𝐼0,𝑝.𝑢. =  
𝑉0

𝑍0
=  

0.04

0.6
= 0.067 𝑝. 𝑢. 

Determine zero sequence current in amps 

𝐼0 =  𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸 ∗  𝐼0,𝑃.𝑢. = 41.8 𝐴 ∗ 0.067 = 2.8 𝐴 

Find neutral current 

𝐼𝑁𝑅 = 3(𝐼0) 𝐴 = 8.4 𝐴 

Verify that the neutral reactor continuous rating exceeds this value. 

4) For Requirement 4, request system impedance from the Area EPS engineer and determine 
ground bank’s short circuit contribution for close-in single-line to ground faults. The 
grounding transformer 5-second withstand rating shall exceed the maximum anticipated 
ground fault current contribution from the transformer. 

  

100



Technical Specification Manual 
7
0 

70 

Example 3 – Separate Wye-grounded: Delta Grounding Transformer 

A PV facility with 1MW inverter total AC nameplate is interconnected to a 13.8kV feeder 
through a 1MVA wye-grounded:wye-grounded interconnection transformer. A separate wye-
grounded:delta_transformer is connected at 480V to meet grounding reference requirements. 

 

1) Find base impedance: 

 𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸= 
𝑘𝑉2

𝑀𝑉𝐴𝑝𝑣
 = 

0.482𝑘𝑉

1𝑀𝑉𝐴
 = 0.2304 Ω 

Notes: kV is high-side voltage of grounding transformer. MVAPV is aggregate facility (i.e 
5MVA would be used for five 1 MVA facilities) 

Find zero-sequence reactance requirement: 

𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 = 0.6 (0.23) Ω ± 10% = 0.14 Ω ± 10% 

The grounding transformer will require a per phase zero-sequence reactance of 0.14Ω ±10% 
to meet requirement 1. 

2) For Requirements 2, verify 
𝑋0,𝐷𝐺

𝑅0,𝐷𝐺
  ≥ 4 

3) For Requirement 3, assuming 𝑋0,𝐷𝐺 = 0.14 Ω determines the continuous current associated 

with V0 = 4%. 

Find base current value 

𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸= 
𝑉𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸

𝑍𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸
 = 

0.48

√3
 𝑘𝑉

0.2304 Ω
= 1202.8 𝐴  

Find per unit zero sequence current 

𝐼0,𝑝.𝑢. =  
𝑉0

𝑍0
=  

0.04

0.6
= 0.067 𝑝. 𝑢. 

Find zero sequence current in amps 

𝐼0 =  𝐼𝐵𝐴𝑆𝐸 ∗  𝐼0,𝑃.𝑢. = 1202.8 𝐴 ∗ 0.067 = 80.6 𝐴 

Verify that the transformer per phase rating exceeds this value. 

Find neutral current 

IN = 3(I0) = 3(80.6) A = 241.8 A 

101



Technical Specification Manual 
7
1 

71 

Verify that the transformer continuous neutral rating exceeds this value. 

4) For Requirement 4, request system impedance from the Area EPS engineer and determine 
ground bank’s short circuit contribution for close-in single-line to ground faults. The 
grounding transformer 5-second withstand rating shall exceed the maximum anticipated 
ground fault current contribution from the transformer. 

 

  

102



Technical Specification Manual 
7
2 

72 

APPENDIX H:  Area Eps Operator Required Profile For 
Inverter Based Der Systems 

Utility Specified Settings for Inverters 

Rochester Public Utilities has posted in the NOVA on-line application portal, a CSV file with these 
specified settings as shown below. 

Also posted in the NOVA portal is a spreadsheet which can be used to provide the Applied Settings 
for the inverter. A table with notes on each of the required fields is included after the specified 
settings table. 

Table 9 - Utility Specified Settings for Inverters 

PARAMETER VALUE 

COMMENT THESE ARE THE UTILITY SPECIFIED SETTINGS 

MT_FILE_INFO_TYPE SS 

COMMENT 
THESE SETTING ARE APPLICABLE FOR THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS 

MT_UTILITY_NAME DAKOTA_ELECTRIC_ASSOCIATION 

MT_COUNTRY United States of America 

MT_STATE Minnesota 

MT_APPLICABILITY_DATE 09/01/2023 

MT_POWER_CONVERSION_ DEV-
APP INVERTER 

MT_NP_NORMAL_OP_ CAT- APP CAT_B 

MT_NP_ABNORMAL_OP_ CAT-
APP CAT_III 

MT_NP_P_MAX-MIN-APP 0.0 

MT_NP_P_MAX-MAX-APP 1000000 

MT_PRIMARY_POWER_ SOURCE SOLAR-WIND-HYDRO 

COMMENT ENTER_ SERVICE_PARAMETERS (1547 Defaults) 

ES_PERMIT_SERVICE-SS ENABLED 

ES_V_LOW-SS 0.917 

ES_V_HIGH-SS 1.05 

ES_F_LOW-SS 59.5 

ES_F_HIGH-SS 60.1 

ES_DELAY-SS 300 

ES_RANDOMIZED_DELAY- SS 0 

ES_RAMP_RATE-SS 300 

  

COMMENT CONSTANT_POWER_FACTOR_MODE_ PARAMETERS 

CONST_PF_MODE_ENABLE- SS DISABLED 

CONST_PF_EXCITATION-SS ABS 

CONST_PF-SS 0.98 

103



Technical Specification Manual 
7
3 

73 

CONST_Q_MODE_ENABLE- SS DISABLED 

CONST_Q-SS 0 

COMMENT VOLT-VAR_MODE_PARAMETERS (1547 STANDARD VALUES) 

QV_MODE_ENABLE-SS ENABLED 

QV_VREF-SS 1.0 

QV_VREF_AUTO_MODE-SS DISABLED 

QV_VREF_TIME-SS 5 

QV_CURVE_V1-SS 0.92 

QV_CURVE_Q1-SS 0.44 

QV_CURVE_V2-SS 0.98 

QV_CURVE_Q2-SS 0.0 

QV_CURVE_V3-SS 1.02 

QV_CURVE_Q3-SS 0.0 

QV_CURVE_V4-SS 1.08 

QV_CURVE_Q4-SS -0.44 

QV_OLRT-SS 5 

COMMENT WATT-VAR_CONTROL_PARAMETERS 

QP_MODE_ENABLE-SS DISABLED 

COMMENT 
VOLT-WATT_CONTROL_PARAMETERS (1547 STANDARD 
VALUES) 

PV_MODE_ENABLE-SS ENABLED 

PV_CURVE_V1-SS 1.06 

PV_CURVE_P1-SS 1.0 

PV_CURVE_V2-SS 1.10 

PV_CURVE_P2-SS 0.0 

PV_OLRT-SS 10 

COMMENT 
OVER_UNDER_VOLTAGE_MUST_TRIP_PARAMETERS (MISO 
RECOMMENDED VALUES) 

OV2_TRIP_V-SS 1.20 

OV2_TRIP_T-SS 0.16 

OV1_TRIP_V-SS 1.10 

OV1_TRIP_T-SS 2.0 

UV1_TRIP_V-SS 0.70 

UV1_TRIP_T-SS 5.0 

UV2_TRIP_V-SS 0.45 

UV2_TRIP_T-SS 0.32 

COMMENT 
OVER_UNDER_FREQUENCY_MUST_TRIP_PARAMETE RS 
(MISO RECOMENDED VALUES) 

OF2_TRIP_F-SS 62.0 

OF2_TRIP_T-SS 0.16 

OF1_TRIP_F-SS 61.2 

OF1_TRIP_T-SS 300.0 

UF1_TRIP_F-SS 58.5 

104



Technical Specification Manual 
7
4 

74 

UF1_TRIP_T-SS 300.0 

UF2_TRIP_F-SS 56.5 

UF2_TRIP_T-SS 0.16 

PF_DBOF-SS 0.036 

PF_DBUF-SS 0.036 

PF_KOF-SS 0.05 

PF_KUF-SS 0.05 

PF_OLRT-SS 5.0 

 

105



Technical Specification Manual 
7
5 

75 

The following is the Applied Settings table. A CSV file with these fields completed is required to be 
provided to the utility to confirm the inverter configuration and to document the settings. 
Information for all parameters is required unless the parameter name is listed in italics. 

For string inverters, where all string inverts have the same settings applied, only one CSV file is 
required from one of the string inverters to represent all the inverter configurations and settings. 

 

Table 10- Vendor Applied Settings File 

PARAMETER VALUE Notes 

COMMENT THIS FILE IS THE AS-SET OR -AS FILE FOR THE INSTALLATION 

MT_FILE_INFO_TYPE AS 
Context of the data in the file - SS is the utility 
specified settings file -AS is the returned As Set file 

COMMENT BASIC_INVERTER_INFORMATION 

NP_P_MAX  Active power rating in watts at unity power factor 

NP_P_MAX_OVER_PF  

Active power rating in watts at specified over-
excited 

power factor 

NP_OVER_PF  Over-excited power factor (VArs injected) 

NP_P_MAX_UNDER_PF  

Active power rating in watts at specified under- 
excited power factor 

NP_UNDER_PF  Under-excited power factor (VArs absorbed) 

NP_VA_MAX  Maximum apparent power rating in volt-amperes 

NP_NORMAL_OP_CAT CAT_B Normal operating performance category 

NP_ABNORMAL_OP_CAT CAT_III Abnormal operating performance category 

NP_Q_MAX_INJ  
Maximum injected reactive power rating in volt- 
amperes reactive 

NP_Q_MAX_ABS  

Maximum absorbed reactive power rating in volt- 
amperes reactive 

NP_P_MAX_CHARGE  Maximum active power charge rating in watts 

NP_APPARENT_POWER_ 
CHARGE_MAX  

Maximum apparent power charge rating in volt- 
amperes. May differ from the apparent power 
maximum rating 

NP_AC_V_NOM  Base nominal AC voltage rating in RMS Vac 

NP_AC_V_MAX  
Maximum output RMS AC voltage (VH) in the 
continuous operating region 

NP_AC_V_MIN  
Minimum output RMS AC voltage (VL) in the 
continuous operating region 

NP_SUPPORTED_MODES 

QV-QP-PV- 
CONST_PF- 
CONST_Q- 

PF 
Indication of support for each control mode 
function separated by dashes 

NP_REACTIVE_SUSCEPTANCE  
Reactive susceptance that remains connected to 
the Area EPS in the cease to energize and trip state 

106



Technical Specification Manual 
7
6 

76 

NP_MANUFACTURER  Manufacturer 

NP_MODEL  Model 

NP_SERIAL_NUM  Serial number 

NP_FW_VER  Firmware version 

AP_LIMIT_ ENABLE  Limit active power function ENABLED or DISABLED 

AP_LIMIT  

Active power limit setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_P_MAX or NP_P_MAX_CHARGE. Negative 
values 

indicate active power absorption 

COMMENT ENTER_ SERVICE_PARAMETERS (1547 Defaults) 

ES_PERMIT_SERVICE-AS ENABLED 
Permit service function enable. This function is 
activated by request from the Area EPS Operator 

ES_V_LOW-AS 0.917 
Enter service voltage - low - setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM (voltage base) 

ES_V_HIGH-AS 1.05 
Enter service voltage - high - setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM (voltage base) 

ES_F_LOW-AS 59.5 
Frequency in Hz, and shall be reported to 3 decimal 
places 

ES_F_HIGH-AS 60.1 

Frequency in Hz and shall be reported to 3 decimal 
places. 

ES_DELAY-AS 300.0 Minimum intentional enter service delay 

ES_RANDOMIZED_DELAY-AS 300.0 

Enter service randomized delay (optional feature in 
IEEE Std 1547-2018) 

ES_RAMP_RATE-AS 300.0 
Enter service soft-start duration in seconds. Time 
from zero to 100% of NP_P_MAX. 

COMMENT CONSTANT_POWER_FACTOR_MODE_ PARAMETERS 

CONST_PF_MODE_ENABLE-
AS DISABLED Constant power factor mode enable. 

CONST_PF_EXCITATION-AS  Under or over excited 

CONST_PF-AS 0.98 
Constant power factor setting, no sign should be 
used 

CONST_Q_MODE_ENABLE-AS DISABLED Constant reactive power mode select. 

CONST_Q-AS  

Injecting reactive power setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_VA_MAX. Negative signs shall be 
used to 
indicate absorbing VAr. 

COMMENT VOLT-VAR_MODE_PARAMETERS (1547 STANDARD VALUES) 

QV_MODE_ENABLE-AS ENABLED Voltage-Reactive power mode enable. 

QV_VREF-AS 1.0 
Per unit value based on NP_AC_V_NOM (voltage 
base) 

QV_VREF_AUTO_MODE-AS DISABLED Autonomous Vref adjustment enable. 

QV_VREF_TIME-AS 5.0 
Vref adjustment time constant in seconds as 
specified by the area EPS operator 

107



Technical Specification Manual 
7
7 

77 

QV_CURVE_V1-AS 0.92 

Volt-VAr point V1 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_AC_V_NOM. 

QV_CURVE_Q1-AS 0.44 

VArs at V1 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_VA_MAX. Negative signs shall be used to 
indicate 
absorbing VAr. 

QV_CURVE_V2-AS 0.98 

Volt-VAr point V2 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_AC_V_NOM. 

QV_CURVE_Q2-AS 0.0 

VArs at V2 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_VA_MAX. Negative signs shall be used to 
indicate 
absorbing VAr. 

QV_CURVE_V3-AS 1.02 

Volt-VAr point V3 setting. Per unit value based on 

NP_AC_V_NOM. 

QV_CURVE_Q3-AS 0.0 

VArs at V3 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_VA_MAX. Negative signs shall be used to 
indicate 
absorbing VAr. 

QV_CURVE_V4-AS 1.08 

Volt-VAr point V4 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_AC_V_NOM. 

QV_CURVE_Q4-AS -0.44 

VArs at V4 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_VA_MAX. Negative signs shall be used to 
indicate 
absorbing VAr. 

QV_OLRT-AS 5.0 Volt-VAr open-loop response time 

COMMENT WATT-VAR_CONTROL_PARAMETERS 

QP_MODE_ENABLE-AS DISABLED Active power-Reactive power mode enable. 

COMMENT 
VOLT-WATT_CONTROL_PARAMETERS (1547 STANDARD 
VALUES) 

PV_MODE_ENABLE-AS ENABLED Voltage-Active power mode enable 

PV_CURVE_V1-AS 1.06 

Volt-Watt point V1 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_AC_V_NOM. 

PV_CURVE_P1-AS 100.0 

Watts at point V1 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_P_MAX. 

PV_CURVE_V2-AS 1.10 
Volt-Watt point V2 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_AC_V_NOM. 

PV_CURVE_P2-AS 0.0 

Watts at point V2 setting. Per unit value based on 
NP_P_MAX or NP_P_MAX_CHARGE. Negative 
values 
indicate active power absorption. 

PV_OLRT-AS 10.0 Volt-Watt - Open loop response time 

108



Technical Specification Manual 
7
8 

78 

COMMENT 

OVER_UNDER_VOLTAGE_MUST_TRIP_PARAMETERS (MISO 
RECOMMENDED VALUES) 

OV2_TRIP_V-AS 1.20 
OV2 must trip over-voltage setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM. 

OV2_TRIP_T-AS 0.16 OV2 must trip duration setting 

OV1_TRIP_V-AS 1.10 
OV1 must trip over-voltage setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM. 

OV1_TRIP_T-AS 2.0 OV1 must trip duration setting 

UV1_TRIP_V-AS 0.70 
UV1 must trip under-voltage setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM. 

UV1_TRIP_T-AS 5.0 UV1 must trip duration setting 

UV2_TRIP_V-AS 0.45 
UV2 must trip under-voltage setting. Per unit value 
based on NP_AC_V_NOM. 

UV2_TRIP_T-AS 0.32 UV2 must trip duration setting 

COMMENT 
OVER_UNDER_FREQUENCY_MUST_TRIP_PARAMETERS (MISO 
RECOMENDED VALUES) 

OF2_TRIP_F-AS 62.000 

OF2 must trip over-frequency magnitude setting. 
Frequency values shall be reported to 3 decimal 
places. 

OF2_TRIP_T-AS 0.16 OF2 must trip duration setting 

OF1_TRIP_F-AS 61.200 

OF1 must trip over-frequency magnitude setting. 
Frequency values shall be reported to 3 decimal 
places. 

OF1_TRIP_T-AS 300.0 OF1 must trip duration setting 

UF1_TRIP_F-AS 58.500 

UF1 must trip under-frequency magnitude setting. 
Frequency values shall be reported to 3 decimal 

places. 

UF1_TRIP_T-AS 300.0 UF1 must trip duration setting 

UF2_TRIP_F-AS 56.500 

UF2 must trip under-frequency magnitude setting. 
Frequency values shall be reported to 3 decimal 
places. 

UF2_TRIP_T-AS 0.16 UF2 must trip duration setting 

PF_DBOF-AS 0.036 

Over frequency deadband offset from nominal 
frequency in Hz. Frequency values shall be 
reported 
to 3 decimal places. 

PF_DBUF-AS 0.036 

Under frequency deadband offset from nominal 
frequency in Hz. Frequency values shall be 
reported 

to 3 decimal places. 

PF_KOF-AS 0.05 

Over frequency per unit frequency change 
corresponding to a 1 per unit power change 
(frequency droop). 

109



Technical Specification Manual 
7
9 

79 

PF_KUF-AS 0.05 

Under frequency per unit frequency change 
corresponding to a 1 per unit power change 
(frequency droop). 

PF_OLRT-AS 5.0 Frequency-Active power open-loop response time 

 

 

110



  

R E S O L U T I O N

      BE IT RESOLVED by the Public Utility Board of the City of Rochester to adopt the 
updated Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy Resources and grant 
engineering staff authority to make minor updates and revisions.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE PUBLIC UTILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF

ROCHESTER, MINNESOTA, THIS 19th DAY OF December, 2023.

     

___________________________________
PRESIDENT 

___________________________________
SECRETARY

111



MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Board Policy Review

PRESENTER:
Tim McCollough

REQUEST FOR ACTION

RPU Index of Board Policies

6.A

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Review the Index of Board Policies to summarize progress on policy updates and determine future policy
review items.

Report Narrative:
RPU Board policies are updated throughout the year as needed.

Prepared By:
Christina Bailey

Attachments:
Index of Board Policies-revised.xlsx

112

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2333284/Index_of_Board_Policies-revised.pdf


ROCHESTER PUBLIC UTILITIES
INDEX OF BOARD POLICIES

REVISION DATE FOCUS AREA / STAFF LIAISON

 ANTICIPATED 
REVISION TIME 

PERIOD
TARGET 

COMPLETION DATE
BOARD
1. Mission Statement 4/25/2023 Policy / Tim McCollough
2. Responsibilities and Functions 9/26/2023 Policy / Tim McCollough
3. Relationship with the Common Council 2/28/2012 Policy / Tim McCollough
4. Board Organization 3/27/2018 Policy / Tim McCollough
5. Board Procedures 9/27/2022 Policy / Tim McCollough
6. Delegation of Authority/Relationship with Management 11/28/2023 Policy / Tim McCollough
7. Member Attendance at Conferences and Meetings 12/18/2018 Policy / Tim McCollough
8. Board Member Expenses 12/18/2018 Policy / Tim McCollough
9. Conflict of Interest DELETED N/A
10. Alcohol and Illegal Drugs DELETED N/A
11. Worker Safety 3/27/2012 Policy / Tim McCollough

CUSTOMER
12. Customer Relations 4/30/2019 Ops & Admin / Krista Boston
13. Public Information and Outreach 4/30/2019 Communications / Steven Nyhus
14. Application for Service 7/1/2016 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels
15. Electric Utility Line Extension Policy 3/28/2017 Finance / Peter Hogan
16. Billing, Credit and Collections Policy 4/26/2022 Finance / Peter Hogan
17. Electric Service Availability 10/29/2019 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels
18. Water and Electric Metering 6/26/2018 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels
19. Adjustment of Utility Services Billed 6/29/2021 Finance / Peter Hogan
20. Rates 7/25/2017 Finance  / Peter Hogan
21. Involuntary Disconnection 9/28/2021 Communications / Steven Nyhus

ADMINISTRATIVE
22. Acquisition and Disposal of Interest in Real Property 12/19/2017 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels
23. Electric Utility Cash Reserve Policy 1/28/2020 Finance  / Peter Hogan
24. Water Utility Cash Reserve Policy 1/28/2020 Finance / Peter Hogan
25. Charitable Contributions 6/25/2019 Communications / Steven Nyhus
26. Utility Compliance 10/24/2017 Communications / Steven Nyhus
27. Contribution in Lieu of Taxes 6/29/1999 Finance  / Peter Hogan
28. Joint-Use of Infrastructure and Land Rights 3/30/2021 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels
29. Customer Data Management Policy 3/22/2022 Communications / Steven Nyhus Q2 2024 6/30/2024
30. Life Support 9/24/2019 Communications / Steven Nyhus
31. Electric Utility Undergrounding Policy 9/29/2020 Ops & Admin / Scott Nickels Q1 2024 3/31/2024

Red - Currently being worked on
Yellow - Will be scheduled for revision
Marked for deletion

113



MEETING DATE:
December 19, 2023

ORIGINATING DEPT:
Rochester Public Utilities

AGENDA SECTION:
Division Reports & Metrics

PRESENTER:
Tim McCollough

REQUEST FOR ACTION

Division Reports & Metrics - December 2023

8.A

 

 

 

Action Requested:
Review the reports from each of RPU's five divisions: Core Services, Compliance and Public Affairs,
Power Resources, Customer Relations and Corporate Services.

Report Narrative:
Each division of RPU reports monthly on its metrics and activities to the Board.

Prepared By:
Christina Bailey

Attachments:
Division Report December 2023.pdf

114

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2336464/Division_Report_December_2023.pdf


   

CORE SERVICES 

SAFETY, COMPLIANCE & PUBLIC AFFAIRS 

POWER RESOURCES 

CUSTOMER RELATIONS 

CORPORATE SERVICES 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 

 

Division Reports & Metrics                  
December 2023 

 

 

 

115



 

Division Reports & Metrics                  
December 2023 

CORE SERVICES 

Electric Utility: 

1. Electric Outage Calculations for the month and year to date (November 2023 Data) 

a. Reliability = 99.99773%                                  Year-to-date Reliability = 99.99475% 

b. 1,102 Customers affected by outages Year-to-date Customers affected by outages = 25,295 

c. SAIDI = 0.98 min   Year-to-date SAIDI = 25.46 min 

d. CAIDI = 52.04 min                                         Year-to-date CAIDI = 55.40 min 

2. Electric Utility Operations – T&D, Engineering, System Ops, GIS, Tech Services:   

 Archeological survey permitting paperwork filed for the culturally sensitive segment of the Marion Road Duct 
route, with surveying to begin in November if permitting is approved. 

 The AMI project has continued the statement of work, service agreement and contract negotiations with 
selected vendors in October. 

 Reliability statistics were positively impacted by the lack of severe weather in November.    
 

 
 

39

29

18 19
17

15

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

O
c

c
u

re
n

c
e

s

Number of Outages
by select cause code

Squirrel Outages
Vegetation Outages

116



Summary of individual electrical outages (greater than 200 customers - November 2023 

data) 

# Customers Date Duration Cause 

593 11/13/2023 48m Vehicle Hit Pole 

 

Summary of aggregated incident types (greater than 200 customers – November 2023 data) 

# Customers 
Total # of 
Incidents 

 Cause 

672 2 Vehicle 

228 15 Animals – Squirrel 

 

Water Utility: 

 

1. Water Outage Calculations for the month and year to date (November 2023 data): 

a. Reliability = 99.99930371%                         Year-to-date Reliability = 99.99860468% 

b. 80 Customers Affected by Outages             Year-to-date Customers Affected by Outages = 2,028 

c. 209.8 Customer Outage Hours               Year-to-date Customer Outage Hours = 4,679.6 
d. SAIDI = 0.3                                          Year-to-date SAIDI = 6.7 
e. CAIDI = 157.3                                            Year-to-date CAIDI = 138.5 

 

 Performed 939 Gopher State water utility locates during the month for a total of 14,037 for the 
year.   

 Repaired water distribution system failures or maintenance at the following locations during the 
month.  : 

 2225 Baihly Summet Dr SW – (Leak) – 11/1 

 1521 Wilshire Dr NE – (Water Main Break) – 11/3 

 182 Grandville Rd SW – (Water Main Break) – 11/5 

 815 36th Ave SE – (Water Main Break) – 11/6 

 511 5th Ave SE – (Water Main Break) – 11/8 

 616 6th Ave SE – (Water Main Break) – 11/10 

 10th ST & 11 Ct NW – (Water Main Break) – 11/13 

 130 Grand Isle Ave SW– (Water Main Break) – 11/25 

 1521 Wilshire Dr NE – (Water Main Break) – 11/30 

 

 

 

117



  

  
 

 -

 50,000,000

 100,000,000

 150,000,000

 200,000,000

 250,000,000

 300,000,000

 350,000,000

 400,000,000

 450,000,000

 500,000,000

 550,000,000

 600,000,000

 650,000,000

 700,000,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

P
u

m
p

a
g

e
 i
n

 G
a
ll

o
n

s

Month

Actual vs. Projected Pumpage:  2023
Core Services - Water Maintenance & Construction

Actual Pumpage Projected Pumpage

 -

 500,000,000

 1,000,000,000

 1,500,000,000

 2,000,000,000

 2,500,000,000

 3,000,000,000

 3,500,000,000

 4,000,000,000

 4,500,000,000

 5,000,000,000

 5,500,000,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

C
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e
 P

u
m

p
a
g

e

Month

Cumulative Pumpage Comparison:  2023
Core Services - Water Maintenance & Construction

2023 Cumulative 2023 Budgeted 2007 (Peak Year) 2012 (Typical Year) 2019 (Wet Year)

118



  

 

2023 Goal = 3,500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

V
a
lv

e
s
 O

p
e
ra

te
d

Month

2023 Valve Operations Program 
Core Services - Water Maintenance & Construction

2023 2022 2021 2020 Goal

2023 Goal = 3,650

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

H
y
d

ra
n

ts
 O

p
e
ra

te
d

Month

2023 Hydrant Operations Program 
Core Services - Water  Maintenance & Construction

2023 2022 2021 2020 Goal

119



SAFETY / COMPLIANCE & PUBLIC AFFAIRS 

December 2023 

1. Safety 
 

TRAINING 
Total Required 

Enrollments 
Completions as of 

11/30/2023 
Percent 

Complete 

November 2023 563 560 99.5% 

Calendar Year to 
11/30/2023 

4963 4960 99.9% 

 

SAFETY TEAMS Total Members Members Attending 
Percent 

Attending 

November 2023 13 12 92.3% 

Calendar Year to 
11/30/2023 

256 208 81.3% 

 

INCIDENTS 
Reports 

Submitted 
OSHA Cases1 RPU RIR2 BLS RIR3 

November 2023 2 1 -- -- 

Calendar Year to 
11/30/2023 

28 6 3.44 1.5 

 

1 Deemed to meet OSHA criteria as a recordable case by RPU Safety Manager, subject to change 
2 Recordable Incident Rate – Number of OSHA Recordable Cases per 100 employees.   
3 Bureau of Labor Statistics nonfatal illnesses and injuries in the utility sector 

 

 

23 of RPU’s 24 departments are recordable injury free in 2023 
204 of RPU’s 209 employees are recordable injury free in 2023 

 

 

120



2023 OSHA Recordable Case Detail 

Work Area 
Incident 

Date 
Description 

Primary Reason 
it’s a Recordable 

Corrective Action 

T&D 3/13/2023 
Slipped and fell onto shovel causing 
torso (L) pain 

Restricted Duty N/A 

T&D 4/1/2023 
Slipped off ladder, fell to ground 
causing pain to back, elbow (L) and 
neck. 

Restricted Duty 
Reviewed work 
practices with those 
involved 

T&D 8/4/2023 Pain in elbow (L) while pulling wire Restricted Duty N/A 

T&D 8/11/2023 
While helping to set pole, stepped 
into hole injuring ankle (R). 

Restricted Duty 
Reviewed work 
practices with those 
involved 

T&D 10/2/2023 
Lacerated thumb (L) while stripping 
wire with knife. 

Medical treatment 
beyond first aid 

Discussed tool, 
glove and work 
practices with safety 
team 

T&D 11/27/2023 
Slipped/fell on icy sidewalk resulting 
in elbow (L) pain. 

Restricted Duty N/A 

 

SAFETY INITIATIVES 

1. Identified remaining safety training gaps related to pandemic-era restrictions.  

Developed plan/identified trainers to fill these gaps early in 2024.  

2. Tech Service teammate is completing arc flash analysis for water facilities to 

include printing and placement of arc flash labeling within these facilities. 

3. Implemented checklist for refill of vehicle first aid kits.    

2. Environmental & Regulatory Affairs 

 On October 28th, RPU’s GIS staff finished up a drone flight on Lake Zumbro during the 
drawdown. This data will be used to identify areas of erosion, if any, around the Lake 
Zumbro Dam and also locate areas where sediment is being deposited throughout the 
lake. 
 

 On November 28th, there were 26 water quality samples taken on RPU’s water 
distribution system. These samples are tested for phosphates to ensure RPU has 
adequate corrosion control. 
 

 On November 7th, RPU’s 9 monitoring wells static water levels were monitored. The 

121



monitoring wells help RPU properly manage the aquifers where we get our drinking 
water. This information is uploaded into the MN Department of Natural Resources water 
level monitoring database as required in RPU’s water appropriation permit. 
 
 

3. Communications 
 

 Tony attended the APPA Customer Connections Conference and accepted the Award of 
Excellence in Public Power Communications for the book “I Want to Work at RPU”. 

 RPU will be a sponsor of the Rochester Area Chamber of Commerce Economic Summit 
in January.  

 RPU presented at the Rochester Area Chamber of Commerce STEAM Summit with the 
help of RPU Utility Services and Programs staff and lineworkers. Hundreds of local 
middle and high schools students were in attendance at this event.  

 35 customers have signed up for digital delivery of RPU Plugged In since announcing it 
last month. 

 

 

122



RPU Environmental Stewardship Metric

Tons CO2 Saved
 (12 Month Rolling Sum)

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23

17,449 18,067

14,087
11,996

8,143

12,025
13,495

12,189 12,845
14,435 13,893

15,186
16,379

10,810
10,524

10,593
10,884

11,372

11,619

11,408

11,052 10,802

10,350
10,260

10,530

10,506

472 472

472

472

472

472

451

485 471

569
601

601

601

28,731 29,062

25,152

23,353

19,987

24,117
25,355

23,726 24,118
25,353 24,755

26,318
27,487

Reduced Energy Usage - Conservation Rebates Hydroelectric Generation Waste-to-Energy Generation (OWEF)

Published: 12/7/2023 9:29 AM123



 

POWER RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 

DECEMBER 2023 

Portfolio Optimization 

 

1. In November, RPU continued to bid GT1, GT2 and WES into the MISO day-ahead and 
real-time markets. GT2 and WES are also capable of participating in the ancillary 
services market. WES had its annual maintenance outage during the month. 

 
a. Ancillary Service Market – Supplemental Reserves 

i. Cleared DA 
1. GT2 –  19 days 
2. WES – 11 days 

ii. Deployment YTD 
1. GT2 –  0 
2. WES – 0 

 
b. Dispatched by MISO 

i. GT1 –    0 times  YTD     19 times 
ii. GT2 –    3 times  YTD   125 times 
iii. WES –   9 times   YTD   176 times 

 
c. Hours of Operation 

i. GT1 –       0 hours  YTD    170 hours 
ii. GT2 –     11 hours  YTD 1,002 hours 
iii. WES –    62 hours  YTD 1,448 hours 

 
d. Electricity Generated 

i. GT1 –            0 MWh  YTD   3,560 MWh 
ii. GT2 –        314 MWh  YTD 34,373 MWh 
iii. WES –    1,720 MWh  YTD 46,125 MWh 

 
e. Forced Outage  

i. GT1 –       0 hours   YTD      255 hours 
ii. GT2 –       7 hours  YTD      228 hours 
iii. WES –      0 hours   YTD          6 hours 

 
2. MISO market Real Time Price averaged $27.55/MWh and Day Ahead Price averaged 

$28.70/MWh. 
 

 

 

124



CUSTOMER RELATIONS 
(Contact Center, Utility Programs and Services, Commercial and Residential) 

 
 

Stakeholder Engagement, Forums, and Meetings 

1. Utility Programs and Services participated in the CERTs webinar, “Powering 

Progress: Exploring Market Barriers for Rooftop Unit Retrofit Enhancement” on 

December 4. The discussion focused on utility energy savings and program 

opportunities. 

2. Utility Programs and Services attended the Minnesota Department of Commerce 

CARD grant webinar titled, “Optimized Installations of Air Source Heat Pumps for 

Single Family Homes” on December 16. The Center for Energy and Environment 

shared research results in this webinar including installation, performance data, and 

savings calculations. 

Events/Opportunities for Customers 

1. The 2023 Be Bright ENERGY STAR® LED Lighting Campaign runs from October 1 to 

December 31. Our residential electric customers are eligible for reduced pricing on 

ENERGY STAR® qualified LED light bulbs. We collaborated again with local 

Rochester retailers to offer these discounted LED bulbs. Due to new federal lighting 

standards, this is the last year for this campaign. 

2. Our annual holiday light recycling kicked off on November 1 and runs through 

January 26. We have bins located in the Service Center lobby for customers to drop 

off their holiday lights and decorations for recycling. 

3. Customer Care and Collections continue to make outreach calls to customers with 

past due balances on their accounts. The intent is to be proactive and connect these 

customers with outside resources for financial assistance. During the month of 

November, 1,217 customers were called. 

 

  

125



 

 YTD Savings: 17,621,930 kWh 

 Percent to kWh Goal: 88.9% 

  

126



 
 Total Customers Enrolled: 112 
 2021 =   1 
 2021 = 60 
 2022 =   8 
 2023 =   43 

 

 
 Total Customers Enrolled: 73 
 SolarChoice = 8 
 Solar = 31 

 Electric Vehicle = 61 
 Regular Residential (Other) = 13 

127



 

 

 
 Total Customers Enrolled: 79 
 2021 = 70 
 2022 =   9 
 2023 =   0 

 

 
 Total Customers Enrolled: 79 
 Round Up = 40 
 Fixed Amount = 39  

128



 
 Totals: 
 Devices = 1046 
 Customers = 927 
 Unenrolled Customers = 30 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2023 
BYOT Participation

Devices Customers Unenrolled Customers

129



 

 

 
 Total Number of Calls: 4,704 (graphed above) 

 

 

 Total Number of Transactions Processed by Representatives: 4,234 (graphed above) 

 Total Number in Dollars Processed by Representatives: $1,466,741  

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

Number of Calls Handled

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

 $-

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Total Dollars Processed by Customer 
Care 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

130



Kiosk Payments 

 

 

 Total Number of Transactions: 102 (graphed above) 

 Total Number of Transactions by Payment Method: 57 cash, 7 check, and 38 credit card 
payments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

131



 

 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
1. Business Services: 

 Payroll/HR – Assisted employees with benefits open enrollment. 

 Q4 Critical Infrustructure Program (CIP) annual Cyber Security training completed. 

 Q4 CIP user access audit completed. 

 
 

3524 3588 3445

2125

0 0676 549 800 865 619 669

5589

5095

5807

3761

5835

7365

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 (November)

BACKFLOW PROGRAM
RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL

letters sent calls received tests completed

70

570

1070

1570

2070

Warehouse Transactions Count  
All Plants

2021

2022

2023

132



 Purchasing and Materials Management:  
 Invitation for Bids is currently closed and being evaluated for Power Line Tree 

Clearance. 
 Request for quote is open for replacement of pumping unit at Well #27. 

  
2. Finance and Accounting: 

General  

 The City Council approved the 2024 2025 Operating and Capital budgets for both the 
Water and Electric Utilities, along with the recommended Rate adjustments on 
December 4, 2023.  

 Our Bond debt service payment of $10,542,434 (Principal $7,395,000; Interest 
$3,147,434) were paid on December 1, 2023, and were remitted to the paying agent 
at the end of November. 

 Our 2013B Bonds were refunded as part of the 2021 Bond issuance; the payment 
from the escrowed funds was made on December 1, 2023 in the amount of 
$33,034,000. 

 

 Information Services: 

 The upgrade project for our current document management software is on track for 
completion by the end of December 2023. 

 The IT team has been working with the American Public Power Agency for a number 
of months to identify IT security projects within our Controls environment that may 
qualify for a Federal grant through the Department of Energy. A qualified project has 
been identified and accepted through this process. The RPU Board approved 
acceptance of this grant and the related project. The City Council is scheduled to 
consider this grant and the related project during the December 11, 2023 Council 
meeting. 
 

3. Financial Results: 
 
Note:  Due to the December RPU Board meeting being moved earlier in the month, the November 

financial information will be provided at the January 2024 RPU Board meeting. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

 -

 50,000.00

 100,000.00

 150,000.00

 200,000.00

 250,000.00

 300,000.00

 350,000.00

 400,000.00

 450,000.00

Purchase Order Count and Dollars 
Invoiced 

$ Invoiced

PO Count

133


	Public Utility Board Agenda
	Item 2.A - Cover Page
	Item 4.A - Cover Page
	Item 4.A - 20231128 Minutes.pdf
	Item 4.B - Cover Page
	Item 4.B - AP Board List Current Month.pdf
	Item 4.C - Cover Page
	Item 4.C - FBA Bid Tab
	Item 4.C - 20231219 Resolution - 2024 Lump Sum Power Line Clearance Tree Services.docx
	Item 5.A - Cover Page
	Item 5.A - 20231219 Resolution - Contingency Fund Increase for KFI Engineering.docx
	Item 5.B - Cover Page
	Item 5.B - Technical Specification Manual 12192023.pdf
	Item 5.B - 20231219 Resolution - Technical Specification Manual for Distributed Energy Resources.docx
	Item 6.A - Cover Page
	Item 6.A - Index of Board Policies-revised.xlsx
	Item 8.A - Cover Page
	Item 8.A - Division Report December 2023.pdf

